TUBERCULOSIS AND HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS CO-INFECTION AND CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF NON-TUBERCULOUS MYCOBACTERIA IN WESTERN KENYA

HENRY DISMAS NYABUTO NYAMOGOBA

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

(Medical Microbiology)

JOMO KENYATTA UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURE AND TECHNOLOGY

2012

Tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus co-infection and clinical significance of non-tuberculous mycobacteria in western Kenya

Henry Dismas Nyabuto Nyamogoba

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medical Microbiology in the Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology

2012

i

DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University.

Signature: Date: Date:

Henry Dismas Nyabuto Nyamogoba

This thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as University supervisors:

Signature:	Date:
Dr. Gideon Kikuvi	
JKUAT, Kenya	
Signature:	Date:
Dr. Solomon Mpoke	
KEMRI, Kenya	
Signature:	Date:
Dr. Peter G. Waiyaki	
KEMRI, Kenya	

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my late father Mzee Dismas Nyamogoba, my mother Mama Elizabeth Bange, my wife Jane Ayuma, my daughter Laureen Nyakerario and my son Amos Oyugi.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I wish to acknowledge all people of good will who assisted me in one way or the other during the preparation of this thesis. I am deeply grateful to them for their energy, commitment and dedication which enabled me to undertake this study to its logical conclusion. I thank my supervisors Dr. Gideon Kikuvi, Dr. Solomon Mpoke, and Dr. Peter G. Waiyaki for their tireless efforts in encouraging me during the preparation of this thesis. Through their mentorship, I was able to keep going even when it really seemed impossible to continue. Laboratory, clinical and nursing staff at Narok, Kericho, Lodwar, Uasin Gishu, Bungoma, Busia, Kisumu and Migori District Hospitals, Kisii Level 5 Hospital and Nakuru Provincial General Hospital assisted me with specimens and data collection for this study. I thank them. Special thanks go to the Global Fund Tuberculosis Round 5 for partly funding this work through purchase of equipment used. Thanks also go to Moi University School of Medicine (MUSOM) for partly sponsoring my studies at Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology (JKUAT) through the Moi University School of Medicine (MUSOM)-Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA) collaboration. Prof. Dr. Dick van Soolingen of the National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, the Netherlands, offered unlimited technical advice to me and assisted in the acquisition of the BACTEC MGIT 960 without which this study could not be done. Thanks to him. I am indebted to the laboratory staff at the Mycobacteria reference laboratory, MUSOM who assisted with laboratory work. I got tremendous support and encouragement from my family and friends, which kept me focused to tackle the enormous challenges I encountered while preparing this

thesis. I wish to thank my colleagues C. Nyamwange, J. Maina and A. Obala who inspired me to continue with the preparation of this thesis. Most importantly, my sincere gratitude goes to the patients who participated in this study, whose outcome would help in the improvement of management of tuberculosis, human immunodeficiency virus / acquired immunodeficiency syndrome and non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) disease.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECL	ARATIONii	
DEDI	CATIONiii	
ACKN	NOWLEDGEMENTiv	
TABL	JE OF CONTENTSvi	
LIST	OF TABLESx	
LIST	OF FIGURESxi	
LIST	OF APPENDICESxii	
ABBR	REVIATIONS AND ACRONYMSxiii	
DEFINITIONS OF TERMINOLOGIESxviii		
ABSTRACTxxi		
CHAPTER ONE		
1.0	INTRODUCTION1	
1.1	Background information1	
1.2	Statement of the problem	
1.3	Justification4	
1.4	Hypothesis4	
1.5	Objectives5	
1.6	Study assumptions and limitations5	
1.7	Ethical issues	

CHAPTER TWO7		
2.0	LITERATURE REVIEW7	
2.1	General Introduction7	
2.2	The biology of <i>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</i> complex8	
2.3	Tuberculous and non-tuberculous mycobacterioses13	
2.4	Epidemiology of tuberculosis (tuberculous mycobacteriosis)16	
2.5	The origin and biology of human immunodeficiency virus	
2.6	Epidemiology of human immunodeficiency virus /acquired	
	immunodeficiency syndrome and human immunodeficiency virus strain	
	dynamics22	
2.7	Epidemiology of tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus	
	co-infection	
2.8	Sources and transmission of tuberculosis	
2.9	Virulence factors and pathogenesis of tuberculosis	
2.10	Tuberculosis disease phenotypes	
2.11	Anti-tuberculosis drug resistance and risk factors	
2.12	Multi-drug resistant tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus	
	infection41	
2.13	The biochemical basis and the determination of anti-mycobacterial	
	drug resistance	
2.14	Prevention and control of tuberculosis and non-tuberculous mycobacterioses45	
2.15	Factors that hamper the control of tuberculosis and other mycobacterioses51	

CHAPTER THREE		
3.0	MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1	Study design	
3.2	Study site and population	
3.3	Sample size57	
3.4	Sampling frame and patient characteristics	
3.5	Testing for human immunodeficiency virus infection	
3.6	Microscopic examination of specimens	
3.7	Identification of recurrent tuberculosis cases	
3.8	Isolation of mycobacteria60	
3.9	Identification of mycobacteria	
3.10	Primary anti-tuberculosis drug susceptibility testing	
3.11	Data management and analysis	
CHAI	PTER FOUR	
4.0	RESULTS	
4.1	Study population distribution per hospital67	
4.2	Study population and gender-age distribution	
4.3	Ziehl Neelsen smear microscopy, culture and human immunodeficiency virus	
	infection	
4.4	Tuberculosis prevalence and gender-age distribution71	
4.5	Tuberculosis recurrence prevalence and gender-age distribution72	
4.6	Human immunodeficiency virus prevalence and gender-age distribution74	

4.7	Tuberculosis - human immunodeficiency virus co-infection prevalence and	
	gender-age distribution	75
4.8	Non-tuberculous mycobacterial disease prevalence and gender-age	
	distribution	 76
4.9	Correlation between of human immunodeficiency virus co-infection and	
	anti-tuberculosis drug resistance	78
CHAI	PTER FIVE	82
5.0	DISCUSSION	82
CHAI	PTER SIX	97
6.0	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	97
6.1	Conclusions	97
6.2	Recommendations	97
REFE	CRENCES	99
APPE	ENDICES	 141

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1	Study population distribution per site
Table 4.2	Study population and gender and age-group distribution
Table 4.3	Ziehl Neelsen microscopy, culture and human immunodeficiency
	virus infection71
Table 4.4	Tuberculosis prevalence and the logistic regression output for gender
	and age-group72
Table 4.5	Tuberculosis recurrence prevalence and the logistic regression output
	for gender and age-group74
Table 4.6	Human immunodeficiency virus prevalence and the logistic
	regression output for gender and age-group75
Table 4.7	Tuberculosis – human immunodeficiency virus co-infection
	prevalence the logistic regression output for gender and age-group76
Table 4.8	Non-tuberculous mycobacteria disease prevalence and gender-age
	distribution77
Table 4.9	Human immunodeficiency virus co-infection and anti-tuberculosis
	drug resistance

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 2.1	Diagram of the basic components of the mycobacterial cell wall.
	Mycolic acids Arabinan Galactan Peptidoglycan (MAP, MA-AG-PG)
	complex10
Fig. 2.2	Structure of human immunodeficiency virus20
Fig. 2.3	Replication cycle of human immunodeficiency virus21
Fig. 4.2	Identification of mycobacteria by Hain's
	GenoType Mycobacterium CM/AS70
Fig. 4.8a	Drug susceptibility testing by BACTEC MGIT 960;
	Isolates 346/02, 276/02 and 306/02 show resistance to
	isoniazid80
Fig. 4.8b	Drug susceptibility testing on rifampicin and isoniazid by
	Hain's GenoType MTBDRplus. Isolates 625/08 and 718/02
	Show resistance to isoniazid

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1	Consent Form.	••••••	••••••	 141
Appendix 2	Sample	collection,	storage	and
transportatio	n	144		
Appendix 3	Testing for hun	nan immunodeficiency vi	rus infection	145
Appendix 4	Isolation of my	cobacteria		147
Appendix 5	Identification o	of mycobacteria		155
Appendix 6	GenoType® MTBDR <i>plus</i> ant-tuberculosis drug susceptibility testing.165			
Appendix 7a	Mutations in th	he gene <i>rpoB</i> and the corre	esponding wild type and	
	mutation probe	S		176
Appendix 7b	Mutations in th	he gene <i>katG</i> and the corre	esponding wild type and	
	mutation probe	28		177
Appendix 7c	Mutations in th	he inhA promotor region a	nd the corresponding	
	wild type and n	nutation probes		178
Appendix 8	BACTEC MGI	T 960 anti-tuberculosis d	rug susceptibility testing.	179
Appendix 9	Request form for	for sputum examination &	questionnaire	188

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

- **ACETB** Advisory Council for the Elimination of Tuberculosis
- ACP Acyl carrier protein
- AFBs Acid-fast bacilli
- AIDS Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
- **AP** Alkaline phosphatase
- **ART** Antiretroviral therapy
- ATS American Thoracic Society
- ATS-CDC American Thoracic Society-Centres for Disease Control and Prevention
- ARVs Antiretrovirals
- BCG Bacille-Calmette Guerin

BCG vaccine Bacille-Calmette Guerin vaccine: an attenuated strain of Mycobacterium

bovis used to immunize against tuberculosis

- **BD** Becton Dickinson
- **CDC** Centres for Disease Control and Prevention
- **DEN** Denaturation solution
- **DLTLD** Division of Leprosy, Tuberculosis and Lung Disease
- **DNA** Deoxyribonucleic acid
- **dATP** Deoxyadenosine triphosphate
- **dCTP** Deoxycytidine triphosphate
- **dGTP** Deoxyguanosine triphosphate
- **dTTP** Deoxythymidine triphosphate

- **DOTS** Directly observed therapy short course
- **EDTA** Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid
- **ELISA** Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
- **EMB** Ethambutol
- *env A* Gene marker for identifying human immunodeficiency -1 clade A
- *env* C Gene marker for identifying human immunodeficiency -1 clade C
- *env* **D** Gene marker for identifying human immunodeficiency -1 clade D
- HaeII Restriction endonuclease enzyme produced by *Haemophilus aegyptius*
- HIV Human immunodeficiency virus
- **HIV-1** Human immunodeficiency virus type 1
- **HIV-2** Human immunodeficiency virus type 2
- HIV/AIDS Human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
- HIV-0 HIV-1 outlier strains
- HLA Human leukocyte antigen
- INH Isoniazid
- *inhA* Gene encoding for NADH enoyl ACP reductase
- **IS6110** Insertion sequence 6110
- **IUATLD** International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease
- *katG* Gene encoding for the catalase peroxidase
- LJ Lowenstein-Jensen medium
- MDR-TB Multi-drug resistant tuberculosis
- MgCl₂ Magnesium chloride

- MGIT *Mycobacterium* growth indicator tube
- MIRU-VNTR Mycobacterial interspersed repetitive units variable numbers of tandem repeats
- **mM** Millimolar
- MRL Mycobacteria Reference Laboratory
- MTRH Moi Teaching and Referral Hospital
- MUSOM Moi University School of Medicine
- MAC *Mycobacterium avium* complex
- MAI *Mycobacterium avium- intracellulare* complex
- N New case of tuberculosis
- **NADH** Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
- NALC N-acetyl-L-cysteine
- NaOH Sodium hydroxide
- NCCLS National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards
- **NIAID** National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases
- **NICHD** National Institute of Child Health and Human Development
- **NIH** National Institute of Health
- **NIMH** National Institute of Mental Health
- **NLTP** National Leprosy and Tuberculosis Control Programme
- NTM Non-tuberculous mycobacteria
- **PANTA** Polymyxin B, Amphotericin B, Nalidixic Acid, Trimethoprim, Azlocillin antibiotic mixture

PAS	Para-aminosalycylic acid	
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells	
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction	
PNM	Primer /Nucleotide Mix	
PvuII	Restriction endonuclease enzyme produced by Proteus vulgaris	
PZA	Pyrazinamide	
R	Resistant to anti-tuberculosis drug	
RP	Relapse case of tuberculosis	
RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism	
RIF	Rifampicin (rifampin)	
rpoB	Gene encoding for the β -subunit of the RNA polymerase	
S	Susceptible to anti-tuberculosis drug	
SCC	Short course chemotherapy	
SUB-C	Substrate Concentrate	
ТВ	Tuberculosis	
TF	Treatment failure	
TI	Transfer in	
TR	Treatment resumed	
tRNA	Transfer ribonucleic acid	
UNAIDS	United Nations and Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome	
USAID	United States Agency for International Development	
WHO	World Health Organization	

- **XDR-TB** Extensively drug resistant tuberculosis
- **ZN stain** Ziehl Neelsen stain

DEFINITIONS OF TERMINOLOGIES

A new (N) TB case:	A patient who has never been treated for TB.
A relapse (R) TB case:	A smear-positive TB patient who has previously been
	treated and declared cured.
Bacteriophage:	A virus that infects bacteria and causes the lysis of the
	bacterial cells.
Clade:	Related organisms descended from a common ancestor
	(For example, isolate M of HIV-1 consists of at least ten
	clades).
Clinical significance of	
NTM:	Importance of NTM as human pathogens.
Lysogenic bacteria:	Bacteria that carry prophages.
Lysogeny:	The state of a bacterium that is carrying a prophage that is
	integrated into its chromosomal DNA.
Mycobacterioses:	Diseases caused by atypical or non-tuberculous
	mycobacteria (NTM).
Out of control (OO)	
TB case:	A patient who has not attended two consecutive clinics
	and all efforts to motivate him to attend again have failed.
Retreatment:	TB client who was treated for four (4) weeks or more in
	the past and who is now smear or culture positive or who
	has clinically been diagnosed with TB (failure, relapse,

return after default).

Recurrent TB case:	TB who had been previously treated for TB and declared
	cured and re-notified at least 12 months from the date of
	the initial notification.
P-value:	Level of marginal significance within a statistical
	hypothesis test, representing the probability of the
	occurrence of a given event.
Prophage:	The viral DNA of a temperate phage which becomes
	incorporated into the host DNA.
Strain:	All descendants of a pure culture; usually a succession of
	cultures derived from an initial colony.
Treatment failure (TF)	
TB case:	A patient with a positive smear at the end of 5 or 8
	months despite being on anti-TB treatment.
Treatment resumed	
(TR) TB case:	A patient who interrupted his treatment and was declared
	out of control, but is now resuming treatment.
Transferred in (TI)	
TB case:	A patient who was initially registered in another district
	and has reported to continue treatment in another district.

Tuberculosis – Human

immunodeficiency virus

co-infection:

Presence of active TB and HIV in a patient.

ABSTRACT

Tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus co-infections have a global prevalence with high morbidity and mortality rates. Non-tuberculous mycobacteria have emerged as opportunistic pathogens among human immunodeficiency virus / acquired immunodeficiency syndrome patients. Ziehl Neelsen smear microscopy initially used in the diagnosis of tuberculosis fails to differentiate between tuberculous and nontuberculous mycobacteria. This cross-sectional study was carried out between 2007 and 2009 at one provincial, one Level 5 and eight district hospitals in western Kenya to determine the performance of Ziehl Neelsen smear microscopy and culture in the diagnosis of tuberculosis among human immunodeficiency virus / acquired immunodeficiency syndrome patients. It sought to determine the prevalence of tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus infection, and tuberculosis - human immunodeficiency virus co-infection rate in western Kenya. It also sought to determine the clinical significance of non-tuberculous mycobacteria in western Kenya, and the correlation between human immunodeficiency virus co-infection and resistance of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to first-line anti-tuberculosis drugs isoniazid, rifampicin, streptomycin and ethambutol. Sputa from 872 tuberculosis suspects underwent microscopy and culture on solid and liquid media. Isolates were identified as Mycobacterium tuberculosis or species of non-tuberculous mycobacteria using Hain's GenoType[®] Mycobacterium CM/AS Molecular Genetic Assay. Drug susceptibility testing was done using the BACTEC MGIT 960 incubator. Hain's GenoType MTBDRplus Molecular Genetic Assay was also used to determine resistance to

isoniazid and rifampicin. Blood samples from 695 out of the 872 tuberculosis suspects enrolled into the study were screened for human immunodeficiency virus infection using Uni-GoldTM rapid test and positives confirmed with enzyme linked immunosorbent assay. A questionnaire was used to collect demographic and medical history data of the tuberculosis suspects. The Ziehl Neelsen smear positivity rate was 42.7% among the human immunodeficiency virus infected cases and 57.3% among the non-infected cases. Culture positivity rate among the human immunodeficiency virus infected cases was 46.4% and 53.6% among the non-infected cases. Tuberculosis prevalence was 39.7% with disease significantly in males than females (P < 0.05). Tuberculosis recurrence rate was 44.8% with no significant difference between the genders (P > 0.05). Human immunodeficiency virus prevalence was 39.1% with infection significantly higher among females than males (P < 0.05). Tuberculosis human immunodeficiency virus co-infection rate was 41.8% with no significant difference in co-infection between the genders (P > 0.05). Non-tuberculous mycobacterial disease prevalence was 1.72%. A total of 8 out of 12 Mycobacterium tuberculosis mono-drug resistant isolates were from human immunodeficiency virus infected cases. Ziehl Neelsen smear microscopy was inaccurate in the diagnosis of tuberculosis among human immunodeficiency virus infected patients compared to culture. Tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus / acquired immunodeficiency syndrome prevalence were high in western Kenya. Tuberculosis recurrence rate was high in western Kenya. Tuberculosis - human immunodeficiency virus co-infection rate was high in western Kenya. Non-tuberculous mycobacteria played a significant role in

causing tuberculosis-like disease which was misdiagnosed as tuberculosis. Antituberculosis drug resistance was more among *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates from human immunodeficiency virus infected patients suggesting a positive correlation. A more accurate diagnostic technique to augment Ziehl Neelsen smear microscopy is needed to improve tuberculosis diagnosis among human immunodeficiency virus infected patients. There is need to explore new approaches to childhood tuberculosis diagnosis in order to increase case detection rate. The high prevalence of tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus infection in western Kenya underscores the need for more efforts and resources to increase knowledge and access healthcare. The high tuberculosis recurrence rate observed in this study calls for studies to determine the proportions of the disease attributable to endogenous re-activation and exogenous reinfection. There is need to strengthen tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus / acquired immunodeficiency syndrome collaborative activities to reduce morbidity and mortality among co-infected patients. A more accurate diagnostic technique, a robust scoring system and algorithms for non-tuberculous mycobacterial disease need to be developed in order to enhance the diagnosis of the disease in Kenya. Large case-control studies are imperative to identify risk factors and determine the contribution of nontuberculous mycobacteria to tuberculosis-like disease among human immunodeficiency virus / acquired immunodeficiency syndrome patients. Since no multi-drug resistant tuberculosis was observed in this study, continued use and surveillance of resistance trends to first-line anti-tuberculosis drugs would be prudent.

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background information

With the advent of the human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS) in the early 1980s, a variety of infections have emerged including opportunistic ones initially unknown. Other infections that were on the decrease are blossoming anew, with mycobacterial infections being in the lead. Tuberculosis (TB), caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex is singled out here for its epidemiology, has been greatly altered by the HIV/AIDS epidemic (Mallory *et al.*, 2000). Tuberculosis – human immunodeficiency virus co-infections have a global prevalence with devastating morbidity and massive mortality (UNAIDS, 1997; UNAIDS, 2009).

Tuberculosis (TB) is the most common opportunistic infection in HIV/AIDS patients, and is the common cause of hospitalization and death among HIV/AIDS patients (Nullis-Kapp, 2005). The HIV/AIDS and associated TB are robbing many countries of resources and capacities on which human security and development depend, dozens of resource poor countries already being in the grip of serious epidemics (UNAIDS, 2003, UNAIDS, 2009).

The HIV infection is currently the greatest risk factor for the progression of latent infection to active TB and for rapid progression of new TB infection. It is also a

potential risk for TB recurrence (Mallory *et al.*, 2000). On the other hand, TB is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in HIV/AIDS cases (UNAIDS/WHO, 2003). The current upsurge of HIV-associated TB epidemics and the resurgence of multi-drug resistant TB (MDR-TB) are adversely affecting patient care and public health globally (Poggio *et al.*, 1997).

The TB-HIV/AIDS problem is compounded by the emergence of non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) as opportunistic infections in the HIV/AIDS patients, and their treatment is not directly analogous to that of TB (Johnston and Ellner, 1999; Wolinsky, 1992). The situation is aggravated by emergence of multi-drug resistant TB (MDR-TB), reportedly affecting more TB-HIV/AIDS than non-HIV TB patients. It is also notable that TB and HIV interaction is complex, different strains of both *Mycobacterium* and HIV-1 are involved in TB-HIV co-infection. Both HIV provirus and *Mycobacterium* deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) segment(s) have been detected in T-lymphocyte DNA (Lei, 1997; Lei and Xiong, 1997). However, unknown is the occurrence of HIV-*Mycobacterium* genomic interaction and the outcome of such interaction.

The *M. tuberculosis* complex, also known as tubercle bacilli are opportunistic conventional pathogens causing severe and disseminated disease among HIV/AIDS patients. Another interesting aspect of the tubercle bacilli is the isolation of L-forms from patients with destructive lung TB. These isolates have been seen to revert into

typical bacilli after 1-3 passages *in vitro* (Chernushenko *et al.*, 1997). Tubercle bacilli with such a deficiency in the cell wall are less refractory and could easily undergo genetic phenomena such as transformation, transduction or lysogeny (Kourilsky and Knapp, 1974).

1.2 Statement of the problem

Kenya with more than 132,000 new cases every year currently ranks 13th on the list of 22 high-burden TB countries in the world and has the fifth highest burden in Africa (WHO, 2007; WHO, 2009). The HIV/AIDS pandemic has greatly contributed to the increase of TB cases (WHO, 2009) and TB is a major killer of HIV/AIDS patients. The problem is compounded by the emergence of NTM as opportunistic infections causing TB-like syndromes among HIV/AIDS patients, which are often misdiagnosed as TB (Wolinsky, 1992), and the continued stigma associated with the disease. Tuberculosis treatment in many health facilities in Kenya is based on clinical diagnosis and Ziehl Neelsen (ZN) smear microscopy for acid-fast bacilli (AFBs), which do not differentiate TB from NTM disease (Buijtels, 2007). Some of the NTM disease cases may be misdiagnosed as TB and their prevalence in high HIV/AIDS prevalent settings in Kenya may be underestimated (Buijtels *et al.*, 2009).

The resurgence of multi-drug resistant TB (MDR-TB) and extensively drug resistant TB (XDR-TB) is worsening the situation. The XDR-TB and MDR-TB have been reported to affect HIV-infected patients more compared to non-HIV TB patients (Munsiff *et al.*,

2002). However, this observation has not been adequately explained.

1.3 Justification of the study

In the light of the worsening global TB situation due to the HIV/AIDS pandemic, periodic evaluation of TB and TB-HIV/AIDS morbidities in communities is important for effective control of the epidemics. Following the emergence of NTM as opportunistic pathogens among HIV/AIDS patients, and taking into account that TB treatment is invariably based on ZN smear microscopy which does not differentiate between TB and non-tuberculous mycobacterial disease, a study to determine the clinical significance of NTM in a given community will facilitate the management of both TB and NTM disease by clinicians. Since the increasing XDR-TB and MDR-TB are observed to more among HIV co-infected TB patients compared to non-HIV TB patients (NIH, 2007; WHO, 2009), a study to determine the association between HIV co-infection and anti-TB drug resistance could shed more light to this observation (NIH, 2007; WHO, 2009). The data generated would also provide baseline information for guided anti-mycobacterial chemotherapy in Kenya.

1.4.0 Null hypothesis

Human immunodeficiency virus infection is not associated with low ZN smear and culture sensitivity, high TB prevalence, clinical significance of NTM and anti-TB drug resistance.

1.5 Objectives

1.5.1 General objective

To establish the magnitude of TB and HIV co-infection in western Kenya and demonstrate the laboratory misdiagnosis of non-tuberculous mycobacterial disease as TB.

1.5.2 Specific objectives

- To determine the performance of ZN smear microscopy and culture in TB diagnosis among HIV infected patients.
- 2. To determine the prevalence of TB and HIV, and TB-HIV co-infection rate in western Kenya.
- 3. To determine the clinical significance of NTM in western Kenya.
- 4. To determine the correlation between HIV co-infection and anti-TB drug resistance.

1.6 Study assumptions and limitations

1. The ZN smear positive but culture negative cases were regarded and treated as TB cases. This could affect TB-HIV co-infection rate and NTM disease prevalence results.

2. The Hain's GenoType[®] Mycobacterium CM /AS Molecular Genetic Assay kits were able to identify only 29 species of *Mycobacterium*.

3. Some TB suspects / cases declined HIV test, which could affect TB-HIV coinfection rate result.

4. The TB-HIV co-infection was determined only once and CD4 cell counts were not done. Ideally CD4 cell counts should have been established for a defined period of time to determine the levels of immunity of the patients, which could have influenced ZN smear and culture positivity rates. However, this would have required a longitudinal study design which is expensive and outside the scope of the current study.

1.7 Ethical issues

The proposal for this study was approved by KEMRI's Scientific Steering Committee (SSC), and Ethical Review Committee (ERC) [SSC No. 837]. It was also approved by Moi University School of Medicine / Moi Teaching and Referral Hospital Institutional Research and Ethics Committee (IREC) [FAN No.00092]. Clearance was obtained from respective health authorities. Informed consent / assent were obtained from TB suspects or their guardians before they were enrolled into the study. The purpose of the study was explained to the suspects in English, Kiswahili or a local language (Turkana, Kalenjin, Luyhia, Dholuo, Ekegusii, Maasai) before consent was sought. Code numbers were used to identify TB suspects in order to maintain confidentiality (Appendix 1).

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 General introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) is an ancient disease having emerged some 15,000 to 35,000 years ago (Kapur *et al.*, 1994). It has been called the "captain of all men of death" due its global prevalence with devastating morbidity and massive mortality for many centuries (Anathanarayan, 1994). The disease has re-emerged as a global public health problem, accompanied with the resurgence and transmission of multi-drug resistant (MDR) TB (Poggio *et al.*, 1997). Tuberculosis kills more than 2 million people worldwide every year, more than 250,000 of these deaths being children. However, TB predominantly affects young adults in their most productive years of life and has substantial negative impact on economic development (Johnson and Ellner, 1999). The current upsurge of TB epidemics is HIV-associated and the WHO (2004) estimates that one billion people will contract TB, and 35 million will die of the disease by the year 2020.

The HIV/AIDS and associated TB are robbing many countries of resources and capacities on which human security and development depend, dozens of resource poor countries already being in the grip of serious epidemics (UNAIDS, 2003). The HIV infection is currently the greatest risk factor for the progression of latent infection to active TB and rapid progression of new infection. It is also a potential risk for TB recurrence. On the other hand TB is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in HIV/AIDS individuals (UNAIDS/WHO, 2004).

2.2 The biology of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex

The genus *Mycobacterium* can be divided into *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex, *M. leprae*, and non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM). They comprises of non-motile rod-shaped bacteria that form cordlike groups. These bacteria produce a distinctive group of waxy substances called mycolic acids, which make standard staining procedures difficult. They stain weakly with Gram stain. However, they uniquely withstand acid-alcohol decolourization following staining with hot carbol-fuchsin, a property known as acid fast (Cheles *et al.*, 2004). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (tubercle bacillus), an important member of this genus was discovered by Robert Koch in 1882 (Grange, 1996).

Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex is a group of closely related organisms, *M. tuberculosis*, *M. africanum*, *M. bovis*, the *M. bovis BCG* vaccine strain, *M. microti* and *M. canettii. Mycobacterium bovis* shares greater than 75% DNA homology with *M. tuberculosis* (Wayne *et al.*, 1992). The complete genome sequence of the best-characterized strain of *M. tuberculosis*, H37Rv, has been determined and analyzed in order to improve our understanding of the biology of this slow-growing pathogen and to help the conception of new prophylactic and therapeutic interventions. The genome comprises 4,411,529 base pairs, contains around 4,000 genes, and has a very high guanine + cytosine (G + C) content that is reflected in the biased amino-acid content of the proteins (Cole *et al.*, 1998).

The characteristic features of *M. tuberculosis* complex include slow growth, dormancy, complex cell envelope, intracellular pathogenesis and genetic homogeneity (Wheeler *et al.*, 1994). The generation time of *M. tuberculosis* in synthetic medium or infected animals is typically 20-24 hours. This contributes to the chronic nature of the disease, imposes lengthy treatment regimens and represents a formidable obstacle for researchers. The state of dormancy in which the bacillus remains quiescent within infected tissue may reflect metabolic shutdown resulting from the action of a cell-mediated immune response that can contain but not eradicate the infection. As immunity wanes, through ageing or immune suppression, the dormant bacteria reactivate, causing disease often many decades after the initial infection (Chan *et al.*, 1994). The molecular basis of dormancy and reactivation remains obscure but is expected to be genetically programmed and to involve intracellular signalling pathways (Cole *et al.*, 1998).

The cell envelope of *M. tuberculosis* is unique among prokaryotes. It contains an additional layer beyond the peptidoglycan that is exceptionally rich in unusual lipids, glycolipids and polysaccharides (Brennan *et al.*, 1994; Kolattukudy *et al.*, 1997) (Fig. 2.1). Novel biosynthetic pathways generate cell-wall components such as mycolic acids, mycocerosic acid, phenolthiocerol, lipoarabinomannan and arabinogalactan, and several of these may contribute to mycobacterial longevity, trigger inflammatory host reactions and act in pathogenesis. Little is known about the mechanisms involved in life within the macrophage, or the extent and nature of the virulence factors produced

by the bacillus and their contribution to disease (Cole et al., 1998).



FIG. 2.1. Diagram of the basic components of the mycobacterial cell wall. MAPc, MA-AG-PG complex (Hett and Rubin, 2008).

Mycolic acids are unique high-molecular-weight (60-90 carbons) α -branched β -hydroxy fatty acids, which form a lipid shell around the cells of *Mycobacterium*. They also contain other substituted groups such as cyclopropane rings or methoxy groups (Gurr *et al.*, 1991). The lipids represent over 60% of the dry weight of the cell envelope accounting for the strong hydrophobic nature of the organisms and probably for the high virulence (Glickman *et al.* 2000; Todar, 2002). It is also responsible for the relative impermeability to stains, acid fastness, and resistance to inactivation by acid and alkali (Glickman et al., 2000; Gurr et al., 1991).

The genome of *M. tuberculosis* differs radically from other bacteria in that a very large portion of its coding capacity is devoted to the production of enzymes involved in lipogenesis and lipolysis, and to two new families of glycine-rich proteins with a repetitive structure that may represent a source of antigenic variation (Cole *et al.*, 1998). Sixteen copies of the promiscuous insertion sequence IS6110 and six copies of the more stable element IS1081 reside within the genome of H37Rv, the prototype strain of M. tuberculosis (Philipp et al., 1996). A further 32 different insertion sequence elements have been identified, most of which have not been described previously. The 13E12 family of repetitive sequences has also been identified, which exhibit some of the characteristics of mobile genetic elements. These newly discovered insertion sequences belong mainly to the IS3 and IS256 families, although six of them define a new group. Most of the insertion sequences in *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv appear to have inserted in intergenic or non-coding regions, often near transfer RNA (tRNA) genes. Many are clustered, suggesting the existence of insertional hot-spots that prevent genes from being inactivated (Bardarov et al., 1997). The IS6110 is widely used in restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) typing of *M. tuberculosis* complex (van Embden *et al.*, 1993).

At least two prophages have been detected in the genome sequence and their presence may explain why *M. tuberculosis* shows persistent low-level lysis in culture. Prophages phiRv1 and phiRv2 are both -10 kb in length and are similarly organized. The site of insertion of phiRv1 is intriguing as it corresponds to part of a repetitive sequence of the 13E12 family that itself appears to have integrated into the biotin operon. Some strains of *M. tuberculosis* have been described as requiring biotin as a growth supplement, indicating either that phiRv1 has a polar effect on expression of the distal *bio* genes or that aberrant excision, leading to mutation, may occur. During the serial attenuation of *M. bovis* that led to the vaccine strain *M. bovis* BCG, the phiRv1 prophage was lost (Mahairas *et al.*, 1996).

Despite intensive research efforts, there is little information about the molecular basis of mycobacterial virulence and pathogenicity (Collins, 1996). However, this situation should now change as the genome sequence will accelerate the study of pathogenesis because other bacterial factors that may contribute to virulence are becoming apparent. Before the completion of the genome sequence, only three virulence factors had been described (Collins, 1996). These are catalase-peroxidase that protects against reactive oxygen species produced by the phagocyte, the macrophage-colonizing factor gene *mce* (Arruda *et al.*, 1993), and a sigma factor gene, *sigA* (aka *rpoV*), whose mutations can lead to attenuation (Collins, 1996).

2.3 Tuberculous and non-tuberculous mycobacterioses

The genus *Mycobacterium* causes more morbidity and mortality worldwide than all other bacterial infections combined. The most notorious is the *M. tuberculosis* complex
also known as tubercle bacillus, followed by the lepra bacillus, *M. leprae*, the aetiology of leprosy (Iseman, 1998). Despite the availability of an effective directly observed therapy short-course (DOTS), and the Bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) vaccine, the tubercle bacillus continues to claim more lives than any other single infectious agent (Snider *et al.*, 1994). A recent World Health Organization report estimated that there were 8.8 million new cases of clinical TB diagnosed in the year 2005, with 1.6 million deaths directly attributable to this disease (WHO, 2007).

Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex are obligate opportunistic pathogens, causing both pulmonary and extra-pulmonary TB (Iseman, 1998). Their differentiation is necessary for the treatment of individual patients and for epidemiological purposes in areas where TB has reached epidemic proportions. It is also necessary where transmission of *M. bovis* between animals or animal products and humans is a problem. It also important to identify isolates of *M. bovis* BCG recovered from immunocompromised patients (Parsons *et al.*, 2002).

Some TB-like syndromes (mycobacterioses) may be caused by non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM). Due to the spread of HIV, the role of NTM in mycobacterioses may be underestimated particularly in developing countries (Buijtels *et al.*, 2009). The NTM are *Mycobacterium* species different from those belonging to *M. tuberculosis* complex (Dawson, 2000), most of them being environmental saprobes (Primm *et al.*, 2004; Rautiala *et al.*, 2004; Falkinham, 1996). However, some are opportunistic

pathogens, which may cause severe and fatal disease (Iseman, 1998). Skin test data suggest that a high proportion of people have been exposed to one or more NTM species. The predominant NTM species may vary from country to country and between different areas of a country (Wolinsky, 1981; Wolinsky, 1992; Falkinham, 1996).

Mycobacterium avium complex (MAC) also referred to as *Mycobacterium avium-intracellulare* (MAI) complex, is the most common cause of NTM disease (Buijtels *et al.*, 2009; Richter *et al.*, 1997). The MAC consists of 28 serovars of two distinct species, *M. avium*, and *M. intracellulare*. Three subspecies of *M. avium* have been proposed on the basis of phenotypic and genetic characteristics: *M. avium subsp. avium*, *M. avium subsp. paratuberculosis* and *M. avium subsp. silvaticum* (Thorel, *et al.*, 1990). The MAC is responsible for progressive and usually fatal disease if untreated, especially in immunocompromised patients (Iseman, 1998; Richter *et al.*, 2002). *Mycobacterium kansasii* is second to MAC in the causation of NTM lung disease (Iseman, 1998).

The American Thoracic Society (ATS) (2007) reports MAI complex, *M. kansasii*, *M. fortuitum* and *M. chelonae* as the most common NTM causing chronic respiratory disease, with *M. kansasii* causing chronic pulmonary disease similar to reactivation TB. The *M. kansasii* infection occurs worldwide but is most common in the USA and UK (Johnson and Ellner, 1999). In Kenya, *M. fortuitum*, *M. chelonae*, *M. szulgai*, *M. kansasii*, and *M. terrae* are among the NTM species that have been isolated from

patients who present with acute radiologically-confirmed pneumonia (Scott *et al.*, 2000).

Lately however, new NTM species have emerged as opportunistic pathogens in AIDS patients. The *M. genasense* was first isolated in 1990 from a Swiss patient, and is now being reported in other European countries, USA, and Australia. *Mycobacterium celatum*, which seems biochemically indistinguishable from *M. avium*, but shows mycolic acid patterns closely related to that of *M. xenopi*, is also being reported to cause infection (Garcia-Garrote *et al.*, 1997).

The other NTM species which have been associated with lung disease in HIV/AIDS patients include *M. malmoense*, *M. xenopi* (Pozniak, 1997), *M. abscessus*, *M. chelonae*, *M. fortuitum* (von Reyn, 1997), *M. asiaticum* (Bonard *et al.*, 1999), *M. haemophilum* (Sampaio *et al.*, 2002), *M. triviale*, *M. szulgai* and *M. smegmatis* (Saidi *et al.*, 1997). Death rates from NTM disease are high even with treatment (Pozniak, 1997). While previous studies in developed countries have reported the significant role the NTM play in the aetiology of non-tuberculous mycobacterioses in HIV/AIDS patients, their contribution to the aetiology of the same syndromes in Africa and other resource-poor settings has hardly been examined and documented (Buijtels *et al.*, 2009).

2.4 Epidemiology of tuberculosis (tuberculous mycobacteriosis)

Tuberculosis (TB) or tuberculous mycobacteriosis is an ancient disease re-emerging as a global public health crisis (Cantwell *et al.*, 1994). While both preventable and curable, it remains one of the world's major causes of morbidity and mortality. In 1993, the WHO declared TB to be a global health emergency. One-third of the world's population (2 billion people), are infected with *M. tuberculosis* and are at risk of developing active disease. However, about 9.27 million of these proceed to develop active TB each year (WHO, 2009), up from 1.9 million cases in 1990s (Dye *et al.*, 1999). Tuberculosis continues to predominantly affect young adults in their most productive years of life and the 15-44 year age-group continues to bear the highest burden (Johnson *et al.*, 1999; WHO, 2009).

Vast majority (90%) of the TB morbidity and mortality occur in resource-poor settings, particularly those in Asia, Africa and South America (Sudre *et al.*, 1992; WHO, 2009). This poses significant challenges to the livelihoods of individuals and developing economies as TB primarily affects people during their most productive years (WHO, 2005; WHO, 2008). India, China, Indonesia, Nigeria and South Africa rank first to fifth in terms of the total number of incident cases. Asia (the South-East Asia and Western Pacific regions) accounts for 55%, and the African Region for 31% of the global TB cases. Among the 15 countries with the highest estimated TB incidence rates, 13 are in Africa, a phenomenon linked to high rates of HIV co-infection. However, the disease has been increasing since mid 1980s in many developed countries including the USA,

by which time it was out of control across most of the poor countries, especially Central Africa and South Asia (WHO, 1994).

Tuberculosis is a problem of enormous dimension in Africa and Asia. The highest TB incidence rates (100/100,000 or higher) are observed in sub-Saharan Africa, India, China, and Southeast Asia. Intermediate rates of TB (26 - 100 cases/100,000) occur in Central and South America, Eastern Europe, and northern Africa. Low rates (less than 25 cases per 100,000 inhabitants) occur in the United States, Western Europe, Canada, Japan, and Australia (WHO, 2008).

In Kenya, about 50% of the population have latent TB infection (DLTLD, 2009). However, in the last decade the HIV/AIDS epidemic has led to the tripling of the number of new (adult) active TB cases. About 117, 000 active TB cases were reported in 2006 (DLTLD, 2007) down from about 123,000 cases in 2000 (WHO, 2002). Currently, Kenya ranks 13th on the list of 22 high-burden TB countries in the world and has the fifth highest burden in Africa. According to the WHO's Global TB Report (2009), Kenya had approximately 132,000 new TB cases and an incidence rate of 142 new sputum smear-positive cases per 100,000 population. This figure dropped to 110,065 in 2008 with an incidence of 1% in 2009 (DLTLD, 2009). However, the prevalence of TB caused by the bovine tubercle bacillus, *M. bovis*, in developing countries is largely unknown due to the complexities and prohibitive cost in differentiating between the mycobacterial species (Cosivi *et al.*, 1998).

Many factors contribute to the increasing trends of TB. The emergence of HIV and large influxes of immigrants from poor countries with high prevalence of TB (Navin *et al.*, 2002) and increasing homelessness are major factors in developed countries (De Cock *et al.*, 1999). A high prevalence of HIV infection in a community leads to increased rates of TB reactivation as well as primary TB (De Cock *et al.*, 1999; Farmer *et al.*, 1997). The advent of HIV has also led to high rates of dissemination in those co-infected with *M. tuberculosis* (Iseman, 1993; Catwell *et al.*, 1997). The association between poverty and TB is well established. Malnutrition, crowding and social disruption of various sorts including civil strive and natural disasters fan TB outbreaks (Farmer *et al.*, 1998a; Spence *et al.*, 1993).

In Kenya, the distribution of TB cases follows a pattern that is in line with poverty levels and HIV prevalence. In the year 2008, Nyanza province contributed to 20% of the TB load followed by Rift Valley province which contributed to 19%. The other provinces' contributions in decreasing order were: Nairobi (17%), Eastern (14%), Coast (10%), Central (10%), Western 8% and North Eastern (3%) (DLTLD, 2008).

2.5 The origin and biology of human immunodeficiency virus

The origin and evolutionary mechanisms of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) remain controversial. The theories of the origin and evolutionary relationship between HIV-1, HIV2 and the simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) are based on sero-epidemiological and viral genome molecular data. The existing data support the theory

of transmission of SIV to humans becoming HIV-2, followed by its rapid evolution to HIV-1 with an explosive escape from an isolated human population (Sharp *et al.*, 1999; Wolfe *et al.*, 2004).

The HIV belongs to the family *Retroviridae* with ribonucleic acid (RNA) as their genetic material. Within the retrovirus family, HIV belongs to a subgroup of lentiviruses, or "slow" viruses, which are known for having a long time period between initial infection and the beginning of clinical symptoms. The HIV is spherical in shape. The envelope (outer coat) of the virus is composed of two lipid layers of fatty molecules derived from the membrane of a human host cell when a progeny virus particle buds from the host cell. Embedded throughout the viral envelope are proteins from the host cell, as well as 72 copies (on average) of a complex HIV protein known as env. These env copies protrude or spike through the surface of the complete virus particle (virion). The env consists of a cap made of three glycoprotein 120 (gp120) molecules, and a stem consisting of three gyclycoprotein 41 (gp41) molecules that anchor the structure in the viral envelope. Much of the research to develop a vaccine to prevent HIV infection has focused on these envelope proteins (NIAID, 2009).



Fig. 2.3 Structure of HIV (NIAID, 2009).

Within the viral envelope is a bullet-shaped core or capsid, made up of 2,000 copies of the viral protein, p24. The capsid surrounds two single strands of HIV RNA, each of which has a complete copy of the virus's genes. The HIV has nine genes, compared to about 25,000 protein-coding genes in a human. The HIV has three structural genes (*gag, pol, and env*) that contain information needed to make structural proteins for new virus particles (virions). The *env* gene codes for gp160 protein that is broken down by a viral enzyme to form gp120 and gp41, the components of the env protein (Fig. 2.2). The HIV has six regulatory genes (*tat, rev, nef, vif, vpr, and vpu*) that contain information needed to protein encoded by *nef*, for instance, apparently is necessary for the virus to replicate efficiently, and the *vpu*-encoded protein influences the release of new virus particles from infected cells (Avert,

2009; NIAID, 2009). Recent research findings indicate that vif (the protein encoded by the *vif* gene) interacts with an antiviral defense protein in host cells (APOBEC3G), causing inactivation of the antiviral effect and enhancing HIV replication. This interaction may serve as a new target for antiviral drugs (NIAID, 2009). The ends of each strand of HIV RNA contain an RNA long terminal repeat (LTR) sequence. Regions in the LTR act as switches to control production of new viruses and can be triggered by proteins from either HIV or the host cell (Avert, 2009; NIAID, 2009). The HIV's core also includes the p7 protein (nucleocapsid) (NIAID, 2009).



Fig.2.3 Replication cycle of HIV (NIAID, 2009).

Three enzymes carry out later steps in the virus's life cycle: reverse transcriptase (RT), integrase, and protease. The RT is involved in the conversion of single-stranded (+) viral RNA (+ssRNA) into double strand DNA (dsDNA). Integrase enzyme is responsible for integration of viral DNA into the host cell chromosome, a step that is essential for HIV replication. The enzyme protease plays a vital role in viral assembly step, by chopping up long strands of protein into smaller pieces, which are used to construct mature viral cores. Another HIV protein, the p17, or the HIV matrix protein, lies between the viral core and the viral envelope (NIAID, 2009). However, reverse transcription (RNA \rightarrow DNA) in HIV lacks the proofreading capabilities of DNA replication or of normal DNA \rightarrow RNA transcription. The resultant numerous errors in reverse transcription lead to mutations responsible for the frequent HIV genetic variability (Gao et al., 1999). Why mutations which are usually detrimental in most organisms appear to be beneficial for HIV is confounding. After infecting the host cell, HIV uses the RT enzyme to convert its RNA into deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and then proceeds to replicate itself using the host's biosynthetic machinery (NIAID, 2009).

2.6 Epidemiology of human immunodeficiency virus / acquired immunodeficiency syndrome and human immunodeficiency virus strain dynamics The HIV spreads silently and unnoticed before it wreaks havoc and devastation. The HIV/AIDS kills people, tears apart families, destabilizes communities, slows economies, disrupts social services, and weakens democracies. It has a cross-generational impact, denying many children their parents' guard, guidance, protection and love (UNAIDS, 2003). The global HIV morbidity currently stands at about 40 million people (WHO, 2009), more than 90% of them being in developing countries. Sub-Saharan Africa, the epicentre of the global pandemic has about 29 million of the HIV/AIDS cases (WHO, 2009).

Although men basically drive the pandemic, women and girls now make 60 % of those infected in Africa, with an average of 13 women infected for every 10 men. The ratios are even more lop-sided between the sexes for the 15-24 age-group, where 76 % of the infected are women. Recent population-based studies suggest that on average 36 women in this age group are living with HIV for every 10 infected young men (UNAIDS, 2004; UNAIDS/WHO, 2004).

Kenya has also been hard-hit by the HIV/AIDS pandemic, which has reduced live expectancy from 60 years in 1990 to 45.5 years in 2002. More than 2.5 million Kenyans live with HIV/AIDS, the adult prevalence currently standing at 7 % down from 13 % three years ago (WHO, 2009). About 63 % of the HIV/AIDS cases in Kenya are women (NASCOP, 2003). However, the prevalence is higher (about 20%) among girls and young women who are more vulnerable to infection (USAID, 2003). On overage 700 Kenyans die daily from HIV/AIDS and related conditions (National AIDS Control Council [NACC], 2000).

Molecular analysis of HIV-1 and HIV-2 subtypes has revealed the global epidemic to

be composed of multiple genetically distinct virus sub-epidemics (Kanki *et al.*, 1992; Kanki *et al.*, 1994; Esteves *et al.*, 2000). The HIV-2 prevalence is highest in the West African countries of Guinea-Bissau, Gambia, Senegal and the Cape Verde Islands (Kanki *et al.*, 1992; Kanki *et al.*, 1994). Genotyping of HIV-1 collected from around the world show that the prevalence of different clades in different countries are strikingly non-uniform. Clade B predominates in Western Europe and in North America; Clades A and D predominate in most of sub-Saharan Africa; Clade C predominates in Southern Africa, the horn of Africa and West Africa, and clade E/A predominates in Southeast Asia. The HIV-1 genotypes A through H have all been detected in the Equatorial African region bounded by Congo, Cameroun, Gabon and the Central African Republic. The "cosmopolitan clade B" predominates in other regions of the world including South America, Australia, Japan and China. The HIV-O (HIV-1 Outlier) strains have been detected only in Gabon, Cameroun, Equatorial Guinea and in some people who have visited these countries (Hu *et al.*, 1996).

Studies on a patient from Cameroun have demonstrated co-infection with group M and a recombinant M/O virus. Recombination between strains with such distant linkage (65% overall homology) may contribute substantially to the emergence of new HIV-1 variants, with serious implications for serological and molecular diagnosis and treatment of HIV-1 infections (Peeters *et al.*, 1999).

Genetic studies have also shown that HIV-1 and HIV-2 dual infection may not be a static condition. It is suspected that levels of HIV-2 may decrease with progression of disease or sequester in tissue reservoirs, or HIV-1 may effectively outgrow the HIV-2 in co-infected individuals (Sarr et al., 1998). In East Africa, studies show variations of HIV-1 subtypes by country, subtype A and AD recombinants being predominant in Kenya, subtype D and AD recombinants in Uganda and subtype C and AC recombinants in Tanzania (Dowling *et al.*, 2002). In the coastal strip of Kenya, the HIV-1 subtype A1 is the most dominant subtype (86%) in circulation. The subtypes C, D and G constitute 5%, 8% and 1%, respectively (Khamadi et al., 2009). In the northern border with Ethiopia, subtypes A and C are dominant. The Ethiopian side is dominated mainly by HIV-1 subtype C, which incidentally is the dominant subtype in the border town of Moyale, an indication that cross-border movements play an important role in the circulation of the HIV-1 subtypes (Khamadi et al., 2005). In the Nairobi region, the HIV-1 subtypes A1/A1 (65%), A/C (9%), A1/D (7%), C/D (2%), D/D (2%), A1/A2 (2%), G/G (2%), A2/D (2%), C/C (2%), and CRF02_ AG (7%) are in circulation (Lihana et al., 2009). In western Kenya, the subtypes A (52.6%), D (9%), G (3.8%), C (1%), and unclassified unique recombinants were recently reported (Oyaro et al., 2009).

2.7 Epidemiology of tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus coinfection

The TB-HIV co-infections have a global prevalence with devastating morbidity and massive mortality (Raviglione et al., 1995; UNAIDS, 1997). Africa is the worst hit region in terms of the impact of TB-HIV where one-third of the estimated 40 million people living with HIV/AIDS are co-infected with TB (Nullis-Kapp, 2005). Among the 9.27 million new cases of TB that occurred in 2007, 1.37 million cases were HIV coinfected. Africa accounted for 79% of the TB-HIV cases, followed by South-East Asia with 11%. South Africa accounted for 31% of the TB-HIV cases in Africa. People infected with HIV are 20 or more times more likely to develop TB in a given year than HIV-negative people (WHO, 2009), fuelling an upsurge in the TB epidemic which kills an estimated 2 million people worldwide in a year (Nullis-Kapp, 2005). The resurgence (Rothe et al., 1996) and transmission (Menzies, 1997; Mendoza, 1997) of MDR-TB, and the emergence of non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) as opportunistic infections in HIV/AIDS patients (Mendum et al., 2000) compound the problem. The MDR-TB has also been associated with explosive lethal outbreaks in the HIV/AIDS cases (Farmer et al., 1997).

Co-infection with HIV alters the microbiology, immunology and clinical outcomes of TB infection (Barnes *et al.*, 1994; Wallis *et al.*, 1996). Production of immune factors such as interferon- γ is reduced in HIV-1 infection which may contribute to the increased risk of TB in HIV-infected persons (Barnes *et al.*, 1994). However, tumour

necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) is produced in excess in TB-HIV co-infection (Wallis *et al.*, 1993). The TNF- α is expressed by macrophages on coming into contact with *M. tuberculosis* (Wallis *et al.*, 1990; Wallis *et al.*, 1993), and is essential for the inhibition of intracellular bacillary multiplication (Griffin *et al.*, 1991; Kinter *et al.*, 1990; Kindler *et al.*, 1989). However, TNF- α promotes virus expression in HIV-infected human cells (Lederman *et al.*, 1994), meaning that the inflammatory response triggered by *M. tuberculosis* undesirably accelerates HIV progression (Wallis and Ellner, 1994).

The HIV infection is currently the greatest risk factor for the progression of latent TB infection to active TB by a 100 fold (Gilks, 1999), rapid progression of new TB infection, and a potential risk for recurrence of TB (Daley *et al.*, 1992; Villarino *et al.*, 1992; Mallory *et al.*, 2000). Development of active TB in HIV-infected persons appears to be associated with increased HIV replication (Lederman *et al.*, 1994; Wallis *et al.*, 1993) probably initiated by enhanced cytokine expression (Wallis *et al.*, 1993) and is responsible for shortened survival in HIV- infected persons (Ackah *et al.*, 1995). Mortality is reported to increase up to 4-fold in HIV-infected TB patients (Nunn *et al.*, 1992). The HIV infection may also alter the epidemiology of TB through transmission of the tubercle bacilli to the general population from patients who develop TB because of the HIV infection (Sutherland, 1990). In turn, TB is the leading cause of respiratory morbidity (Grant *et al.*, 1998) and mortality in HIV-infected persons globally, and accounts for 44% of all AIDS-related deaths annually (WHO, 1995). More than 13 million individuals have TB-HIV/AIDS, 80% of them being in

sub-Saharan Africa, where up to 80% of hospitalised TB patients are HIV-infected (WHO, 2002). The HIV/AIDS has profound impact on the TB epidemic in Kenya also, where up to 60% of TB patients in the country are HIV-infected (DLTLD, 2007).

With the high prevalence of HIV/AIDS in the developing countries, there is the possibility that a substantial number of TB patients will be smear-negative. Similarly a number of the HIV/ADS cases will be smear-positive due to non-tuberculous mycobacteria and non-mycobacteria. Considering the relatively low sensitivity of ZN smear microscopy it is possible that a substantial number of HIV co-infected TB patients may already be missed to be initiated on treatment, a worrying situation since untreated TB from smear negatives contributes to ongoing transmission (Lienhardt et al., 2001; MacIntyre et al., 1995). The increased prevalence of extra-pulmonary forms of TB in HIV infected patients is a further challenge to the management of TB in resource-poor settings, where access to histopathology and advanced imaging tests are limited or unavailable (Mc Shane, 2005). As TB rates continue to increase in HIV endemic regions, there is merit for evaluation of the performance of diagnostic techniques as one of the TB control strategies. There also remains a need to develop more user friendly TB diagnostic techniques, which can be adapted for use in the highburden and low-income countries (Chaudhary et al., 2010). There is need for large studies to identify selected clinical and laboratory parameters which could be used to identify individuals with TB who are likely to be co-infected with HIV (Lawson et al., 2008).

2.8 Sources and transmission of tuberculosis

Mycobacterium tuberculosis does not multiply outside the animal (human, bovine) body. Patients with active pulmonary TB (PTB) are the major reservoir of the spread of the tubercle bacilli, primarily by inhalation of aerosolised infectious droplet nuclei. Lungs are the main portals of entry of TB infection (Bermudez *et al.*, 1996). The droplet nuclei are generated during coughing, sneezing, talking and heavy breathing by persons with active PTB. Aerosols are fine sprays producing droplets that remain suspended in the air for some time (Pelczar *et al.*, 1986). Small aerosol droplets evaporate leaving droplet nuclei of the tubercle bacilli. Large aerosol droplets settle out rapidly from the air on various surfaces where they dry. Disturbance of this dried material by processes such as bed making or sweeping a floor in the patients' room can generate dust particles that add bacilli to the articulating air (Pelczar *et al.*, 1986; Deodhare *et al.*, 1994).

Direct transmission by heavily infected body secretions from fistulas and skin lesions occur infrequently (De Cock *et al.*, 1999). Infection through the pharyngeal mucosa has been reported where the bacilli are carried to the lymph nodes (Deodhare, 1994). Vertical transmission may occasionally occur when the bacilli are carried from a tuberculous mother to a foetus *in utero* across the placenta. In this case the lesion is situated in the liver of the foetus (Deodhare, 1994). The bacilli may also be directly inoculated on an abrasion or minor cut in the skin in which case non-progressive TB will result (Deodhare, 1994).

Infection can also occur through ingestion of the tubercle bacilli in raw milk and milk products from infected animals mainly cattle (De Cock *et al.*, 1999). This usually involves *M. bovis*, commonly affecting children and young people (Cosivi *et al.*, 1998). However, *M. bovis* is widely distributed and its zoonotic importance is a serious public health problem. This is particularly in areas badly affected by the HIV pandemic (Raviglone *et al.*, 1995) and where effective controls through pasteurisation and the slaughter of infected animals are not applied. Transmission occurs between animals, from animals to humans and vice versa, and rarely between humans (Cosivi *et al.*, 1998).

Crowded housing leads to increased transmission of TB due to prolonged exposure and decreased air exchange which would dilute and remove infectious nuclei. Most transmission occurs in household contacts of an infectious smear-positive case (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). Transmission of TB in institutions that concentrate persons with HIV infection such as prisons, hospital, schools and army barracks has been one of the serious public health problems in industrialized countries in the HIV/AIDS era (Perri *et al.*, 1989; Frieden *et al.*, 1995; Frieden *et al.*, 1996). Studies in Africa also indicate frequent nosocomial transmission (Harries *et al.*, 1997), healthcare workers are highly at risk, and TB is prevalent in prisons (Nyangulu *et al.*, 1997).

2.9 Virulence factors and pathogenesis of tuberculosis

Mycobacterium tuberculosis is not known to produce any toxin. Virulence is associated with the cell wall lipid components. The mycolic acid around the cells is a major determinant of virulence for the bacterium (Todar, 2002; Gurr *et al.*, 1991). It is also responsible for their resistance to the bactericidal action of antibodies and complement proteins (Glickman *et al.*, 2000; Gurr *et al.*, 1991). Resistance to the action of antibodies and complement proteins is probably by preventing attack of the mycobacteria by cationic proteins, lysozyme and oxygen radicals in the phagocytic granule. They (cell wall lipid components) also protect extracellular mycobacteria from complement deposition in serum (Glickman *et al.*, 2000).

The cord factor (tetrahalose dimycolate), consisting of two glycolipids is the major virulence factor that is toxic to macrophages. The ability of the mycobacteria to survive intracellularly in macrophages is due to the cord factor and probably due to the sulfatides. Sulfatides are sulfur-containing lipids, which promote intracellular survival of the bacilli by evading the bactericidal activity of macrophages through inhibition of the fusion of lytic enzyme-containing lysosome and bacilli-containing phagosome. The catalase-peroxidase enzyme has been reported to protect the mycobacteria against reactive oxygen species such as hydrogen peroxide produced by the phagocyte (Arruda *et al.*, 1993). Other factors thought to play a role in the virulence of *M. tuberculosis* include the ability to acquire iron from the host and the presence of oxygen. The high oxygen tension in lung tissue may account for the predilection of the organism to this

site (Silva et al., 1985).

In the pathogenesis of TB infection, once the TB bacilli lodge in the lung tissue of an immunocompetent host, a cell-mediated immunity (CMI) is induced. T-lymphocytes migrate towards the bacilli, and upon contact liberate lymphokines, which attract macrophages to the area and cause them to accumulate. Eventually, a small tubercle forms consisting of the bacilli, several concentric layers of macrophages and an outer mantle of lymphocytes. This halts further advance of the infection and the tubercle becomes dormant (Wallis *et al.*, 1994). However, small numbers of viable bacilli may survive in these foci for decades in a dormant state. Breakdown of these foci in the setting of waning immunity due to factors such as HIV/AIDS and immunosuppressive medications can result in reactivation of infection (Jones *et al.*, 1993).

2.10 Tuberculosis disease phenotypes

It is generally accepted that 90% of infected immunocompetent subjects will never develop TB. One-in-two people of the remaining 10% will progress to disease during the first two years after infection (Frieden *et al.*, 2003). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is a highly virulent pathogen and produces disease in immunocompromised individuals and throughout the course if HIV infection (Davis *et al.*, 1993).

Tuberculosis has many manifestations, affecting bone, the central nervous system (CNS), and many other organ systems, but it is primarily a pulmonary disease that is

initiated by the deposition of tubercle bacilli contained in aerosol droplets, onto lung alveolar surfaces (Smith, 2003). Consequently, infection may lead to pulmonary or extra-pulmonary TB. The pulmonary TB (PTB) may be smear-positive PTB or smear-negative PTB (IUATLD, 1996). Individuals who do not develop effective cell mediated immune (CMI) responses following primary infection may develop progressive primary TB. This form of disease is most common in young children, the immunocompromised, and the elderly. Miliary or meningeal TB may result after wide spread haematogenous dissemination of the tubercle bacilli (Proudfoot *et al.*, 1969). Low numbers of dormant, slowly metabolising tubercle bacilli persist in small, walled-off fibrocaseous lesions in the lung and other organs seeded during initial *M. tuberculosis* bacteraemia. Such foci may breakdown years later in the event of waning CMI to produce active local or disseminated TB (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). Children usually acquire TB infection from repetitive close contact with sputum smear-positive adult living in the same household. The younger the child, the more is the risk of infection (Johnson *et al.*, 1999).

Mildly immunocompromised patients may present with typical reactivation TB. However, severely immunocompromised patients are at high risk of developing progressive primary TB if recently infected, and for reactivation of latent TB (Davis *et al.*, 1993; Johnson *et al.*, 1999). In early stages of HIV infection, the immunity is less impaired and disease features are consistent with typical reactivation TB (Mukadi *et al.*, 1993). However, as HIV infection progresses, features of TB becomes more atypical, and in severely immunocompromised HIV-infected individuals TB is characterized by increased disseminated and extra-pulmonary forms (Small et al., 1991).

The common forms of extra-pulmonary TB (EPTB) include tuberculous lymphadenitis (Lau *et al.*, 1991), tuberculous pleurisy (Wallgren, 1948), TB of bone and joints, intestinal or abdominal TB (Johnson *et al.*, 1999), TB meningitis (Ramachandran *et al.*, 1986), genitourinary TB (Simon *et al.*, 1977) and tuberculous pericarditis (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). Most EPTB cases represent reactivation TB. However, some forms of EPTB such as tuberculous pleurisy and phlyctenular conjunctivitis represent hypersensitivity reactions to mycobacterial proteins, and occur following primary infection. In developing countries, EPTB frequently occurs in children and young adults. Conversely, in developed nations EPTB is now more frequent in the elderly probably due to reactivation of dormant TB following weakening immunity due to aging. Some forms of EPTB such as tuberculous meningitis are increased among HIV-infected individuals (Johnson and Ellner, 1999).

Tuberculous pleurisy results from direct extension from lungs, haematogenous seeding or rupture of a sub-pleural caseous focus into the pleural space (Wallgren, 1948). Tuberculous lymphadenitis is the most common EPTB manifestation of TB in developing countries with *M. tuberculosis* as the major cause. However, in developed nations with low TB prevalence, atypical mycobacteria including *M. aviumintracellulare* (MAI) complex, *M. scrofulaceum* are frequent isolates from paediatric cases (Wolinsky, 1995). Tuberculous lymphadenitis may also be a complication of primary infection, reactivation of contiguous spread, and is more common in young children and women (Lau *et al.*, 1991).

Bone and joint (skeletal) TB affects mainly large weight-bearing joints (Gorse *et al.*, 1983). Most skeletal TB in infants and children is associated with progressive primary TB. However, in older children and adults, it usually results from reactivation of a previously haematogenously seeded focus (Berney *et al.*, 1972) or by haematogenous seeding after breakdown of a latent focus in the kidney, lymph nodes or other organs (Gorse *et al.*, 1983).

The term miliary TB is used to describe disseminated TB resulting from haematogenous spread associated with characteristic lesions on chest radiography. Once the bacteria reach the left side of the heart and enter the systemic circulation, the result may be to seed organs such as the liver and spleen with the said infection. Alternately the bacteria may enter the lymph node(s), drain into a systemic vein and eventually reach the right side of the heart. From the right side of the heart, the bacteria may seed or re-seed the lungs, causing the eponymous "miliary" appearance (Kumar *et al.*, 2007). Miliary lesions are diffuse 1-2 mm rounded opacities scattered throughout the lung fields. These lesions are named for their resemblance to millet seeds (Johnson *et al.*, 1999).

Tuberculous meningitis involves the central nervous system (CNS). It may lead to tuberculomas and tuberculous spondylitis. However, the most common form of CNS

TB is tuberculous meningitis, the life threatening EPTB. It is still the leading cause of mortality and chronic disability in infants and children with TB (Ramachandran *et al.*, 1986). Infants and children develop tuberculous meningitis in the setting of progressive primary infection or miliary TB. In developed nations, tuberculous meningitis is frequently seen in adults and the elderly in association with reactivation or late generalised TB. The HIV pandemic has also been associated with increased cases of CNS TB (Small *et al.*, 1991).

Genitourinary TB is a disease of young and middle aged adults. Most cases of renal TB arise from secondary haematogenous spread of the tubercle bacilli to the renal cortex from pulmonary lesions either at the time of initial TB infection or due to the breakdown of old caseous focus. Any portion of the urinary tract can be involved secondarily by antitrade infection from the infected urine (Simon *et al.*, 1977).

Tuberculous pericarditis results from direct involvement from adjacent pulmonary lesions, from haematogenous seeding and most frequently by spread from involved mediastinal lymph nodes (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). Tuberculous pericarditis is the most common pericardial disease in sub-Saharan Africa and may present as pericardial effusion, constrictive pericarditis, or effusive-constrictive pericarditis (Mayosi *et al.*, 2005; Reuter *et al.*, 2005a). However, pericardial effusion is the most common clinical manifestation (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). Tuberculosis accounts for less than 5% of cases of pericardial disease in the developed world, yet it is the cause of 50-70% of cases in

sub-Saharan Africa (Reuter *et al.*, 2005a; Reuter *et al.*, 2005b; Cegielski *et al.*, 1994). The prevalence of tuberculous pericarditis in HIV-infected individuals with pericardial disease is even higher, with TB accounting for 96-100% of cases in this group (Reuter *et al.*, 2005b; Cegielski *et al.*, 1994). Interestingly, the presence of HIV infection has not been found to significantly alter the clinical, radiologic, echocardiographic, or diagnostic characteristics of tuberculous pericarditis (Reuter *et al.*, 2005a; Cegielski *et al.*, 1994).

Gastro-intestinal TB (GITB) is a major health problem in many underdeveloped countries. However, a recent significant increase has occurred in developed countries, especially in association with HIV infection. Tuberculosis can also involve the gastrointestinal tract at all levels, although the ileum and colon are common sites (Anand *et al.*, 2007; Johnson *et al.*, 1999). The routes of GIT infection include ingestion of infected sputum in patients with active pulmonary TB and especially in patients with pulmonary cavitation and positive sputum smears, haematogenous spread from tuberculous focus in the lung to sub-mucosal lymph nodes. It also includes local spread from surrounding organs involved by primary tuberculous infection, for instance renal TB causing fistulas into the duodenum or mediastinal TB lymphadenopathy involving the esophagus (Anand *et al.*, 2007). The GITB may also result from drinking of raw milk from infected animals, usually involving *M. bovis. Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and atypical mycobacteria frequently involve abdominal lymph nodes and viscera in patients with advanced AIDS (Johnson and Ellner, 1999).

2.11 Anti-tuberculosis drug resistance and risk factors

The increasing global spread of multi-drug resistant TB (MDR-TB) and extensively drug resistant TB (XD-RTB) due to emergence of multi-drug resistant strains of *M. tuberculosis* complex is a major health threat, which is negating TB control efforts (Schwoebel *et al.*, 2000; WHO, 1997; Park *et al.*, 1996). Multi-drug resistant TB (MDR-TB) refers to infection with *M. tuberculosis* strains resistant to at least isoniazid and rifampicin. Multi-drug resistance has been clearly identified as the most severe, with a strong impact on morbidity, mortality and long duration treatment at much higher costs (Schwoebel *et al.*, 2000). Some parts of the world including many countries in Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean, South-East Asia and former Soviet Union states, have already reported MDR-TB rates of up to 50% (Davies, 2003).

The WHO (2009) estimates that there are half a million new cases of MDR-TB, which is about 5% of the total 9 million new TB cases worldwide each year. In surveys done in 2002-2006, the highest rates have been recorded in Azerbaijan, where nearly a quarter of all new TB cases (22.3%) were reported as MDR, followed by Moldova with 19.4%. These proportions were 16% in Ukraine, 15% in the Russian Federation and 14.8% in Uzbekistan. Surveys in China also suggest that MDR-TB is widespread in that country. About 8.32% of pulmonary TB patients in China suffer from MDR-TB and 0.68% from XDR-TB. It is estimated that there are 120,000 new cases of MDR-TB is effectively treated while MDR-TB is not well tackled, case-load with the latter

strains will increase. Untreated MDR-TB may create a series of "fast" sub-epidemic MDR-TB outbreaks in susceptible populations involving households, factories, schools, prisons, military barracks, clinics and hospitals (Farmer *et al.*, 1998a).

Extensively drug resistant TB (XDR-TB), defined as MDR-TB with additional resistance to fluoroquinolones and at least one of the three second-line injectable drugs, capreomycin, kanamycin and amikacin, has recently been identified in many countries including South Africa, USA and former Soviet countries. At least 17 countries have reported XDR-TB cases among which mortality is extremely high. The XDR-TB leaves patients virtually untreatable using currently available anti-TB drugs. Majority of XDR-TB cases are HIV co-infected. However, the extent and amount of XDR-TB is unknown (NICHD, 2007; NIH, 2007; NIMH, 2007; WHO, 2009). This is because few countries are equipped at present to diagnose it, limiting the availability of data (WHO, 2009).

The emergence of resistance to anti-TB drugs may be due to either factors related to patient non-compliance (Frieden *et al.*, 1993) or the transmission of already resistant strains (Shafer *et al.*, 1995). Defaulting from treatment in developing countries is largely as a result of patient's lack of motivation, the impression of being completely cured in the course of chemotherapy, drug side effects, poverty associated problems and socio-psychological factors (Ramachandran *et al.*, 1992). Development and transmission of MDR-TB is fanned by many factors, which include HIV infection

(Agerton *et al.*, 1997; Poggio *et al.*, 1997), inappropriate chemotherapy such as failure to detect resistance to anti-TB drugs, extensive prophylactic use of the anti-TB drugs on TB infected HIV/AIDS patients, non-compliance with chemotherapy by TB patients (Frieden *et al.*, 1993; Pfyffer, 2000; Youmans *et al.*, 1946) and increasing poverty and its associated factors such as overcrowding and malnutrition (Ramachandran *et al.*, 1992).

The MDR-TB of today is to a large extent the result of the yesterday's ineffective TB programmes and practices. Unwise therapeutic decisions in TB treatment have been common, such as the addition of one agent to a failing regimen. However, MDR-TB is not necessarily an incurable disease. It is a failure to treat, and not treatment failure, that accounts for the vast majority of MDR-TB deaths. Elsewhere, there is evidence that with appropriate treatment of young patients without HIV infection, cure rates of even highly resistant TB are appreciably high (Telzak *et al.*, 1994).

There are delays in the diagnosis of MDR-TB, running into months or even years (Tenover *et al.*, 1993). In some developing countries, persistently smear-positive patients simply receive multiple re-treatment regimens until they die. Rigidly algorithmic approaches commonly lead into some patients faithfully adhering to first-line regimens even though they are contacts of known MDR-TB patients, and they remain smear-positive throughout multiple DOTS. Enrolment of patients with primary resistance to isoniazid (INH) and rifampicin (RIF) into standard algorithms such as

DOTS may make the organisms resistant to ethambutol (EMB) and pyrazinamide (PZA) as well. Since empiric re-treatment is often based on the same drugs plus a short course of streptomycin, the organisms initially resistant to INH and RIF may become resistant to as many as five anti-mycobacterials. This amplifier effect of DOTS has been documented to contribute to MDR-TB outbreaks (Farmer *et al.*, 1998a).

In the earlier 1990s, the WHO (1997b) warned: "Once the MDR-TB is unleashed, we may never be able to stop it". However, the MDR-TB has already been unleashed, and the only effective means to interrupt its transmission is prompt identification and effective therapy of the MDR-TB cases (Farmer *et al.*, 1998b). The DOTS-plus, a new strategy that targets for treatment of all active TB cases, including those with MDR-TB is aimed to achieve this (Farmer *et al.*, 1997). However, the DOTS-Plus is not intended as a universal strategy, and is not required in all settings. It should be implemented in selected areas with moderate to high levels of MDR-TB in order to combat an emerging epidemic (WHO, 2006).

2.12 Multi-drug resistant tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus infection

The accompaniment of the resurgence of TB by alarming outbreaks of MDR-TB mainly among HIV-infected patients is worrying. Studies have shown a link between HIV infection and MDR-TB (Poggio *et al.*, 1997; WHO, 2009). For instance, MDR-TB strain named 'M' has been reported to cause a nosocomial outbreak in HIV/AIDS cases in Buenos Aires, Argentina, with the infection spreading to nearby health centres (Poggio *et al.*, 1997). In the USA, the highly resistant strain 'W' has been responsible for several nosocomial outbreaks in New York, with mortality rates above 80%, majority (73%) being HIV/AIDS cases (Agerton *et al.*, 1997). In this same city, MDR-TB was diagnosed in 241 patients in 1995 through 1997, majority (90%) having no prior treatment history. More MDR-TB patients (53.1%) had HIV infection compared with non-MDR-TB patients (31.2%) (Munsiff *et al.*, 2002). In Russia, MDR-TB due to the Beijing strain family is prevalent in prisons a significant number of the affected being HIV-infected (Drobniewski *et al.*, 2002). The Beijing family of isolates was first reported in Beijing area, China, in 1995. The highly drug-resistant W strain, first identified in New York, USA, is a member of the Beijing family (Agerton *et al.*, 1999). Surveys in Latvia and Ukraine indicate the level of MDR-TB among TB patients living with HIV to be almost twice compared with TB patients without HIV (WHO, 2009).

Munsiff *et al.* (2002) suggested three possible reasons for the observed greater prevalence of HIV infection in MDR-TB patients compared to non-MDR-TB patients. They are of the opinion that the initial outbreaks during which these strains were transmitted, mostly involved HIV-infected persons; a large number of HIV infected patients were likely infected in those outbreaks; and HIV infected patients progress from infection to TB disease at a much higher rate than non-HIV persons. However, studies by Brindle *et al.* (1993) indicate that HIV infection does not affect the microbiological response to anti-tuberculous therapy.

2.13 The biochemical basis and the determination of anti-mycobacterial drug resistance

Multi-drug resistant (MDR) strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex have emerged worldwide, constituting a serious threat to the efficacy of TB control programmes. Understanding of the drug targets and molecular basis of resistance to the anti-TB drugs including isoniazid, rifampin, streptomycin, ethambutol, and pyrazinamide is important in gaining control of this epidemic (Somoskovi *et al.*, 2001). Isoniazid, ethambutol, pyrazinamide and ethionamide interfere with enzymes involved in cell wall synthesis. Streptomycin and other aminoglycosides interfere with protein synthesis. Rifampicin interferes with transcription while quinolones interfere with DNA replication (Pfyffer, 2000; Somoskovi *et al.*, 2001). Resistance of *M. tuberculosis* complex to anti-TB drugs is the result of spontaneous genetic event (mutations) that occur at a frequency of approximately 10^{-5} to 10^{-8} . Resistance in *M. tuberculosis* complex is always a result of mutation exclusively confined to chromosomal DNA, without involvement of mobile genetic elements such as plasmids seen in other bacteria and mycobacteria (Pfyffer, 2000).

Resistance to rifampicin (rifampin) is associated with a short core region consisting 27 amino acids in the *rpoB* gene, which codes for the β -sub unit of RNA polymerase (Telenti *et al.*, 1993), the enzyme involved in RNA transcription (Cole and Telenti, 1995; Ramaswamy and Musser, 1998; Pfyffer, 1999). More than 97% rifampin-resistant *M. tuberculosis* isolates carry a mutation in this core region, where a total 15

distinct mutations have been identified. The ethambutol resistance-determining region (ERDR) has been proposed as a mutational hot spot in the *embB* gene (Telenti *et al.*, 1997; Alcaide *et al.*, 1997). The *embB* gene codes for arabinosyl transferase involved in arabinan polymerization. Mutation in the *gyrA* gene coding for DNA gyrase sub-unit involved in DNA replication is responsible for resistance to fluoroquinolones (Cole and Telenti, 1995; Ramaswamy and Musser, 1998; Pfyffer, 1999). The situation with pyrazinamide is however, not clear (Scorpio and Zhang, 1996).

However, drug resistance in mycobacteria is often associated with more than a single gene mutation. Resistance to isoniazid appears to be the complex result of single or multiple mutations (Cole and Telenti, 1995; Ramaswamy and Musser, 1998; Pfyffer, 1999) in the *katG*, *inhA*, *oxyR-ahpC* and/or *kasA* gene(s). The *katG* gene codes for catalase-peroxidase which protects the organisms from reactive oxygen species, whereas the *inhA* gene codes for enoyl-acyl carrier protein involved in mycolic acid biosynthesis. The *kasA* gene codes for β -ketoacyl acyl carrier protein synthase involved in mycolic acid biosynthesis. The *oxyR-ahpC* gene codes for alkyl hydroperoxide reductase whose function in the mycobacteria is yet to be established (Ramaswamy and Musser, 1998).

Pyrazinamide, a nicotinamide analog that is believed to target an enzyme involved in fatty-acid synthesis (Zimhony *et al.*, 2000), is a pro-drug that is converted to its active form (pyrazinoic acid [POA]) by the mycobacterial enzyme pyrazinamidase. It has been

observed that the pyrazinamide-resistant *M* tuberculosis isolates usually lose their pyrazinamidase activity (Konno *et al.*, 1967). After cloning and sequencing the gene that encodes pyrazinamidase (*pncA*), it was found that 72–97% of all pyrazinamideresistant clinical isolates tested carry a mutation in the structural gene or in the putative promoter region of the gene (Zhang and Telenti, 2000; Scorpio and Zhang, 1996). However, the involvement of other mechanisms (those that involve pyrazinamide uptake, *pncA* regulation, or POA efflux) is indicated by the existence of isolates that exhibit a high level of pyrazinamide resistance without mutations in the *pncA* gene (Raynaud *et al.*, 1999). However, *M bovis* and *M bovis* BCG, are naturally resistant to pyrazinamide, and pyrazinamide resistance in them is due to a unique C to G point mutation in codon 169 of *pncA*. In contrast, mutations in pyrazinamide-resistant *M tuberculosis* have been found scattered throughout *pncA* (Scorpio and Zhang, 1996).

Mutations in the *rpsL* and/or *rrs* gene(s) correlate with resistance in about 80% streptomycin resistant *M. tuberculosis* strains (Pfyffer, 2000). The *rpsL* gene codes for the ribosomal protein S12 involved in translation, whereas the *rrs*gene codes for the 16S rRNA involved in translation.

2.14 Prevention and control of tuberculosis and non-tuberculous mycobacterioses

The HIV/AIDS is dramatically fuelling the spread of TB, and TB is a major killer among people living with HIV/AIDS. For instance, MDR-TB and XDR-TB are highly

lethal in people living with HIV/AIDS, with some studies showing case fatality rates of over 90% in sub-Saharan Africa. Drug-resistant TB is therefore a major threat to the effectiveness of both TB treatment and anti-retroviral treatment programmes (WHO, 2009). Consequently, the control of HIV is key for TB control as well. The realization that it will be impossible to curb the spread of TB without tackling HIV/AIDS and vice versa has led to the upsurge of joint research, surveillance and treatment initiatives into the two diseases that are feeding off each other to devastating effect (Nullis-Kapp, 2005). However, the three principal strategies for the prevention and control of TB are primary preventive measures including BCG vaccination and interruption of transmission, case finding, and chemotherapy (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). Preventive therapy is the administration of drugs to prevent development of active TB from reactivation of latent and recent primary infections. It is an approach targeted at secondary prevention of new cases (Ferebee, 1970; Cosmstock *et al.*, 1979).

Great efforts are being directed to the TB-HIV patients to interrupt on-going TB transmission through identification and treatment of such cases to reduce the duration of infectiousness and prevent transmission of new infections. Isoniazid (INH) has been widely used in preventive therapy, although the current outbreaks of drug resistant TB have spurred new interest in other agents and regimens (Pape *et al.*, 1993; Johnson *et al.*, 1999). However, TB control programmes in developing countries are yet to effectively address the problem of nosocomial TB where transmission of MDR-TB is pervasive (Harries *et al.*, 1997).

Environmental and administrative measures aimed at reducing exposure of uninfected persons to those with active TB and vaccination with the Bacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) are being applied (De Cock *et al.*, 1999). The BCG is a living attenuated strain of *M. bovis* derived by serial (*in vitro*) passage by Calmette and Guerin between 1908 and 1918. The BCG vaccines are safe and widely used for the prevention of TB. The BCG is a component of the United Nations Expanded Programme on Immunization (UNEPI) and is the world's most widely used vaccine. It is usually given as a single intradermal injection shortly after birth (Johnson and Ellner, 1999). Complications of BCG vaccination are infrequent and consist mainly of local lymphadenopathy or lymphadenitis. Disseminated disease is rare. However, the rate of complication may be slightly higher in HIV infected persons but is still very low (Ten Dam, 1990). The WHO currently recommends BCG vaccination of infants early in life, even when the mother is known or suspected to be HIV-infected. However, BCG vaccination should be withheld from persons with symptomatic HIV infection (WHO, 1989).

Prompt and correct treatment of active cases before transmission is essential for TB control (ACETB, 1995). The short course chemotherapy (SCC) or directly observed therapy short course (DOTS) is the most effective TB treatment currently. It consists of 6-8 months regimen; an intensive 2 months phase, and continuation phase of 4-6 months. First-line anti-TB drugs include isoniazid (INH), rifampicin (RIF), streptomycin (STR), ethambutol (EMB), pyrazinamide (PZA) and thiazetazone (TAZ) (ATS-CDC, 1994). Para-aminosalycylic acid (PAS), ethionamide, kanamycin,

capreomycin, amikacin, viomycin, cycloserine and fluoroquinolones are the second-line anti-TB drugs. They are used for re-treatment of TB and the treatment of known or suspected multi-drug resistant TB cases. However, these drugs are more toxic, less well tolerated and less effective for TB treatment. Their use is indicated only for drugresistant TB and substitute agents when the patient cannot tolerate first-line drugs. Treatment with these drugs must also be given for long durations of 12 to 24 months (Johnson and Ellner, 1999).

Cases of multi-drug resistant TB should be managed by specialised units backed with good laboratories and under specialized consultants, for treatment requires access to more expensive and toxic drugs. Re-treatment or treatment failures, relapses and cases of suspected drug resistant TB should be carefully monitored and administered as DOTS (Enarson *et al.*, 1996).

Patients with acquired drug resistance to INH, or INH and STR can still be cured by retreatment regimens such as the standard 8-month International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease (IUATLD) regimens consisting of 2 months STR, EMB, INH, RIF, and PZA, followed by 1 month of EMB, INH, RIF, and PZA and concluding with 5 months of daily or three-times-weekly INH, EMB and RIF (Enarson *et al.*, 1996). However, treatment of MDR-TB lasts for at least 24 months. In Kenya for instance, the regime for MDR-TB consists of five drugs in the intensive phase (capreomycin, ofloxacin, prothionamide, cycloserine and pyrazinamide) for a minimum
of six months, while the continuation phase lasts for a minimum of 18 months with the three drugs, ofloxacin, prothionamide, and cycloserine (DLTLD, 2009). Drug susceptibility testing should be performed in patients with treatment failure or relapses especially after unsuccessful treatment (Iseman, 1993; Johnson and Ellner, 1999).

The NTM, also known as atypical mycobacteria, have varying patterns of natural drug resistance. The effectiveness of drug therapy is highly variable even with combination therapy, typically manifesting resistance to INH and PZA, with varying susceptibility to RIF, EMB and STR. This heterogeneous resistance makes therapy less predictable than with disease caused by *M. tuberculosis* (Iseman, 1998). *Mycobacterium kansasii* is sensitive to RIF and EMB. However, these drugs give poor results against MAC, *M. malmoense* and *M. xenopi* (Pozniak, 1997).

Mycobacterium marinum infection limited to superficial tissue can be treated with doxycycline, trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, or ciprofloxacin. Deeper or extensive infections require combination therapy with RIF, EMB, and possibly STR. Sulfonamides cefoxitin, amikacin, ciprofloxacin and imipenem are active against *M. fortuitum* (Johnston and Ellner, 1999; Wolinsky, 1992).

Treatment of *M. avium- intracellulare* (MAI) complex, *M. scrofulaceum* and *M. kanasii* infections require prolonged multiple drug therapy [MAI complex is highly resistant to anti-TB drug therapy. Pulmonary disease due to MAI complex requires prolonged

treatment and side effects are frequent] (ATS, 2007; Johnson and Ellner, 1999). The new macrolides, clarithromycin and azithromycin are highly effective against MAI complex. One suggested initial regimen is clarithromycin, ethambutol, clofazimine and amikacin for 2-4 months or streptomycin, followed by clarithromycin, ethambutol and clofazimine for 20-22 months (ATS, 2007; Iseman, 1996). Rifabutin, ciprofloxacin, ethionamide and cycloserine are alternative agents (ATS, 2007; Johnson and Ellner, 1999).

In Kenya, TB treatment success rate has been stable above 80% since the introduction of DOTS in 1993 (NLTP, 2004; DLTLD, 2009). The treatment success rates in 2007 and 2008 were 85.2% and 85.43%, respectively, slightly above the 85% success rate recommended by the WHO (DLTLD, 2009). The DLTLD (formerly NLTP) seems to be satisfied with the above 85% treatment success rate considering the high rate of HIV/AIDS among the TB patients in the country. The TB-HIV co-infected patients are at high risk of dying from non-TB opportunistic infections during TB treatment. The re-treatment failure rate stands at about 0.5%. However, an 8% out of control cases may be worrying as this group is a potential source of MDR-TB. The high rate may also be attributed to under reporting of cases that had died. The death rate among the TB patients in 2008 was 6% (DLTLD, 2009).

2.15 Factors that hamper the control of tuberculosis and other mycobacterioses The standard TB smear microscopy test was developed a century ago and is very imprecise to detect active TB in HIV/AIDS patients with atypical symptoms (Bhargava *et al.*, 2001; Nolte *et al.*, 1995; Generozov *et al.*, 2000; Nullis-Kapp, 2005). This does delay patient entry into treatment under TB protocols. Its replacement with better diagnostic tools would be appropriate. Results involving sputum cultures can take up to eight weeks, a delay which can be fatal. Given the continuing stigma of HIV/AIDS, the majority of TB patients are reluctant to be tested for HIV (Nullis-Kapp, 2005).

Diagnosis and treatment of TB among TB-HIV patients is even more problematic. It requires highly skilled personnel to administer medication. For instance, the WHO (2005) and many national guidelines recommend that priority should be given to treating patients with the six-month course of TB treatment and then move to antiretrovirals (ARVs). For patients with advanced clinical symptoms of AIDS, the alternative approach is to give a TB-HIV patient two months of TB treatment, and then start ARVs. But for really severely immunosuppressed patients (with CD4 count less than 50) the only option is to begin TB and HIV treatments simultaneously (Nullis-Kapp, 2005; WHO, 2005). However, there is no sufficient information on toxicity and other interaction reactions between ARVs and anti-TB drugs which may reduce the efficacy of the drugs.

The long duration and high bill count of current anti-TB and non-tuberculous

mycobacterioses drug regimens, coupled with the spectre of increasing drug resistance is also hampering efforts to control TB and NTM disease (Nullis-Kapp, 2005). The monitoring and evaluation systems and training capacity for the two diseases in resource poor countries is also inadequate (Nullis-Kapp, 2005; WHO, 2005).

Anti-TB drug susceptibility testing is an expensive exercise and requires relatively high technical skills unaffordable in many health facilities in resource poor countries. Where drug susceptibility testing (DST) facilities are available, inconsistent results is a significant problem. Mixed TB infections have been proposed as the possible explanation of inconsistent DST results (Glynn *et al.*, 1995). Such infections could also be confused with exogenous re-infection or laboratory cross-contamination (Yeh *et al.*, 1999).

The extent and amount of MDR-TB and XDR-TB, and the actual global burden of childhood TB are unknown. This is because TB diagnosis in children is complicated (NICHD, 2007; NIH, 2007; NIMH, 2007; WHO, 2003) and many health facilities in developing countries are incapable of achieving this due to lack of specialized facilities and health personnel, and meagre allocation of resources to the health sector (Hanson, 2002; Nullis-Kapp, 2005). Childhood TB is also often accorded low priority by many National TB Control Programmes, due to among others, the said diagnostic difficulties, over-emphasis on BCG, childhood TB being rarely infectious, and lack of data on treatment. Moreover, with the increase of HIV prevalence among children, this

situation has worsened significantly (NICHD, 2007; NIH, 2007; NIMH, 2007).

Factors that determine TB diagnosis in children include history of contact with TB case especially in the same household, chest X-ray showing unilateral lymphadenopathy and or shows shadows in the lung fields indicating infiltration and positive mantoux test (WHO, 2003). However, the usefulness of the tuberculin test and chest X-ray are further reduced in malnourished or HIV-infected children, yet these are common conditions that often need to be differentiated from TB (NICHD, 2007).

The HIV co-infection makes diagnosis and management of TB in children more difficult because other HIV- related diseases such as lymphocytic interstitial pneumonitis may present in a similar way to PTB or miliary TB. Interpretation of tuberculin skin testing and chest X-ray is less reliable, and when TB-HIV co-infection is common in adults a positive contact history is less specific if the contact is the child's parent. The child is at risk of transmission of either or both diseases, and children with TB and advanced HIV/AIDS may not respond as well to TB treatment. Testing for HIV infection can be helpful, especially if the result is negative, as it increases the likelihood of a diagnosis of TB. However, a positive HIV result clearly does not exclude the possibility of TB (WHO, 2003).

Lack or poor coordination between the TB and the HIV/AIDS programmes has been reported to frustrate TB control efforts. It has been observed that once a patient is

diagnosed with TB, they are sent to a TB clinic with little further interaction with the HIV/AIDS specialists even in the same health facility (Nullis-Kapp, 2005). However, the problem faced by high burden countries such as Kenya has spurred the drive to tackle the dual epidemic with coordinated response intended to draw on the strength of the DOTS strategy. Strengthening the DOTS strategy seems to be essential but not sufficient by itself. Implementation of additional existing interventions to prevent TB such as prophylaxis and intensified case finding are necessary (Nullis-Kapp, 2005; WHO, 2005).

The chief priority of TB control programmes is early identification, and prompt and appropriate treatment of active cases before further transmission (ACETB, 1995). However, the current TB case finding strategies in many developing countries like Kenya (NLTP, 2004) are based on passive case finding, where people with symptoms of TB must come to healthcare facility to be 'found'. If they do not go to the healthcare facility, they will not be 'found', and therefore will not be treated. This way Kenyan healthcare system "finds" about 50% of infectious cases and is able to successfully treat about 85.4% of them. Hence for every case found and treated by the healthcare system, there may be one other 'unfound' case. This individual does not receive treatment. Many of these cases with TB but are 'unfound' remain untreated and eventually die from the disease. Their deaths could have been prevented if only they had been 'found'. Many cases suffering from TB may not be reaching healthcare facilities, and if they are, healthcare systems may miss to pick them up (NLTP, 2004). The passive

case finding strategy is therefore ineffective in TB control necessitating the adoption of a more proactive approach by the healthcare systems to find people suffering from TB, coupled with health education.

Limited funding for TB activities remains a major challenge in TB control. Many lowincome countries are unable to carry out drug resistance surveys, making it difficult for WHO and other relevant organizations to estimate the true burden and trends of XDR-TB and MDR-TB globally, regionally and nationally. It is likely that many outbreaks of drug resistance are going unnoticed. The WHO (2009) estimates that US\$4.8 billion were needed for overall TB control in low- and middle-income countries in 2008, with US\$1 billion for X/MDR-TB. But there was a total financing gap of \$2.5 billion, including a US\$ 500 million gap for XDR-TB and MDR-TB.

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study design

This was hospital and laboratory based cross-sectional study carried out between September 2007 and September 2009. It was carried out to provide a snapshot (one point in time measurements) description of the prevalence of TB, HIV and TB-HIV and the significance of the NTM in causing TB-like disease in western Kenya. The study was conducted to describe the relationship between HIV co-infection and anti-TB drug resistance.

3.2 Study site and population

The study was done at Nakuru Provincial General Hospital, Kisii Level 5 General Hospital and Busia, Bungoma, Kisumu, Migori, Narok, Kericho, Uasin Gishu and Lodwar district hospitals. These hospitals were selected because they serve populations at high risk for TB due to high HIV prevalence, or socio-cultural practices that favour TB transmission, and the role of NTM in TB-like morbidity in these populations has not been determined. These hospitals like all others at their levels have chest and paediatric clinics where adult and child TB patients obtain healthcare respectively. The numbers of TB suspects enrolled into the study from each hospital are shown in Table 4.1, page 67. Western Kenya includes the expansive former Rift Valley, Nyanza and Western Provinces, with a cumulative population of about 19.8 million people. This constitutes about 52.1% of the Kenyan population (Kenya Census, 2009).

3.3 Sample size

The 2006 national average of TB-HIV/AIDS co-infection rate in Kenya was 40% (NLTP, 2006). Using this as a reference for a single proportion calculation with an error of 5% at 95% power, employing Fischer's exact formula as applied by Mugenda and Mugenda (1999), the required sample N was thus:

$N = \underline{z^2 pq}_{8^2} = (\underline{1.96})^2 \underline{0.4x0.6}_{(0.05)^2}$	= 369
Where: (0.05)	
N = sample size	
z = standard normal deviate	= 1.96
p = prevalence proportion	= 0.4
q = 1-p	= 0.6
δ = level of precision	= 0.05

At least 369 suspected TB cases were required for this study. However, this study took the advantage of the ease of getting specimens and enrolled a total of 872 TB suspects in order to obtain more *Mycobacterium* isolates and increase the power of the study.

3.4 Sampling frame and patient characteristics

3.4.1 Sampling frame

Purposeful sampling was employed to recruit suspected TB cases into the study between September 2007 and September 2009 as they sought healthcare services at the chest and paediatric clinics. Patients were suspected of having TB if they had a cough of more than two weeks not responding to antibiotic treatment (NLTP, 2003).

3.4.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Subjects suspected of having TB and resident in western Kenya for at least six (6) months, not on anti-TB chemotherapy and consented to participate in the study were recruited. Patients who had not lived in western Kenya for the last 6 months, those already on anti-TB chemotherapy, and those unwilling to participate in the study and not meeting the above inclusion criteria were excluded. Children under 18 years were enrolled into the study after assent from parent / guardian.

3.4.3 Collection of samples and demographic data

Three sputum specimens (spot, early morning, second spot) were collected from participants suspected of having TB under the supervision of trained and competent medical staff. The suspects were requested to cough so that the expectoration came from deep down the chest as possible, and spit into a sterile 50 ml blue cap tubes. For children less than 5 years of age and those less than 10 years of age unable to expectorate sputum had sputum induction performed at the Nakuru provincial and Kisii level 5 hospitals. The samples were refrigerated at 4°C awaiting transportation in cool boxes to the Mycobacteria Reference Laboratory, Moi University School of Medicine (MRL, MUSOM) weekly for analysis. At the MRL, MUSOM, the samples were refrigerated at 4°C till processing. However, most samples were processed within 7 days of collection in order to minimize loss of viability of the mycobacteria.

Consenting 695 TB suspects were voluntarily counselled before they underwent

phlebotomy for HIV testing. The blood was delivered into Vacutainer Brand STERILE interior EDTA (K3) tubes and stored at -20° C awaiting processing. The samples were transported in cool boxes to MRL, MUSOM, Eldoret, and screened for HIV infection within two weeks (Appendix 2).

A questionnaire was used to collect demographic and medical history data by the designated Nurse or Clinical Officer in-charge of the chest and paediatric clinics. Data collected included age, gender, previous anti-TB treatment, HIV status, and ART.

3.5 Testing for human immunodeficiency virus infection

Whole blood obtained from the consenting 695 TB suspects was allowed to clot. Serum was screened for anti-HIV antibodies using Trinity Biotech Uni-GoldTM test and positives confirmed with the enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), following manufacturers' instructions (Appendix 3). The HIV positive cases later diagnosed with TB were considered to TB-HIV co-infected. The HIV positive cases were advised to go for post-test counselling and enrolment to HIV/AIDS Programme.

3.6 Microscopic examination of sputum specimens

Sputum smears were examined for acid-fast bacilli (AFB) after staining following the Ziehl-Neelsen (ZN) method (Find, 2006).

3.7 Identification of recurrent tuberculosis cases

A questionnaire was used to obtain information on subjects who had history of previous TB treatment. Those who indicated to have been previously treated for TB and declared cured and re-notified at least 12 months from the date of the initial notification were considered recurrent TB cases; after verification with their records held at the hospital.

3.8 Isolation of mycobacteria

Sputum specimens were processed (digestion, decontamination and concentration) using the N-acetyl-L-cysteine sodium hydroxide (NaOH-NALC) method. The processed specimens were cultured for isolation of mycobacteria using the Mycobacteria Growth Index Tube 7 ml (BBLTM MGITTM) supplemented with BACTECTM MGITTM Growth Supplement, BBLTM MGITTM PANTATM Antibiotic Mixture (BD BBL MGIT Package inserts, 2008) (Appendix 4).

Briefly, a lyophilised vial of BBL MGIT PANTA (Polymyxin B, Amphotericin B, Nalidixic Acid, Trimethoprim, Azlocillin) Antibiotic Mixture was reconstituted with 15 ml of BACTEC MGIT Growth supplement. Using a sterile pipette, 0.8 ml of the Growth supplement/ MGIT PANTA Antibiotic Mixture was aseptically added to the BBL MGIT 7 Ml Tubes (Growth supplement /MGIT PANTA Antibiotic Mixture made just prior to specimen inoculation). Using a sterile transfer pipette 0.5 ml of the concentrated specimen suspension was the added to appropriately labelled MGIT

Tubes. A separate pipette was used for each specimen. Each tube was immediately recapped tightly and the contents mixed by inverting the tube 4 to 6 times. The tube and caps were wiped with 5% phenol (mycobactericidal disinfectant) and allowed to stand at room temperature for 30 minutes.

All the inoculated tubes were then scanned and entered in the BACTEC MGIT 960 instrument for continuous automatic monitoring of growth for up to 42 days, by which time the instrument flagged the tubes as positive or negative. The instrument maintained $37 \,^{\circ}C \pm 1 \,^{\circ}C$ temperature. When the instrument signaled a tube for positive growth, and an indicator green light showed the tube location of the positive tube in the drawer of the instrument, the tube was removed and scanned outside the instrument. The tube was then observed visually for growth. Growth of *M. tuberculosis* complex settled at the bottom of the tube. The ZN smears were prepared from positive tubes for AFBs.

In addition to BACTEC MGIT 960, 0.2 to 0.3 ml (2-3 drops) of the concentrated specimens was inoculated onto LJ slants for maximum recovery of the mycobacteria. The bottles were incubated at 37 °C and examined on a weekly basis until growth was detected. Cultures were reported as negative if no growth occurred after 8 weeks (BD BBL MGIT Package inserts, 2008). Positive tubes (both MGIT and LJ) were processed for identification of mycobacterial isolates, anti-TB drug susceptibility testing (DST) to determine susceptibility of *M. tuberculosis* complex to first-line anti-TB drugs.

3.9 Identification of mycobacteria

The mycobacterial isolates were identified as *M. tuberculosis* complex or species of NTM using Hain's GenoType[®] Mycobacterium CM and GenoType[®] Mycobacterium AS Molecular Genetic Assays, techniques based on the DNA•STRIP. Briefly, DNA was isolated from the cultured material. This was followed by multiplex amplification with biotinylated primers and reverse hybridization. Hybridization included chemical denaturation of amplification products, hybridization of single-stranded biotin-labeled amplicons membrane bound probes, stringent washing, addition to of streptvadin/alkaline phosphatase (AP) conjugate, and an AP mediated staining reaction. Identification of *M. tuberculosis* complex from NTM was done by interpretation of banding patterns using a standard temple following manufacturer's instructions (Hain lifescience, GmbH, Nehren, German, Package inserts, 2008) (Appendix 5).

3.10 Primary anti-tuberculosis drug susceptibility testing

3.10.1 GenoType[®] MTBDR*plus* drug susceptibility testing

The isolates underwent drug susceptibility testing (DST) using the Hain's GenoType[®] MTBDR*plus* Molecular Genetic Assay for Identification of Resistance to RIF and / or INH. The GenoType[®] MTBDR*plus* test is based on the DNA•STRIP[®] technology and permits the molecular genetic identification of *M. tuberculosis* complex and its resistance to RIF and / or INH from cultivated or pulmonary smear - positive direct patient material (Hain lifescience, GmbH, Nehren, German, Package inserts 2008) (Appendix 6).

The identification of resistance to RIF was enabled by the detection of the most significant mutations of the *rpoB* gene (encoding for the β -subunit of the RNA polymerase). For testing of high level INH resistance, the *katG* gene (encoding for the catalase peroxidase) was examined and for testing of low level INH resistance, the promoter region of the *inhA* gene (encoding for NADH enoyl ACP reductase) was examined.

Briefly, DNA was isolated from the cultured material. This was followed by multiplex amplification with biotinylated primers and reverse hybridization. Hybridization included chemical denaturation of amplification products, hybridization of singlestranded biotin-labeled amplicons to membrane bound probes, stringent washing, addition of streptvadin/alkaline phosphatase (AP) conjugate, and an AP mediated staining reaction. The banding patterns obtained were easily interpreted using a standard template following manufacturer's instructions (Hain lifescience, GmbH, Nehren, German Package inserts, 2008).

3.10.2 BACTEC MGIT 960 anti-tuberculosis drug susceptibility testing

The BACTEC MGIT 960 susceptibility testing for STR, INH, RIF, and EMB, called SIRE was done to establish the susceptibility of *M. tuberculosis* complex to the drug concentrations of $1.0 \mu g/ml$, $0.1 \mu g/ml$, $1.0 \mu g/ml$, and $5.0 \mu g/ml$, respectively. Standard MGITTM procedure manual of the SIRE kit was followed (FIND, 2006; BD BBL MGIT Package inserts, 2008). Briefly, each critical concentration of drug vial was

reconstituted with 4 ml of sterile distilled / de-ionized water in 50 ml sterile falcon tubes. The contents were mixed thoroughly to ensure complete dissolution of the drug. A volume of 0.1 ml (100 μ L) of each reconstituted drug solution was added into each of appropriately labeled BACTEC MGIT 960 tubes. This resulted into the following critical concentration of drugs in the medium: STR, 1.0 μ g/ml of medium; INH, 0.1 μ g/ml of medium; RIF, 1.0 μ g/ml of medium; EMB, 5.0 μ g/ml of medium (FIND, 2006; BD BBL MGIT Package inserts, 2008).

Inocula for DST were prepared from day 1 to day 5 MGIT tube positive by instrument (The day a MGIT tube was instrument positive was considered day 0). Day 1 and day 2 positive tubes were vortexed to break up clumps. The tubes were left undisturbed for 5-10 minutes for the unbroken clumps to settle. A volume of 0.5 ml of the supernatant was used for inoculation. For day 3 to day 5 instrument positive tubes, the tubes were vortexed as described and large clumps left to settle for 5-10 minutes. A volume of 1.0 ml of the supernatant was diluted with 4.0 ml of sterile normal saline (1:5 dilution). A volume of 0.5 ml of the dilution was used for inoculation (FIND, 2006; BD BBL MGIT Package inserts, 2008).

Five (5) MGIT tubes were labeled for each test culture (isolate). One was labeled GC (growth control, without drug), one for STR, one for INH, one for RIF, and one for EMB. A volume of 0.8 ml of BACTEC 960 SIRE supplement was aseptically added to each MGIT tube. This was followed by the addition of 0.1 ml (100 μ L) each of each

reconstituted drug to respective labeled tubes. A separate micropipette was used for each drug. No drug was added to the GC tube. A volume of 0.5 ml of well mixed inocula (culture suspension) was added into each drug containing tube (This culture suspension was not added to the control). For the control, the test culture suspension was first diluted to 1:100 by adding 0.1 ml of test culture suspension to 10 ml of sterile saline. Mixing was done by inverting the tubes 5-6 times. A volume of 0.5 ml of this diluted suspension was added into the growth control tube. Caps of tubes were tightened and contents mixed by gently inverting the tubes 6 times. The labeled tubes were placed in the set carrier in the sequence GC, STR, INH, RIF, EMB. The susceptibility Set Carrier was entered into the BACTEC MGIT 960 instrument using the susceptibility test entry feature (FIND, 2006; BD BBL MGIT Package inserts, 2008).

The instrument monitored the entered susceptibility test set automatically. Once the test was complete (4 to 21 days), the instrument indicated the results were ready. The susceptibility Set Carrier was scanned and the report printed. The instrument printout indicated qualitative susceptibility results for each drug: Susceptible (S), resistant (R) or indeterminate (X). Isolates resistant to at least both rifampicin and isoniazid were to be designated as multi-drug resistant, MDR (FIND, 2006; BD BBL MGIT Package inserts, 2008) (Appendix 7).

3.11 Data management and analysis

Demographic data were confidentially obtained from the TB suspects by clinicians / nurses running the chest and paediatric clinics and confidentially sent to the investigator through courier services. Results of ZN smear microscopy, culture, anti-TB drug susceptibility, and HIV tests were also confidentially sent to the respective clinicians / nurses by the investigator through the courier services. Provisions of these data were made available to the clinicians / nurses for the purpose of managing the patients.

Data was recorded on questionnaires, register books, ELISA reader print-outs, MGIT incubator print-outs, species evaluation sheets, and drug resistance evaluation sheets. The data was entered in MS Excel 8.0 and analysed using Epi Info version 3.5.1. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize data and proportions compared using Chi-square (χ^2) testing. Univariate odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated to assess how risk factors are related to outcomes. Logistic regression was used to analyze multivariate data. P-value < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 **RESULTS**

4.1 Study population distribution per hospital

A total of 872 TB suspects were enrolled into the study at the 10 study sites, of which 479 (54.9%) were males and 393 (45.1%) were females (Table 4.1).

Study site	Males (%)	Females (%)	Total
Bungoma D.H.	74(8.5)	82(9.4)	156 (17.9)
Busia D.H.	48 (5.5)	59(6.8)	107(12.3)
Kericho D.H.	17(1.9)	11(1.3)	28(3.2)
Uasin Gishu D.H.	36(4.1)	39(4.5)	75(8.6)
Nakuru P.G.H.	11(1.3)	10(1.1)	21(2.4)
Narok D.H.	193(22.1)	128(14.7)	321(36.8)
Kisumu D.H.	17(1.9)	19(2.2)	36(4.1)
Kisii L 5 G.H.	31(3.6)	23(2.6)	54(6.2)
Migori D.H.	20(2.3)	10(1.1)	30(3.4)
Lodwar D.H.	32(3.7)	12(1.4)	44(5.1)
Total	479(54.9)	393(45.1)	872(100)

Table 4.1 Study population distribution per hospital

Key: D.H. = District Hospital; P.G.H. = Provincial General Hospital; L 5 G.H. = Level

5 General Hospital.

4.2 Study population and gender-age distribution

The ages of the TB suspects enrolled into the study were between 9 months and 80 years, the median age being 32 years. The majority (33.1%) of the suspects were in the 25-34 age-group, followed by those in the 35-44 (21.8%) and 15-24 (18.7%) age-groups, respectively. Children in the 0-14 age-group constituted 4.6%, with the under fives (<5 years) contributing 0.6% (Table 4.2)

Age-group	Males (%)	Females (%)	Total (%)
0-14	22(2.5)	18(2.1)	40(4.6)
15-24	80(9.2)	83(9.5)	163(18.7)
25-34	162(18.5)	126(14.4)	288(33.0)
35-44	108(12.4)	82(9.4)	190(21.8)
45-54	53(6.1)	36(4.1)	89(10.2)
55-64	29(3.3)	25(2.9)	54(6.2)
> 64	25(2.9)	23(2.6)	48(5.5)
Total	479(54.9)	393(45.1)	872(100)

Table 4.2 Study population and gender-age distribution

4.3 Ziehl Neelsen microscopy, culture and human immunodeficiency virus infection

Sputa from 39.1% (341/872) of the TB suspects were ZN smear positive, of which 53.1% (181/341) were culture positive. Sputa from 3.8% (20/531) of the ZN smear negatives suspects were culture positive. In total 41.4% (361/872) suspects were diagnosed with mycobacterial disease, of which 55.7% (201/361) were culture positive and 44.3% (160/361) were culture negative. The culture positives yielded 92.5% *M. tuberculosis* complex and 7.5% NTM. Five of the NTM isolates were identified as *M. intracellulare* (3 isolates), *M. fortuitum* and *M. peregrinum* one isolate each. The remaining 10 NTM isolates could not be identified to species level (Fig. 4.3). The 46.9% (160/341) smear positive but culture negative cases were treated as TB cases. No cultures yielded tuberculous and non-tuberculous mycobacteria co-infection.

The HIV test was accepted by 695 out of the 872 TB suspects enrolled into the study. Sputa from 36.7% (255/695) were ZN smear positive, 109 from HIV positive and 146 from HIV negative suspects. Out of the 440 ZN smear negatives, 163 were HIV positive and 277 were HIV negative. Sputa from 24.2% (168/695) of the suspects were culture positive, 78 from HIV positive and 90 from HIV negative) suspects. Out of the 527 culture negative suspects, 194 were HIV positive and 333 were HIV negative (Table 4.3). The culture positivity rate was significantly lowered among HIV positive cases [$\chi^2 = 4.550$; P = 0.033], while there was no significant difference in ZN smear positivity rate between HIV positive and HIV negative cases [$\chi^2 = 1.969$; P = 0.160].



Fig.4.3 Identification of mycobacteria by Hain's GenoType Mycobacterium CM/AS

Table 4.3 Ziehl Neelsen microscopy, culture and human immunodeficiency virus

 infection

	ZN smear microscopy		culture		
N = 695	ZN smear	ZN smear	Culture	Culture	
	positive	negative	positive	negative	
HIV positive	109 (42.7%)	163 (37%)	78 (46.4%)	194 (36.8%)	
HIV negative	146 (53.3%)	277 (63%)	90 (53.6%)	333 (63.2%)	
Totals	255 (100%)	440 (100%)	168 (100%)	527 (100%)	

Key: HIV = human immunodeficiency virus; N = Number of tuberculosis suspects tested HIV infection; <math>ZN = Ziehl Neelsen.

4.4 Tuberculosis prevalence and gender-and age distribution

A total of 361 (41.4%) out of the 872 TB suspects were diagnosed with mycobacterial disease, 95.8% (346/361) TB and 4.2% (15/361) NTM disease. Hence, 39.7% (346/872) of the TB suspects were diagnosed with TB, 61.6% (213/346) males and 38.4% (133/346) females. The prevalence of TB was significantly higher in males than females [$\chi^2 = 10.67$; P = 0.001]. The majority, 37.0% (128/346) of the TB cases were in the 25-34 age-group, followed by the 35-44 age-group with 22.3% (77/346). The 15-24 age-group ranked third with 20.2% (70/346). Children below 15 years constituted 4.9% (17/346) of the TB cases. Logistic regression analysis for comparing the association of TB with age-group revealed males in the 15-24 and 35-44 age-groups to be most significantly affected compared to females (Table 4.4).

Age-group	Males (%)	Females (%)	Total (%)	OR	95%CI	P-value
0-14	9(2.6)	8(2.3)	17(4.9)	0.84	0.23-3.05	0.79
15-24	41(11.8)	29(8.4)	70(20.2)	2.02	1.07-3.81	0.03
25-34	78(22.5)	50(14.5)	128(37.0)	1.46	0.91-2.35	0.12
35-44	51(14.7)	26(7.5)	77(22.3)	1.99	1.09-3.64	0.02
45-54	21(6.1)	10(2.9)	31(9.0)	1.51	0.60-3.80	0.38
55-64	8(2.3)	5(1.4)	13(3.8)	1.60	0.44-5.74	0.47
> 64	5(1.4)	5(1.4)	10(2.9)	0.94	0.23-3.83	0.94
Total	213(61.6)	133(38.4)	346(100)	1.60	1.21-2.11	0.001

 Table 4.4 Tuberculosis prevalence and the logistic regression output for gender and age-group

Key: OR = odd's ratio; CI = confidence interval; P-value = level of marginal significance.

4.5 Tuberculosis recurrence prevalence and gender-age distribution

A total of 155 (44.8%) of the 341 TB cases were recurrences (in agreement with hospital records regarding history of previous TB treatment). Males constituted 54.2 % (84/155) and females 45.8% (71/155) of the TB recurrent cases. A total of 50 (32.3%) recurrent TB cases were ZN smear positive and 105 (67.7%) cases were smear negative. A total of 31 (20%) of the TB recurrent cases were culture positive and 124 (80%) culture negative. A total of 65 (41.9%) of these cases were HIV sero-

positive, 70 (45.2%) cases HIV sero-negative, and the HIV status of 20 (12.9%) cases was unknown. The majority (35.2%) of TB recurrences were in the 25-34 age-group, followed by 35-44 age-group with 23.9%. Within age-groups, TB recurrences were more among males in the 25-54 age-group. There was no significant difference in TB recurrence between the genders [$\chi^2 = 0.013$; P = 0.909]. However, logistic regression analysis for comparing the association of TB recurrence with age-group revealed no significant difference between genders in the various age-groups (Table 4.5).

Age-group	Males (%)	Females (%)	Total (%)	OR	95%CI	P-value
0-14	1(0.6)	4(2.6)	5(3.2)	5.71	0.58-56.67	0.14
15-24	9(5.8)	9(6.8)	18(11.6)	0.96	0.36-2.55	0.93
25-34	32(20.6)	25(16.1)	57(36.8)	1.01	0.56-1.80	0.98
35-44	23(14.8)	17(11.0)	40(25.8)	0.97	0.48-1.96	0.92
45-54	10(6.5	7(4.5)	17(11.0)	1.04	0.35-3.04	0.95
55-64	4(2.6)	8(5.2)	12(7.7)	2.94	0.76-11.34	0.12
> 64	5(3.2)	1(0.6)	6(3.9)	0.18	0.02-1.69	0.13
Total	84(54.2)	71(45.8)	155(100)	1.04	0.73-1.47	0.84

 Table 4.5 Tuberculosis recurrence prevalence and the logistic regression output for gender and age-group

Key: OR = odd's ratio; CI = confidence interval; P-value = level of marginal

significance.

4.6 Human immunodeficiency virus prevalence and gender-age distribution

Out of the 872 TB suspects enrolled into the study, 79.7% (695/872) accepted to undergo HV testing, and 39.1% (272/695) were sero-positive. Females constituted 44.9% (312/695) of which 43.9% (137/312) were infected. Males constituted 55.1% (383/695), with 34.8% (135/388) being infected. Overall females constituted 50.4% (137/272) and males 49.6% (135.272) of the HIV cases. There was a significant difference in HIV infection rate between gender, females being more vulnerable [χ^2 = 5.06; P = 0.020]. The majority (39.3%) of the HIV cases were in the 25-34 age-group followed by the 35-44 (24.6%) and 15-24 (15.8%) age-groups, respectively. The 0-14 year age-group had 2.9% of the HIV cases. Logistic regression analysis for comparing the association of HIV infection prevalence with age-group revealed no significant difference between genders in the various age-groups (Table 4.6). Only 16.9% (46/272) of the HIV/AIDS cases were on antiretroviral therapy (ART), 65.2% females and 34.8% males.

Age-group	Males (%)	Females (%)	Total (%)	OR	95%CI	P-value
0-14	3(1.1)	5(1.8)	8(2.9)	0.21	0.03-1.41	0.11
15-24	21(7.7)	22(8.1)	43(15.8)	0.75	0.36-1.57	0.45
25-34	53(19.5)	54(19.9)	107(39.3)	0.71	0.42-1.83	0.19
35-44	32(11.8)	35(12.9)	67(24.6)	0.55	0.29-1.05	0.07
45-54	12(4.4)	12(4.4)	24(8.8)	0.53	0.19-1.46	0.22
55-64	10(3.7)	4(1.5)	14(5.2)	3.86	0.97-15.44	0.06
> 64	4(1.5)	5(1.8)	9(3.3)	0.52	0.11-2.36	0.395
Total	135(49.7)	137(50.4)	272(100)	0.69	0.51-0.94	0.020

Table 4.6 Human immunodeficiency virus prevalence and the logistic regression output

 for gender and age-group

Key: OR = odd's ratio; CI = confidence interval; P-value = level of marginal significance.

4.7 Tuberculosis - human immunodeficiency virus co-infection and gender-age distribution

A total of 263 (165 males and 98 females) of the 346 TB cases accepted to be tested for HIV infection and 41.8% (110/263) were co-infected. Males constituted 55.5 % (61/110) and females 44.5% (49/110). There was no significant difference in the TB-HIV co-infection rate between genders [$\chi^2 = 0.01$; P = 0.94]. The majority, (40.9%) of the TB-HIV cases was in the 25-34 year age bracket followed by the 35-44 (24.5%) and 15-24 (19.1%) year age brackets. Logistic regression analysis for comparing the association of TB-HIV co-infection with age-group also revealed no significant difference between genders in the various age-groups (Table 4.7). However, 24% (83/346) of the TB cases declined to be tested for HIV infection.

Age-group	Males (%)	Females (%)	Total (%)	OR	95%CI	P-value
0-14	2(1.8)	2(1.8)	4(3.7)	0.80	0.10-6.54	0.83
15-24	13(11.8)	8(7.3)	21(19.1)	1.79	0.69-4.62	0.23
25-34	25(22.7)	21(19.1)	46(41.8)	0.82	0.43-1.56	0.55
35-44	14(12.7)	13(11.8)	27(24.5)	0.87	0.38-1.98	0.74
45-54	4(3.6)	3(2.7)	7(6.4)	0.94	0.19-4.50	0.94
55-64	2(1.8)	1(0.9)	3(2.7)	1.76	0.15-20.75	0.65
> 64	1(0.9)	1(0.9)	2(1.8)	0.78	0.05-13.39	0.87
Total	61(55.5)	49(44.5)	110(100)	1.01	0.67-1.51	0.98

 Table 4.7 Tuberculosis – human immunodeficiency virus co-infection prevalence and

 the logistic regression output for gender and age-group

Key: OR = odd's ratio; CI = confidence interval; P-value = level of marginal significance.

4.8 Non-tuberculous mycobacterial disease prevalence and gender-age distribution

Non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) were isolated from 15 cases of TB-like nontuberculous mycobacterial disease, the majority (66.7%) being males. The majority (40%) of the NTM disease cases were in the 25-34 year age-group, followed by the 15-24 year age-group with 20% (Table 4.8). Four of the NTM disease cases (3 males and one female) had previously been treated for TB. Six (40%) of cases (3 males and 3 females) were co-infected with HIV, five (33.3%) of the cases (3 males and 2 females) were HIV negative and four (26.7%), all of them males, were of unknown HIV status. Three of the NTM-HIV co-infection cases were on antiretroviral therapy.

 Table
 4.8
 Non-tuberculous
 mycobacterial
 disease
 prevalence
 and
 gender-age

 distribution

Age-group	Males (%)	Females (%)	Total (%)
0-14	0	1(6.7)	1(6.7)
15-24	2(13.3)	1(6.7)	3(20.0)
25-34	4(26.7)	2(13.3)	6(40.0)
35-44	2(13.3)	0	2(13.3)
45-54	0	1(6.7)	1(6.7)
55-64	1(6.7)	0	1(6.7)
> 64	1(6.7)	0	1(6.7)
Total	10(66.7)	5(33.3)	15(100)

4.9 Correlation between human immunodeficiency virus co-infection and antituberculosis drug resistance

The entire 186 *M. tuberculosis* complex isolates (159 from new cases and 27 from recurrences) subjected to anti-TB drug susceptibility testing were susceptible to STR and EMB. Only 6.5% (12/186) of the isolates were mono-drug resistant, nine (75%) to INH, and three (25%) to RIF. The 3 isolates resistant to RIF were from three female new cases co-infected with HIV. Among the 9 isolates resistant to INH, 3 were from recurrences co-infected with HIV, and 6 were from new cases 4 of which were HIV negative, one co-infected with HIV, and one with unknown HIV status. One new case with isolate resistant to INH was on ART (Table 4.9).

Patient characteriatics			Drug susceptibility patterns					
					OI 1SO	of isolates		
Age	Gender	Туре	HIV status	ART	INH	RIF	STR	EMB
(years)								
20	F	Ne	Unknown	No	R	S	S	S
30	М	Ne	+ve	No	S	R	S	S
32	F	Re	+ve	No	R	S	S	S
43	М	Ne	+ve	No	S	R	S	S
18	F	Ne	+ve	Yes	R	S	S	S
32	М	Ne	-ve	No	R	S	S	S
34	F	Ne	+ve	No	S	R	S	S
56	F	Re	+ve	No	R	S	S	S
39	F	Re	+ve	No	R	S	S	S
40	М	Ne	-ve	No	R	S	S	S
37	F	Ne	+ve	No	R	S	S	S
24	М	Ne	-ve	No	R	S	S	S

 Table 4.9 Human immunodeficiency virus co-infection and anti-tuberculosis drug

 resistance

Key: F = female; M = male; Ne = New TB case; Re = recurrent case; +ve = human immunodeficiency virus infected; -ve = human immunodeficiency virus uninfected; ART = antiretroviral therapy; R = resistant; S = susceptible; INH = isoniazid; RIF = rifampicin; STR = streptomycin; EMB = ethambutol.

Instrument	Curre	ent	۵	Temperature	C	Software	Page
1 1	13/12/08	06.06	36.7°C	37.0°C	36.7°C	v3.06C	1
Sequence No:	439550034833	TIP:	7;4	SOP: 04/12/08	18.03	Removed Date: 1	2/12/08
Tube Position	Growth Unit	Status	Conc	entration	Drug Name		
A/L01 A/L02 A/L03 A/L04 A/L05	400 0 0 0 0	C 8 8 8 8	1.00 0.10 1.00 5.00	ug/mL ug/mL ug/mL ug/mL	Growth Strepto Isonia: Rifamp: Ethambu	Control omycin zid in itol	330/01
Sequence No:	439550034810	TIP:	7;19	SOP: 04/12/08	18.03	Removed Date: 1	2/12/08
Tube Position	Growth Unit	Status	Conc	entration	Drug Name		
A/L06 A/L07 A/L08 A/L09 A/L10	400 7 400 0	CSRSS	1.00 0.10 1.00 5.00	ug/mL ug/mL ug/mL ug/mL	Growth Strept Isonia Rifamp Ethamb	Control omycin zid in utol	346/01
Sequence No:	439550034709	TIP:	8;5	SOP: 04/12/08	18.02	Removed Date:	13/12/08
Tube Position	Growth Unit	Status	Conc	entration	Drug Name		
A/K06 A/K07 A/K08 A/K09 A/K10	400 0 400 0	C S R S S	1.00 0.10 1.00 5.00	ug/mL ug/mL ug/mL ug/mL	Growth Strept Isonia Rifamp Ethamb	Control omycin zid in utol	276/02
Sequence No:	439550034831	TIP:	: 8;3	SOP: 04/12/08	18.03	Removed Date:	13/12/08
Tube Position	Growth Unit	Status	Conc	entration	Drug Name		
A/K16 A/K17 A/K18 A/K19 A/K20	400 0 400 0	CSRSS	1.00 0.10 1.00 5.00	ug/mL ug/mL ug/mL ug/mL	Growth Strept Isonia Rifamp Ethamb	Control omycin zid in utol	306/02

Fig. 4.8a: DST on INH, RIF, STR, and EMB by BACTEC MGIT 960; Isolates 346/02, 276/02 and 306/02 show resistance to INH.



Fig. 4.8b. DST on RIF and INH by Hain's GenoType MTBDR*plus* 96. Isolates 625/08 and 718/02 show resistance to INH.

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 **DISCUSSION**

The present study observed no significant difference in ZN smear positivity rate among HIV positive and HIV negative cases (P = 0.160). This observation contradicts previous studies that have reported HIV infection to lower ZN smear sensitivity with smear positivity rates among TB-HIV cases as low as 31% (Finch et al., 1997; Levy et al., 1997; Thorntorn *et al.*, 1998) and smear negativity rates as high as 82% (Verma *et al.*, 2008) having been reported. The plausible explanation for the findings of the present study is that some of the TB-HIV cases may have been in the early HIV infection stage during which the frequency and presentation of TB is similar to that observed in immuno-competent and HIV negative cases (Sharma et al., 1997; Verma et al., 2008). This explanation may be supported further by the fact that only 16.9% of the HIV cases were on antiretroviral therapy (ART), whose initiation is based on the level of immunity. The high sputum smear negativity tends to be associated with advanced HIV/AIDS disease and progress in immuno-suppression (Verma et al., 2008). Due to alteration of the normal host immune response to M. tuberculosis in HIV co-infected patients, cavitation and transfer of tubercle bacilli into respiratory secretions is markedly reduced, thereby hampering TB diagnosis by ZN smear microscopy and culture (Caviedes et al., 2000; Lawson et al., 2008).

The present study observed HIV infection to significantly lower culture positivity rate. This observation is corroborated with previous studies which report HIV co-infection to

lower TB culture positivity rates (Lawson et al., 2008; Elliot et al., 1993). As low as 26% TB culture positivity rates have been reported among TB-HIV cases (Mc Shane, 2005). However, the high number of microscopically smear positive but culture negative sputa observed in the current study is worth noting. Only in 51% of the TB cases diagnosed by ZN smear microscopy could *M. tuberculosis* be grown from sputum. This would imply ZN microscopy has in general become inaccurate tool for the diagnosis of TB, yielding a high proportion of false-positive diagnosis. However, the high number of ZN smear positive but culture negative cases observed in the present study could also be attributed to either lose of viability since most sputum samples were cultured on the 7th day after collection, or the presence of fastidious NTM, or the presence of acid-fast non-mycobacteria organisms. Consequently, yet to be found out is which ZN smear positive microorganisms cause this high degree of false-positivity and whether they are emerging infections. Non-tuberculous mycobacteria (Buijtels, 2007), and some other bacterial species including *Nocardia* species which are widespread (Olson et al., 1998) yield positive results in ZN smear detection of acid-fast bacilli (AFB).

The present study identified 15 NTM disease cases by culture that would have been put on the entire TB treatment regimen based on ZN smear positivity. It is therefore evident that TB diagnosis and treatment in Western Kenya is not evidence-based, and cases of non-tuberculous mycobacterioses are often put on anti-TB chemotherapy. The contribution of NTM to TB-like diseases in both HIV positive and negative patients in Kenya may also be underestimated since most health facilities do not perform cultures. However, due to practical reasons cultures are not routinely done and the ZN smear microscopy so far remains the most feasible microbiological method for the diagnosis of PTB in Kenya and other developing countries due to its rapidity, low cost, and high positive predictive value for tubercle bacilli (Conde *et al.*, 1999). Cultures are not performed for routine diagnosis and monitoring of TB treatment due to high costs and biosafety infrastructure requirements (Apers *et al.*, 2003; Hudson *et al.*, 2000). However, Dowdy *et al.* (2008) have reported that TB culture is a potentially sensitive and cost-effective tool for HIV positive TB patients in resource-constrained settings, but integration with existing clinical systems and strengthening of post-analytical processes are required to maximize their impact.

The current study indicated TB to significantly affect males than females. It also revealed the youth to bear the greatest TB burden, constituting 39.3% of the cases. These results compare well with the DLTLD annual reports of 2007, 2008, and 2009, where the 25-34 year age bracket had the highest TB notification. In this age-group, male cases were close to 360 per 100,000 population, and females close to 230 per 100,000 population, giving an average of 295 per 100,000 population (DLTLD, 2007; DLTLD, 2008; DLTLD; 2009).

Children below 15 years constituted only 4.5% of the population in the present study, and 43.6% of them were diagnosed with TB. However, this could be under-estimation
for TB diagnosis in children is difficult using currently available routine methods (Hatherill *et al.*, 2010). Up to 95% of children aged less than 12 years are often smearnegative and rarely culture positive. Most young children also present with noncavitating pulmonary TB and are unable to expectorate sputum for microscopy, due to inability to generate enough tussive force. Invasive procedures such as gastric and broncho-alveolar lavage cannot be carried out in most peripheral health facilities in resource- poor countries. In the present study, sputum induction was performed in two out of the ten hospitals involved. Additionally, most published data on the burden of childhood TB do not reflect or capture the occurrence of extra-pulmonary TB (20-30% of the case load in some settings) which occurs much more in children than in adults with TB. Thus, the true incidence of TB disease in children is significantly underestimated (Hatherill *et al.*, 2010; Marais, *et al.*, 2006).

In the present study, children below 15 years of age accounted for 4.9% of the TB cases. However, during this period, the National TB Programme reported TB in children below 15 years to account for about 10% of all the TB cases in Kenya. The lower number of childhood TB cases reported in the present study may be attributed to few children having been enrolled into the study. However, since TB detection rate in Kenya is hardly 50% (by microscopy), and diagnosis in children is complicated, these cases may be far more than the 10%. This means that at least some other 50% of paediatric TB cases are never diagnosed in Kenya and go untreated (NLTP, 2006).

The high TB recurrence observed in the present study compared to 2007, 2008 and 2009 national rates reported by the DLTLD in 2007 (3%) and 2008 (5%) is highly discouraging and deserves major attention. In the DLTLD annual report of 2007, retreatment cases contributed 9% of the TB cases, of which 3% were classified as PTB relapse category. The rest were recurrent smear negative PTB and EPTB (4%), treatment failures (0.1%), and return after default (1.4%). However, this totals to 8.5%, leaving another 0.5% of the TB cases unaccounted for. In the 2008 annual report, the DLTLD reported a smear positive relapse rate of 3% and a combined recurrent smear negative pulmonary TB and extra-pulmonary TB rate of 5%. However, in the 2009 annual report, the DLTLD reports a combined retreatment rate of 14%. The suggestion by the present study that the high rate of TB recurrence may be attributed to re-infection compares well with other studies which have reported proportions of re-infection among recurrent TB cases ranging from 0-33% in low-incidence areas (Bandera et al, 2001), 12-75% in medium-incidence areas (Jasmer et al., 2004), and 23-75% in highincidence areas (van Rie et al., 1999). However, re-infection is an uncommon cause of recurrent TB in low TB prevalence settings (Burman et al., 2009; Jasmer et al., 2004).

However, previous studies have shown that recurrent TB develops in about 2-5% of the patients after curative treatment with short-course anti-TB chemotherapy (Weis *et al*, 1994). Among TB patients cured by short-course treatment in trial conditions, up to 7% develop recurrent disease needing retreatment within 1 to 2 years (Mallory *et al.*, 2000). In settings with a high TB prevalence, a substantial percentage of recurrent TB cases

may be caused by re-infection with a new strain of *M. tuberculosis* complex (Mallory *et al.*, 2000; Verver *et al.*, 2005).

In the current study males dominated females in TB recurrence, just like in new TB cases. Similarly, the majority of the TB recurrences were in the 25-44 age-bracket, the most productive segments of society. The high TB recurrence observed in the current study requires further investigation to distinguish re-activations from re-infection as the predominant cause. This may lead to consideration of further intensification of the initial regimen or use of secondary prophylaxis (Mallory *et al.*, 2000). The findings of the current study are also indicative of the necessity for evaluation of the performance of directly observed therapy short-course (DOTS) in Kenya. Kenya has been under DOTS since 1998 (DLTLD, 2008). However, it cannot be categorically ascertained that DOTS functions as may be expected on basis of its naming. In western Kenya, the TB patients were provided with drugs to take at home for at least two weeks and adherence was not routinely checked. Therefore, it is unknown what the degree of compliance is. However, the findings of the current study suggest that acquired resistance does not seem to play a major role in TB recurrence in western Kenya. The 27 M. tuberculosis complex isolates obtained from the recurrent TB cases and subjected to first-line anti-TB drug susceptibility testing were all susceptible to streptomycin (STR), ethambutol (EMB) and rifampicin (RIF). Only 3 isolates from TB-HIV cases out of the 27 isolates from recurrent TB cases were resistant to isoniazid (INH). It therefore becomes likely that there is a very high rate of exogenous re-infection in Kenya. In order to test this

hypothesis, the DNA fingerprints of the *M. tuberculosis* isolates from the two episodes of TB should be compared. However, if the re-infection rate is truly as high as suggested by this study, it complicates the general assumption that an infection generally protects against subsequent infections and this would reduce the hope that vaccination strategies will ever work. Also re-infections may play a significant role in the recurrence of TB. However, the present study could not determine whether the recurrences were due to endogenous re-activations or exogenous re-infection, or even multiple/super infections since there were no *M. tuberculosis* complex isolates from previous disease episodes of the study candidates available. However, DNA fingerprinting studies in South Africa have reported a higher rate of reactivation (74.8%) versus recent transmission or re-infection (25.2%) (Farnia et al., 2008). The DNA fingerprinting of *M. tuberculosis* complex is an excellent tool to address this important issue and it is clear this type of molecular epidemiology becomes highly important in determining whether a recurrent TB episode is due to endogenous reactivation, meaning treatment failure, or exogenous re-infection with a different strain (Fine et al., 1999; Lambert et al., 2003). Different M. tuberculosis complex strains can be differentiated using information on genetic markers and their distribution in the genome. Among persons with recurrent TB, if the isolates from two TB episodes have the same genotype, the second episode is a relapse, defined as an endogenous reactivation; otherwise, it is defined as exogenous re-infection (Barnes et al., 2003).

The present study observed a high HIV infection among the youth. This was in

agreement with NASCOP (2009) which reports the scourge to continue to afflict the youth and young adults among the poor. This report (2007 national survey) indicates the national HIV prevalence among the 14-49 age-group to be 7.5%. However, the high overall HIV prevalence (39.1%) reported in present study could be attributed to the study having been done among TB suspects, who are HIV high risk group. The HIV prevalence is higher among TB cases compared to the general population, and is currently the greatest risk factor for the progression of latent TB to active TB, and rapid progression of new TB infection. It is also a potential risk for recurrence of TB (Daley *et al.*, 1992; Villarino *et al.*, 1992). The present study shows that majority (64%) of the HIV infected cases were in the 25-44 age-group, the most productive group in the community, meaning that HIV/AIDS will continue to adversely affect socio-economic development in Kenya for many years to come, and undermine the small gains in economic development that have been achieved.

Females dominated males in the present study with HIV prevalence of 43.9% compared to a prevalence of 35.2% in males. However, in the same period (2007 survey) the NASCOP (2009) reported HIV prevalence of 3.7%, and 6.7% among males and females, respectively. Stigma associated with HIV infection continues to be a significant impediment to HIV/AIDS control as evidenced by 20.3% of study participants declining to undergo HIV testing in the current study.

During the period of the present study, only 16.9% of the HIV cases were put on

antiretroviral therapy (ART), 65.2% females and 34.8% males, respectively. However, the number of HIV cases needing to be put on ART could not be established in the present study since CD4 cell count levels were not determined. Nationally, however, of the 1.4 million Kenyans infected with HIV, 42.6% (243,000/570,000) of those needing ART were on treatment (National AIDS Control Program, 2009). However, in 2008, only 31% (12,426) of the TB-HIV cases were on ART (DLTLD, 2009), which means that access to ART in Kenya still remains a big challenge.

The present study observed a high TB-HIV co-infection prevalence of 41.8% even though this was slightly lower than those reported by the DLTLD. The 2007, 2008 and 2009 DLTLD annual reports gave TB-HIV co-infection prevalence of 48%, 45% and 44%, respectively. The discrepancy with the current study could be attributed to some TB cases declining to undergo HIV testing, or decreasing HIV infection rate. However, the TB-HIV co-infection rate in the present study was higher than the global prevalence of 14.8% during the same period (WHO, 2007). The youth led in TB-HIV co-infection rate at 41.8%. Males dominated females in the TB-HIV co-infection with 54.5% of the cases. However, findings of the present study indicate that HIV infection does not alter the prevalence of TB among the genders. The findings of the present study were also in agreement with the DLTLD's 2007-2009 annual reports, which indicated the increasing TB burden in Kenya. This has been attributed to the concurrent HIV/AIDS epidemic and presents special challenges.

The present study observed that 4.2% of the mycobacterial disease was attributable to NTM. However, the overall prevalence of the NTM disease was 1.72%, and 26.7% of them having been previously treated for TB. Forty per cent (40%) of the NTM disease cases were co-infected with HIV. However, since NTM disease is reported to be more frequent in high HIV prevalence and low income settings (Buijtels et al., 2009), some of the ZN smear positive but culture negative cases in the current study could have been NTM disease cases. Similarly, the low prevalence rates of non-tuberculous mycobacterioses (TB-like syndromes) reported in a few high HIV prevalence countries in Africa may be underestimations. Even though NTM disease is being associated with HIV/AIDS, the present study noted five NTM disease cases without HIV infection, which is in tandem with reports by the American Thoracic Society of NTM disease being encountered with increasing frequency in non-AIDS patients (ATS, 2007). However, most of the data reporting high rates of NTM disease among both HIV and non-HIV/AIDS cases come from developed countries (Buijtels, 2007). In Africa, the contribution of NTM to the clinical problem of TB has so far only been examined at a very low scale. In South Africa for instance, two studies have reported prevalence rates of NTM colonization / infection of 1, 400 and 6,700 per 100,000, respectively (Fourie et al., 1980). In Zambia, Buijtels (2007) has reported NTM colonization rate of 9% in the patient population with a disease rate of 2%.

The worrying aspect of the NTM TB-like syndromes in western Kenya is their misdiagnosis as TB. The present study identified 15 NTM disease cases by culture and

speciation that would have undergone the entire anti-TB treatment regimen. The ZN smear microscopy invariably used in the diagnosis of TB does not differentiate between TB and NTM TB-like syndromes. Cases of non-tuberculous mycobacterioses are often put on anti-TB chemotherapy, even though the treatment of NTM disease is not directly analogous to TB treatment. Multi-drug regimes are used for NTM TB-like disease treatment, the cornerstone agents being a newer macrolide (azithromycin, clarithromycin) (Griffith *et al.*, 2007), ethambutol, and rifamycin, and require prolonged durations of therapy aimed to facilitate clearance of the mycobacteria and minimize the emergence of drug resistance (ATS, 2007; Griffith *et al.*, 2007).

During the period of the present study, 44.3% of ZN smear positive but culture negative cases were put on anti-TB chemotherapy without evidence for TB or NTM disease. However, to guide the diagnosis of pulmonary non-tuberculous mycobacterioses, the bacteriological diagnostic criteria established by the American Thoracic Society (ATS) (2007) can provide support; a single NTM culture from bronchial washing fluid or two positive sputum cultures in a symptomatic patient (Buijtels, 2007; Griffith *et al.*, 2007). The present study observed these criteria, in which NTM disease was diagnosed based on at least two positive cultures from two separate expectorated sputa from symptomatic patients with chest pain, with or without ZN smear positivity.

While tremendous progress has been made in TB and TB-like syndromes diagnostics in developed countries, techniques for the diagnosis of these diseases have remained

relatively unchanged (ZN smear microscopy) in Kenya and other resource-poor countries. The level of sophistication and cost associated with the new and more sensitive techniques has made their general applicability unfeasible in developing countries (Buijtels, 2007), where the basis for TB diagnosis has continued to be ZN smear microscopy to visualize acid-fast bacilli (AFB), which may capture 50-60% of the cases when done by experienced technicians. However, in most low-income countries, much lower rates of case detection are achieved due to poor quality microscopes, heavy workload and shortage of trained staff. Moreover, ZN smear microscopy is usually negative in advanced disease among HIV/AIDS co-infected patients and extra-pulmonary TB cases. The proportion of cases detected by microscopy in low-income countries is often as low as 20-30% of all cases (Buijtels, 2007; Corbett *et al.*, 2003).

In the developed world, molecular detection and speciation of mycobacteria are currently the corner stone of the laboratory diagnosis of TB and NTM disease. Commercial DNA probes (AMPLICOR nucleic acid amplification test – Accuprobe) and the Gene – Probe Amplified *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Direct Test (MTD) have been available in the developed world for sometime. These tests are based on species-specific DNA probes that hybridize with ribosomal RNA (rRNA) released from the mycobacteria (Buijtels, 2007). The other methods (INNO-LiPA Mycobacteria and the Hain's GenoType Mycobacterium CM/AS) are based on reverse hybridization, in which the mycobacteria 16S-23S internal transcribed spacer region or the 23S gene region are

amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR), and the amplicons are subsequently hybridized with probes for several mycobacterial species on membrane strips (Buijtels, 2007; Soini *et al.*, 1994).

The present study observed 6.5% of the *M. tuberculosis* complex isolates to be monodrug resistant to either to isoniazid (75%) or rifampicin (25%). However, this is unlike the 2008 and 2009 annual reports which report MDR-TB cases. In 2008 the DLTLD reported 1.82% (102/5604) of *M. tuberculosis* complex isolates examined to be resistant multi-drug resistant. In 2009, 2.3% (150/6569) of the TB cases reported by the DLTLD had MDR strains of *M. tuberculosis* complex, with one XDR-TB case isolated and initiated on treatment at the Moi Teaching and Referral Hospital (MTRH), Eldoret. At the same time, the WHO (2009) reported global X/MDR-TB cases to be 5.1% of the total cases. The plausible explanation for the much lower resistance levels and no MDR-TB cases observed in the present study compared to the DLTLD report is that the latter deals with retreatment cases (relapses and treatment failures) country wide. However, recurrences can be either relapses (endogenous reactivation), or exogenous re-infections. A relapse (R) is defined as a smear-positive TB patient who has previously been treated and declared cured. Treatment failure (TF) is a patient with a positive smear at the end of five months despite being on anti-TB treatment, hence failing to respond to treatment (IUATLD, 1996). The probability of anti-TB drug resistance is higher in relapses and treatment failures. However, there is a small relapse rate associated with all treatment regimens, even if the treatment has been taken

religiously with 100% compliance (the standard regimen 2HREZ/4HR has a relapse rate of 2 to 3%). The majority of relapses occur within 12 months of completing treatment (Dholakia *et al.*, 2000).

However, the findings of the present study compare well with a previous study in Kenya by Githui *et al.* (1998) which reported a national anti-mycobacterials resistance rate of 6.3% among isolates from TB cases without history of prior chemotherapy, and a resistance rate of 37% among those previously treated. However, in another study done three years later on refugee and non-refugee populations in North Eastern Kenya, Githui *et al.* (2000) reported 18% resistance to one or more drugs, and an MDR-TB rate of 2.9% among the isolates. The resistance rate among the neighbouring non-refugee populations was 5.7%, with no MDR-TB causing strains observed.

The present study observes that the drug isoniazid (INH) to be loosing ground in the fight against TB. Among the mono-drug resistant *M. tuberculosis* complex isolates observed in the present study, 75% were resistant to INH. Although INH resistance in general is a negative risk factor for transmission of TB (van Doorn *et al.*, 2006), and the virulence of most INH resistant strains may be reduced, multi-drug-resistant *M. tuberculosis* complex strains can be as infectious and virulent as drug-susceptible strains (Devaux *et al.*, 2009), and the clinical presentation of MDR-TB is similar to that of drug susceptible TB. However, MDR-TB is difficult to treat and associated with a poor prognosis (Mitchison and Nunn, 1986). Even though drug resistant strains of *M*.

tuberculosis complex isolated in the present study constituted only 6.5%, the majority (66.7%) were from TB-HIV cases, suggesting a positive correlation between HIV coinfection and anti-TB drug resistance.

CHAPTER SIX

6.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 Conclusions

1. Ziehl Neelsen smear microscopy was inaccurate in TB diagnosis among HIV infected patients compared to culture.

2. Tuberculosis and HIV prevalence were high in western Kenya.

3. Tuberculosis recurrence rate was high in western Kenya.

4. Tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus co-infection rate was high in western Kenya.

5. Non-tuberculous mycobacteria played a significant role in causing tuberculosislike disease which was misdiagnosed as tuberculosis.

6. Anti-TB drug resistance was more among *M. tuberculosis* isolates from HIV infected patients.

6.2 **Recommendations**

1. A more accurate diagnostic technique to augment ZN smear microscopy is needed to improve TB diagnosis among HIV/AIDS patients in Kenya. There is need to explore

new approaches to childhood TB diagnosis in order to increase case detection rate

2. The pervasiveness of TB and HIV/AIDS in western Kenya underscores the need for more efforts and resources to increase knowledge and access TB-HIV/AIDS healthcare.

3. The high TB recurrence rate observed in this study calls for studies to determine the proportions of the disease attributable to endogenous re-activation (relapse) and exogenous re-infection.

4. There is need to strengthen TB and HIV/AIDS collaborative activities to reduce morbidity and mortality associated with HIV infection among TB-HIV/AIDS patients.

5. A more accurate diagnostic technique and robust scoring system and algorithms for NTM disease need to be developed in order to improve NTM disease diagnosis in Kenya. Large case-control studies are imperative to identify risk factors and determine the contribution of NTM to TB-like disease among HIV/AIDS cases in Kenya.

6. Since no MDR-TB was observed in this study, continued use and surveillance of resistance trends to the first-line anti-TB drugs would be prudent.

REFERENCES

- Ackah, A. N., Caulibaly, D., Digbeu, H., Diallo, K., Vetter, K. M., Coulibaly, I. M., Greenberg, A. E., and De Cock, K. M. (1995). Response to treatment, mortality, and CD4 lymphocyte counts in HIV-infected persons with tuberculosis in Abidjan, Ivory Coast. *Lancet.* 354(8950):607-610.
- Advisory Council for the Elimination of Tuberculosis (ACETB). (1995). Essential components of a tuberculosis prevention and control program. MMWR *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 44(RR-11): 1-18.
- Addington, W. W. (1979). Patient compliance, the most serious remaining problem in control of tuberculosis in the United States. *Chest.* 76: 741-43.
- Agerton, T. B., Valway, S. E., Blinkhorn, R. J., Shilkret, K. L., Reves, R., Schluter, W. W, Gore, B., Pozsik, C. J., Plikaytis, B. B., Woodley, C., Onorato, I. M. (1999). Spread of strain W, a highly drug-resistant strain of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, across the United States. *Clin Infect Dis.* 29: 85-92.
- Agerton, T., Valway, S. and Onorato, I. (1997). Spread of highly resistant strain of *M*. *tuberculosis* (strain W) in the United States. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 1 (5) Supl 1: S23.

- Alcaide, F., Pfyffer, G. E. and Telenti, A. (1997). The role of embB in natural and acquired resistance to ethambutol in mycobacteria. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. **41**: 2270-3.
- American Thoracic Society (ATS). (2007). An Official ATS/IDSA Statement: Diagnosis, Treatment, and Prevention of Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Diseases.
- Anand, M. K. N., Reddy, J. J. M., Khan, A. N. (2007). Tuberculosis, Gastrointestinal.http://emedicine. medscape.com (last update January 19, 2007).
- Anathanarayan, R. (1994). Textbook of Microbiology, Fourth edn. Madras, oriental Longman. Pp. 341-355.
- American Thoracic Society-Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention (ATS-CDC). (1994). Treatment of tuberculosis and tuberculosis infection in adults and children. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 149: 1359.
- Apers, L., Mutsvangwa, J., Magwenzi, J., Chigara, N., Butterworth, A., Mason, P. & Van der Stuyft, P. (2003). A comparison of direct microscopy, the concentration method and the Mycobacteria Growth Indicator Tube for the examination of sputum for acid-fast bacilli. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* **7**: 376–381.

Arruda, S., Bomfim, G., Knights, R., Huima-Byron, T., Riley, L. W. (1993). Cloning of an *M. tuberculosis* DNA fragment associated with entry and survival inside cells. *Science*. **10**:1454–1457.

Avert. (2009). The structure of HIV. http://www.avert.org/hiv-virus.htm

- Bandera, Alessandra., Gori, A., Catozzi, L., Esposti, A. D., Marchetti, G., Molteni, C., Ferrario, G. Codecasa, L., Penati, V., Matteelli, A., Franzetti, F. (2001).
 Molecular Epidemiology Study of Exogenous Reinfection in an Area with a Low Incidence of Tuberculosis. *J Clin Microbiol.* 39(6):2213–2218.
- Bardarov, S., Kriakov, J., Carriere, C., Yu., S., Vaamonde, C., McAdam, R.A., Bloom,
 B. R., Hatfull, G. F., and Jacobs, W. R. (1997). Conditionally replicating mycobacteriophages: a system for transposon delivery to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. 94: 10961–10966.
- Barnes, P. F, and Cave, M. D. (2003). Molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis. N Engl J Med. 349:1149–56.
- **Barnes**, P., Zhang, M., and Jones, B. (1994). Modulation of Th1 responses in HIV infection and tuberculosis (TB). *Int. Conf AIDS*. **10**: 126.

Becton Dickinson (BD). (2008). BBL MGIT Package inserts.

- **Bermudez**, L. E., and J. Goodman. (1996). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* invades and replicates within type II alveolar cells. *Infect. Immun.* **64**:1400-1406.
- Berney, S., Goldstein, M., and Bishko, F. (1972). Clinical diagnostic features of tuberculous arthritis. Am J Med. 53: 36-42.
- Bhargava, A., Jain, A. and Agrawal, S. K. (2001). A comparison of liquid and solid culture media with radiometric system for detection of mycobacteria in clinical specimens. *Ind J Tub.* 48: 9.
- **Bonard**, D., Aka, K., Zahibo, J., You, B., Combe, P and Anglaret, X. (1999). HIVassociated mycobacteria in West Africa. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* **3**: 546.
- Brennan, P. J., and Draper, P. (1994). In: Tuberculosis: Pathogenesis, Protection, and Control (ed. Bloom, B. R.). Pp. 271–284. Am. Soc. Microbiol., Washington DC.
- Brindle, J. R., Nunn, P. P., Githui, W. Allen, B. W., Gathua, S., and Waiyaki, P. (1993). Quantitative bacillary response to treatment in HIV-associated pulmonary tuberculosis. *Am J Rev Respir Dis.* 147: 957-61.

- **Buijtels**, P. C. A. M. (2007). Clinical relevance of non-tuberculous mycobacteria in Zambia. PhD thesis.
- Buijtels, P. C, A. M., van der Sande, M. A. B., de Graaff, C. S., Parkinson, S., Verbrugh, H. A., Petit, P. L. C. and van Soolingen, D. (2009). Non-tuberculous mycobacteria, Zambia. *Emerg Infect Dis* 15(2): 242-249.
- Burman, W. J., Bliven, E. E., Cowan, L., Bozeman, L., Nahid, P. Diem, L., and Vernon, A. for the Tuberculosis Trials Consortium. (2009). Relapse associated with active disease caused by Beijing Strain of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Emerg. Infect. Dis* 15: 1061-1067.
- **Catwell**, M., F. and Binkin, N. J. (1997). Impact of HIV on tuberculosis in sub-Saharan Africa: a regional perspective. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* **1**: 205-14.
- Catwell, M., F., Sinder, D. E., Cauthen, G. M. and Onorato, I. M. (1994). Epidemiology of tuberculosis in the United States, 1985 through 1992. *JAMA*. **72**:535-9.
- Caviedes, L., Lee, T., Gilman, R., Sheen, P., Spellman, E., Lee, E. H., Berg, D. E., Montenegro-James, S., and The Tuberculosis Working Group in Peru (2000).
 Rapid, efficient detection and drug susceptibility of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in sputum by microscopic observation of broth cultures. *J Clin Microbiol.* 38:

- Cegielski, J. P., Lwakatare, J. L., Dukes, C. S., Lema, L. E., Lallinger, G. J, Kitinya, J., Reller, L. B., Sheriff, F. (1994). Tuberculous pericarditis in Tanzanian patients with and without HIV infection. *Tuber Lung Dis.* 75:429-34.
- Chan, J., and Kaufmann, S. H. E. (1994). In: Tuberculosis: Pathogenesis, Protection, and Control (ed. Bloom, B. R.). Pp. 271–284. Am. Soc. Microbiol., Washington DC.
- Chaudhary, M., Gupta, S., Khare, S. and Lal, S. (2010). Diagnosis of tuberculosis in an era of HIV pandemic: A review of current status and future prospects. *Indian Journal of Medical Microbiology*. 28: 281-289.
- **Cheles**, M., Couture, R., Holliday, J. M., Smith, S., Stanforth, D. A. (2004). Guide to special Stain (Wulff, S., ed.). DakoCytomation. Carpinteria, California, USA
- Chernushenko, E. F., Klimenko, M. T. and Byalink, I. B. (1997). Discovery of changed *Mycobacterium* (L-forms) in TB patients. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 1 Supl 1: S146.
- Cole, S. T., Brosch, R., Parkhill, J., Garnier, T., Churcher, C., Harris, D., Gordon, S. V.,

Eiglmeier, K., Gas. S., Barry, C. E 3rd., Tekaia, F., Badcock, K., Basham, D., Brown, D., Chillingworth, T., Connor, R., Davies, R., Devlin, K., Feltwell, T., Gentles, S., Hamlin, N., Holroyd, S., Hornsby, T., Jagels, K., Krogh, A., McLean, J., Moule, S., Murphy, L., Oliver, K., Osborne, J., Quail, M. A., Rajandream, M. A., Rogers, J., Rutter, S., Seeger, K., Skelton, J., Squares, R., Squares, S., Sulston, J. E., Taylor, K., Whitehead, S., Barrell, B. G. (1998). Deciphering the biology of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* from the complete genome sequence. *Nature*. **393**: 537-544.

- Cole, S. and Telenti, A. (1995). Drug resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Eur Respir J* 8: 701S-13S.
- **Collins**, D. M. (1996). In search of tuberculosis virulence genes. *Trends Microbiol.* **4**: 426–430.
- Conde, M. B., C. M. Figueira, R. Moraes, L. S. Fonseca, K. Deriemer, and A. L. Kritski. (1999). Predictive value of the acid fast smear for detection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in respiratory specimens in a reference center of HIV/AIDS in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz.* 94:787-790.
- Cosivi, O., Grange, J. M., Daborn, C. J., Raviglione, M. C., Fujiokura, T., Cousins, D., Robinson, R. A., Huchzermeyer, H. F. A. K., de Kantor, I., Meslin, F. X. (1998).

Zoonotic tuberculosis due to *Mycobacterium bovis* in developing countries, *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **4**:59-70.

- Corbett, E. L., Watt, C. J., Walker, N., Maher, D., Williams, B. G., Raviglione, M. C., Dye, C. (2003). The growing burden of tuberculosis: global trends and interactions with the HIV epidemic. *Arch Intern Med.* 163:1009-1021.
- Cosmstock, G. W., Balm, C., and Snider, D. E. (1979). Isoniazid prophylaxis among Eskimos: A final report of the Bethel isoniazid studies. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* 119: 827.
- Daley, C. L., Small, P. M., Scheeter, G. F., Schoolink, G. K., McAdam, R. A., Jacobs, W. R., and Hopewell, P. C. (1992). An outbreak of tuberculosis with accelerated progression among persons infected with the Human immunodeficiency virus. An analysis using restriction fragment –length polymorphism. *N. Eng J. Med.* 326: 231-235.
- **Davies**, P. D. O. (2003). The changing face of tuberculosis: a new challenge to the developing world. *TB Focus*.

Dawson, D. J. (2000). Mycobacterial terminology. J Clin Microbiol. 38: 3913.

- De Cock, K. M. and Claisson, R. E. (1999). Will DOTS do it? A reappraisal of tuberculosis control in countries with high rates of HIV infection. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 3: 457-65.
- **Deodhare**, S. G. Tuberculosis (1994). In: Y. M's General Pathology. Fifth Edn. Popular Prakashan. Bombay. Pp. 339-420.
- Di Perri, G., Cruciani, M., Danzi, M. C., DeChecci, G., Pizzighella, S., Solbrati, M., Cruciani, M., Luzzati, R., Molena, M., Mazzi, R., Concia, E., and Basseti, D. (1989). Nosocomial epidemic of active tuberculosis among HIV-infected patients. *Lancet.* 2: 1502.
- **Division of Leprosy, Tuberculosis and Lung Disease (DLTLD)**. (2009). Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation, Government of Kenya. Annual Report.
- **Division of Leprosy, Tuberculosis and Lung Disease (DLTLD)**. (2008), Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation, Government of Kenya. Annual Report.
- **Division of Leprosy, Tuberculosis and Lung Disease (DLTLD)**. (2007), Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation, Government of Kenya. Annual Report.

Dowdy, D. W., Lourenço, M. C., Cavalcante. S. C., Saraceni, V., King, B., Golub. J. E.,

Bishai, D., Durovni, B., Chaisson, R. E., and Susan E. Dorman, S. E. (2008). Impact and Cost-Effectiveness of Culture for Diagnosis of Tuberculosis in HIV-Infected Brazilian Adults. PLoS ONE | <u>www.plosone.org</u> **3** (12); e4057.

- Dowling, W. E., Kim, B., Mason, C.J., Wasunna, K. M., Alam, U., Elson, L., Birx., D. L., Robb, M. L., McCutchan, F. E., and Carr, J. K. (2002). Forty-one full-length HIV-1 sequences from Kenya reveal an epidemic of subtype A and A-containing recombinants. *AIDS*. 16: 1809-1820.
- Drobniewski, F., Balabanova, Y., Ruddy, M., Weldon, L., Jeltkova, K., Brown, T., Malomanova, N., Elizarova, E., Melentyey, A., Mutovkin, E., Zhakharova, S., Fedorin, I. (2002). Rifampicin- and multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in Russian civilians and prison inmates: dominance of the Beijing strain family. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 8:1320-26.
- Dye, C., Williams, B. G., Espinal, M. A., and Raviglione, M. C. (2002). Erasing the world's slow stain: strategies to beat multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. *Science*. 295: 2042-6.
- Dye, C., Scheele, S., Dolin, P., Pathania, V., Raviglione, M. C. (1999). Consensus statement. Global burden of tuberculosis: estimated incidence, prevalence, and mortality by country. WHO global surveillance and monitoring project. JAMA.

- Elliot, A. M., Namaambo, K., Allen, B. W., Luo, N., Hayes, R. J, Pobee, J. O., and McAdam, K. P. (1993). Negative sputum smear results in HIV positive patients with pulmonary tuberculosis in Lusaka, Zambia. *Tubercle Lung Dis.* 74: 191-194.
- **Enarson**, D. A, Rieder, H. L., Arnadottir, T., Trebucq. A. (1996). *Tuberculosis guide for low income countries*. 4th Edition. Frankfurt: pmi Verlagsgruppe.
- **Esteves**, A., Parreira, R., Piedade, J., Venenno T., and Canas-Ferreira, W. F. (2000). Genetic characterization HIV type 1 and type 2 from Bissau, Guinea-Bissau (West Africa). *Virus Research*. **68**:51-61.
- Falkinham, J. O. III. (1996). Epidemiology of infection caused by non-tuberculous mycobacteria. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 9: 177-215.
- Farmer, P. Bayoma, J., Becerra, M., Furin, J., Henry, C., Hiatt, H., Kim, J. Y., Mitnick, C., Nardell, E., and Shin, S. (1998a). The dilemma of MDR-TB in the global era. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 2: 869-76.

Farmer, P. E. and Kim, J. Y. (1998b). Community-based approaches to the control of

multi-drug resistant tuberculosis: introducing "DOTS-plus". *Brit Med J.* **317**: 671-674.

- Farmer, P. E. Bayoma, J., Becerra, M. Daily, J., Furin, J., Garcia, D., Kim, J. Y., Mitnick, C., Nardell, E., Raymonvelle, M., Shin, S., and Small, P. (1997). Poverty, inequity and drug resistance: meeting community needs. Proceedings of International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease, North America Region Conference. 88-102.
- Farnia, P., Masjedi, M. R., Mohammad V. M., Mirsaeidi, M., Ahmadi, M., Khazampour, M., Tabarsi, P., Baghei, P., Marjane, M., Bahadori, M., Zarifi, A. Z., and Ali Akbar Velayati, A. A. (2008). The Recent-Transmission of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Strains among Iranian and Afghan Relapse Cases: a DNA-fingerprinting using RFLP and spoligotyping. *BMC Infect Dis.* 8: 109.
- Faurie, P. B., Gatner, E. M., Glatthaar, E., and leeberg, H. H. (1980). Follow-up tuberculosis prevalence survey of Transkei. *Tubercle*. 61: 71-79.
- Ferebee, S. H. (1970). Controlled chemoprophylaxis trials in tuberculosis. A general review. Adv Tubercle Res. 17: 28.

Find. (2006). MGITTM Procedure Manual for BACTEC TM MGIT 960TM TB System.

- Fine, P. E. M., and Small, P. M. (1999). Exogenous reinfection in tuberculosis. N Engl J Med. 341: 1226–1227.
- Finch, D., and Beaty, C. D. (1997). The utility of a single sputum specimen in the diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis: comparison between HIV and non HIV infected patients. *Chest.* 111:1174-9.
- Frieden, T. R., Sterling, T. R., Munsiff, S. S., Watt, C. J, and Dye, C. (2003). Tuberculosis. *Lancet.* **362:887**-899.
- Frieden, T. R., Fujiwara, P. I., Washko, R. M., Hamburg, M. A. (1995). Tuberculosis in the New York City- turning the tide. *N Engl J Med.* 333: 229-33.
- Frieden, T. R., Sterling, T., Pablos-Mendez, A., Kilburn, J. O, Cauthen, G. M., and Dooley, S. W. (1993). The emergence of drug-resistant tuberculosis in the New York City. *N Engl J Med.* 328: 521-526.
- Frieden, T. R., Woodly , C. L., Crawford, J. T., Lew, D., and Dooley, S. M. (1996). The molecular epidemiology tuberculosis in the New York City: The importance of nosocomial transmission and laboratory error. *Tubercle Lung Dis.* 77: 407-13.

- Gao, F., Bailes, E., Robertson, D. L., Chen, Y., Rodenburg, C. M., Michael, S. F.,
 Cummins, L. B., Arthur, L. O., Peeters, M., Shaw, G. M., Sharp, P. M. and
 Hahn, B. H. (1999). Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes. *Nature*.
 397:436–441.
- Garcia-Garrote, F., Ruiz-Serrano, J. M., Cosin, J., Alcalà, L., Ortega, A., and Bouza (1997). *Mycobacterium celatum* as a cause of disseminated infection in AIDS patients. *Microbial Infect.* 3: 583-84.
- Generozov, E. V., Akopian, T. A., Govorun, V. M., Chernousova, L. N., Larionova, E. E., Savinkova, S. N., Smirnova, T. G., Golyshevskaya, V. I. & Khomenko, A. G. (2000). Molecular characteristics of multiresistant clinical strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolated in Russia. *Mol Gen Mikrobiol Virusol.* part 1, 11–17 (in Russian).
- Gilks, C. F. (1999). The challenge of HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of the Roy. Col. Phys. Lond.* 33: 180-184.
- Glickman, M. S., Cox, J. S., and Jacobs, W. R. Jr. (2000). A novel mycolic acid cyclopropane synthesis is required for coding persistence and virulence of tuberculosis. *Molecular Cell*. **5**: 717-27.

- Githui, W. A., Hawken, M. P., Juma, E. S., Godfrey-Faussett, P., Swai, P. O. B., Kibuga, D. K., Porter, J. D. H., Wilson, S. M., Drobniewski, F. D. (2000).
 Surveillance of drug-resistant tuberculosis and molecular evaluation of resistant strains in refugee and non-refugee populations in North Eastern Kenya. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 4: 947-955.
- Githui, W. A., Juma, E. S., van Gorkom, J., Kibuga, D., Odhiambo, J. and Drobniewski, F. (1998). Anti-tuberculosis drug resistance surveillance in Kenya, 1995. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2: 499-505.
- Glynn, J. R., Jenkins, P. A., Fine, P. E., Ponnighaus, J. M., Steene, J. A., Mkandwire, P. K., Nyasulu, S., Bliss, L., and Warndorff, D. K. (1995). Patterns of initial and acquired anti-tuberculosis drug resistance in Koronga District, Malawi. *Lancet*. 345: 907-10.
- Gorse, G. J., Pais, M. J., Kusske, J. A., and Cesario, T. C. (1983). Tuberculous spondylitis. *Mdicine*. 62: 178-93.
- Grange, J. M. (1996). The biology of the genus Mycobacterium. Journal of Applied Bacteriology Symposium Supplement. 81: 1S-9S.

Grant, D. A., Sidile, K., Domousa, K., Bonard, D., Sylla-Koko, F., Dosso, M., Yapi,

A., Maurice, C., Whitaker, J. P., Lucas, S. B., Hayes, R. J., Wiktor, S. Z., De Cock, K. M., and Greenberg, A. E. (1998). Spectrum of disease among HIV-infected adults hospitalized in a respiratory medicine unit in Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire. *Int J Lung Dis* **2**: 926-34.

- Griffin, G. E., Leung, K., Folks, and T. M., (1991). Induction of NF-kappa B during monocyte differentiation is associated with activation of HIV-gene expression. *Res Virol.* 142: 233-8.
- Griffith, D.E., Aksamit, T., Brown-Elliot, B. A., Catanzaro, A., Daley, C., Gordin, F., Holland, S. M., Horsburg, R., Huitt, G., Iademarco, M. F., Iseman, M., Oliver, K., Ruoss, S., von Reyn, C. F., Wallace, R. J. Jr, Winthrop, K. (2007). ATS Mycobacterial Diseases Subcommittee; American Thoracic Society; Infectious Diseases Society of America. An official ATS/IDSA statement: diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of non-tuberculous mycobacterial diseases. *Am. J. Respir. Crit Care Med.* 175: 367-416.
- Gurr, M. I. and Harwood, J. L. (1991). Lipid in cellular structures. In: Lipid Biochemistry. An Introduction Fourth Edn. London, Chapman & Hall. Pp 281-288.

Hain lifescience, GmbH, Nehren, German, Package inserts 2008.

- Harries, A. D., Maher, D. and Nunn, P. (1997). Practical and affordable measures for the protection of health-care workers from tuberculosis in low-income countries. *Bull World Health Organ.* 75: 477-89.
- Hatherill, M., Hanslo, M., Hawkridge, T., Little, F., Workman, L., Mahomed, H., Tameris, M., Moyo, S., Geldenhuys, H., Hanekom, M., Geiter, L. and Hussey, G. (2010). Structured approaches for the screening and diagnosis of childhood tuberculosis in a high prevalence region of South Africa. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*. 88:312-320. doi: 10.2471/BLT.09.062893.
- Hett, E. C. and Rubin, E. J. (2008). Diagram of the basic components of the mycobacterial cell wall. MAPc, MA-AG-PG complex. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* doi:10.1128/MMBR.00028-07.
- Hu, D. J., Dondero, T. J., and Rayfield, A.M. (1996). The emerging genetic diversity of HIV. *JAMA*. **275**: 210.
- Hudson, C. P., Wood, R., and Maartens, G. (2000). Diagnosing HIV-associated tuberculosis: reducing costs and diagnostic delay. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 4:240– 245.

Iseman, M. D. (1998). Nontuberculous mycobacteria (NTM). Medical Scientific

- Iseman, M. D. (1993). Treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. N Engl J Med.329: 784-91.
- Ilyinskikh, N. N., Ilyinskikh, E. and Ilyinskikh, I. (1997). Genome instability in patients with tuberculosis. *IUATLD*. 1: S 53, 14, PA 02.
- Jasmer, R. M., Bozeman, L., Schwartzman, K., Cave, M. D., Saukkonen, J. J., Metchock, B., Khan, A., and Burman, W. J., the Tuberculosis Trials Consortium (2004). Recurrent tuberculosis in the United States and Canada: relapse or reinfection? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* **170**: 1360–1366.
- Johnson, J. L. and Ellner, J. J. (1999). Tuberculosis and Atypical Mycobacterial Infections. In: Tropical Infectious Diseases: Principles, Pathogens & Practice, Vol. 1. Guerrrant, R. L., Walker, D. H. and Weller, P. F. eds. Churchill Livingstone, Philadelphia. Pp. 443-73.
- Kanki, P. J., and DeCock, K. M. (1994). Epidemiology and natural history of HIV-2. *AIDS*. 8(suppl): S 1.

Kanki, P., Mboup, S., and Marlink, R. (1992). Prevalence and risk determinants of

human immunodeficiency virus type 2 (HIV-2) and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) in West African female prostitutes. *Am J Epidemiol.* **136**: 895.

- Kapur, V., Whittam, T. S. and Musser, J. M. (1994). Is *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* 15 000 years old? *J infect. Dis.* **170**:1348-9.
- **Kenya Census 2009.** 2009 Population and Housing Results (August, 2010). Ministry of Planning, National Development and Vision 2030, Government of Kenya.
- Khamadi, S. A., Lihana, R. W., Osman, S., Mwangi, J., Muriuki, J., Lagat, N., Kinyua, J., Mwau, M., Kageha, S., Okoth, V., Ochieng, W., and Okoth, F. A. (2009).
 Genetic Diversity of HIV Type 1 along the Coastal Strip of Kenya. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*. 25:919-923.
- Khamadi, S. A., Ochieng, W., Lihana, R. W., Kinyua, J., Muriuki, J., Mwangi, J. Lwembe, R., Kiptoo, M., Osman, S., Lagat, N., Pelle, R., Muigai, A., Carter, J. Y., Oishi, I., Ichimura, Mwaniki, D. L., Okoth, F. A., Mpoke, S. and Songok, E. M. (2005). HIV Type 1 Subtypes in Circulation in Northern Kenya. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*. 21: 810–814.

Kindler, V., Sappino, A. P., Grau, G. E., Piguet, P. F., and Vassalli P. (1989). The

inducing role of tumour necrosis factor in the development of bacterial granulomas during BCG infection. *Cell.* **56**: 731-40.

- Kinter, A. L., Poli, G., Murray, W., Folks, T. M., and Fauci, A. S. (1990). Direct and cytokine-mediated activation of protein kinase C induce human immunodeficiency virus expression in chronically infected promonocytic cells. J Virol. 64: 4306-12.
- Kolattukudy, P. E., Fernandes, N. D., Azad, A. K., Fitzmaurice, A. M., and Sirakova, T. D. (1997). Biochemistry and molecular genetics of cell-wall lipid biosynthesis in mycobacteria. *Mol. Microbiol.* 24: 263–270.
- Konno, K., Feldman, F. M. and McDermont, W. (1967): Pyrazinamide susceptibility and amidase activity of the tubercle bacilli. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* **95**:461-469.
- Kourilsky, P. and Knapp A. (1974): Lysogenization by bacteriophage lambda. III.Multiplicity dependent phenomena occurring upon infection by lambda.*Biochimie* 56:1517-1523.
- Kumar, V., Abbas, A. K., Fausto, N. and Mitchell, R. N. (2007). Robbins Basic Pathology 8th edn, 2007. Saunders Elsevier. Pp. 516-522.

- Lambert, M. L., Hasker, E., van Deun, A., Roberfroid, D., Boelaert, M., and van der Stuyft, E. (2003). Recurrence in tuberculosis: relapse or reinfection? *Lancet Infect Dis.* 3:282–7.
- Lau, S. K., Wei, W. E., Kwan, S., and Yew, W. W. (1991). Combined use of fineneedle aspiration cytologic examination of tuberculin, skin test in the diagnosis of cervical tuberculous lymphadenitis, A prospective study. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 117: 87-90.
- Lawson, L., Yassin, M. A., Thacher, T. D., Olatunji, O. O., Lawson, J. O., Akingbogun, T. I., Bello, C. S. S., Cuevas, L. E., and Davies, P. D. O. (2008). Clinical presentation of adults with pulmonary tuberculosis with and without HIV infection in Nigeria. *Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 40: 30-35.
- Lederman, M. M., Georges, D. L., Kusner, D. J., Mudido, P., Giam, C. Z. and Toossi, Z. (1994). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and its purified protein derivative activate expression of human immunodeficiency virus. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr.* 7: 727-33.
- Lei, J. P. (1997). Therapy needed for elimination of *M*. tuberculosis from peripheral lymphocytes of patients with active tuberculosis: the importance of PCR

diagnosis of active tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 1 (5): S54, 59 PA 02.

- Lei, J. P. and Xiong, G. L. (1997). Comparison of two PCR methods for detection of M. tuberculosis DNA in lymphocyte fraction of human peripheral blood. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 1: S54.
- Lienhardt, C., Rowley, J., Manneh, K., Lahai, G., Needham, D., Milligan, P. and McAdam, K. (2001). Factors affecting time delay to treatment in a tuberculosis control programme in a sub-Saharan african country: the experience of the Gambia. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* **5**: 233-9.
- Levy, H., Feldman, C., Sacho, H., van der Meulen, H., Kallenbach, J., and Koornhof, H. A. (1989). A reevaluation of sputum microscopy and culture in the diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. *Chest.* 95: 1193-7.
- Lihana, R. W., Khamadi, S. A., Lwembe, R. M., Ochieng, W., Kinyua, J. G., Kiptoo, M. K., Muriuki, J. K., Lagat, N., Osman, S., Mwangi, J. M., Okoth, F. A., and Songok, E. M. (2009). The Changing Trend of HIV Type 1 Subtypes in Nairobi. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*. 25:25(3): 337-42.
- MacIntyre, C. R., Plant, A. J., Hulls, J., Streeton, J. A., Graham, N. M. H. and Rouch,G. J. High rate of transmission of tuberculosis in an office: impact of delayed
diagnosis. Clin. Infect. Dis. 1995; 21: 1170-4.

- Mahairas, G. G., Sabo, P. J., Hickey, M. J., Singh, D. C. & Stover, C. K. (1996). Molecular analysis of genetic differences between *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG and virulent *M. bovis. J. Bacteriol.* 178, 1274–1282.
- Mallory, K. F., Churchyard, G. J., Kleinschmidt, I., Decock, K. M. and Corbett, E. L. (2000). The Impact of HIV Infection on Recurrence of Tuberculosis in South African Gold Miners. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 4: 455-62.
- Marais, B. J., Gie, R. P., Hesseling, A. C., Schaaf, H. S., Enarson, D. A. and Beyers, N. (2006). Radiographic signs and symptoms in children treated for tuberculosis: possible implications for symptom-based screening in resource-limited settings. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 25:237–240.
- Mayosi, B. M., Burgess, L. J., and Doubell, A. F. (2005). Tuberculous pericarditis. *Circulation*. **112**:3608-16.1,4,7.
- Mc Shane, H. (2005). Co-infection with HIV and TB: Double trouble *Int J STD AIDS*. 16: 91-97.

Mendoza, M. T., Gonzaga, A. J., Roa, C., Velmonte, M. A., Jorge, M., Montoya, J. C.,

Tan, T. T., Ong, M., Barez, M. Y., and Ang, C. F. (1997). Nature of Resistance and Predictors of MDRTB among patient at the Philipenes General Hospital, Manila, Philipines. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* **1**:59-63.1997; **1**: 59-63.

- Mendum, T. A., Chilima, T. Z., and Harsch, P. R. (2000). The PCR amplification of non-tuberculous mycobacterial 16S RNA sequences from soil. *FEEMS Microbiology Letters*. 189-92.
- Menzies, R., TB (1997). Among Health Care Workers in Industrialized countries, *IJTBLD*. 1(5): 514.
- Mitchison, D. A. and Nunn, A. J. (1986). Influence of initial drug resistance on the response to short course chemotherapy in pulmonary tuberculosis. Am Rev Respir Dis. 133: 423-33.
- Mugenda, O. and Mugenda, A. G. (1999). Research Methods: Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches. Nairobi, Africa Centre for Technology (ACTS) Press
- Mukadi, Y., Maher, Dermot, A., Harries, A. B. (2001). Tuberculosis case fatality rates in high HIV prevalence populations in sub-Saharan Africa. *AIDS*. **15**(2):143-152.

- Munsiff, S. S., Bassoff, T., Nivin, B., Li, J., Sharma, A., Bifani, P., Mathema, B., Driscoll, J., and Kreiswirth, B. N. (2002). Molecular Epidemiology of Multidrug-Resistant Tuberculosis, New York City, 19951997. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 8:12308.
- National AIDS and STD Control Programme. (2009). Ministry of Medical Services, Government of Kenya. Scale up of Access to ART in Kenya.
- National AIDS and STD Control Programme (NASCOP). (2002). Ministry of Health, Government of Kenya. HIV/AIDS Surveillance in Kenya.

National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards (NCCLS). (1995).

Antimycobacterial susceptibility testing for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*; Tentative standard M24-T. Villanova, PA: NCCLS.

National institute of Child Health and Human development (NICHD). (2007). http://www.nichd.nih.gov

National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH). (2007). http://www.nimh.nih.gov

National Institute of Health (NIH) (2007). http://www.nih.gov

- National Leprosy and Tuberculosis Programme (NLTP). (2004). Ministry of Health, Republic of Kenya. Annual Report.
- National Leprosy and Tuberculosis Programme (NLTP). (2003), Ministry of Health, Republic of Kenya. Tuberculosis Guidelines.
- Navin, T. R., McNabb, S. J. N and Crwford, J. T. (2002). The continued threat of tuberculosis. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 8: 1187.
- Niemann, S., Rusch-Gerdes, S., Richter, E., Thielen, H., Heykes-Uden, H., and Diel, R.
 (2000). Stability of IS6110 restriction fragment length polymorphism patterns of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains in actual chains of transmission. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 38: 2563-7.
- Nolte, F. S. and Metchock, B. *Mycobacterium*. In: Manual of Clinical Microbiology. Sixth edn. Murray, P. R., Baron, E. J., Pfaller, M. A., Tenover, F. C. and Yolken, R. F. (eds). Washington D.C. ASM Press. Pp. 400-401.
- Nullis-Kapp, C. (2005). Africa is worst hit by dual epidemic. Bull World Health Organ. 83(3).
- Nunn, P., Brindle, R., Carpenter, L. Odhiambo, J., Wasunna, K., Newnham, R., Githui,

W., Gathua, S., Omwega, M., and McAdam, K. (1992). Cohort-study of human immunodeficiency virus infection in patients with tuberculosis in Nairobi, Kenya. Analysis of early (6 months) mortality. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* **146**: 849-54.

- Nyangulu, d., Harries, A., Kang'ombe, C., Yadidi, A., Chokani, K., Cullinan, T., Maher, D., Nunn, P., and Salaniponi, F. (1997). Tuberculosis in a prison population in Malawi. *Lancet.* 350: 1284-88.
- Nyendak, M., R., Lewinsohn, D. A., and Lewinsohn, M. (2009). New diagnostic methods for tuberculosis. *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases*. **22**(2):174-182.
- Olson, E. S., Simpson, A. J. H., Norton, A. J. and Das, S. S. (1998). Not everything acid fast is Mycobacterium tuberculosis: a case report. *J Clin Pathol.* **51**: 535-536.
- **Oyaro**, M. O., Anzala, A. O., Oyugi, F. O., Mbithi, J. J. (2009). Distribution of HIV-1 unique recombinant forms by gender among HIV- infected individuals, Western Kenya. IAS 2009. 5th IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis, Treatment and Prevention. 19-22 July 2009.

- Pai, M., and Menzies, D. (2007). The new IGRA and the old TST: making good use of disagreement [Editorial]. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 175:529-31.
- Park, M. M., Davis, A. L., Schluger, N. W., Cohen, H., and Rom, W. N. (1996). Outcome of MDR-TB patients, 1983-1993. Prolonged survival with appropriate therapy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 153:317-24.
- Pape, J., Jean,S., Ho, J., Hafner, A., W. Johnson, W. Jr. (1993). Effect of isoniazid prophylaxis on incidence of active tuberculosis and progression in HIV infection. *Lancet.* 342: 268-272.
- Parsons, L. M., Brosch, R., Cole, S. T., Somoskövi, A., Loder, A., Bretzel, G., van Soolingen, D., Hale, Y. M., and Salfinger, M. (2002). Rapid and simple approach for identification of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex isolates by PCR-Based genomic deletion analysis. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **40**: 2339-2345.
- Peeters, M., Liegeos, F., Torimiro, Bourgeois, A., Mpoundi, E., Vergne, L., Saman, E., Delaporte, E., and Saragosti, S. (1999). Characterization of highly replicative intergroup M/O human immunodeficiency virus type 1 recombinant isolated from Camerounian patient. *Journal of Virology*. **73**: 7368-75.
- Pelczar, M. J. Jr., Chan, E. C. S., and Krieg, N. R. (1986). Epidemiology of infectious diseases. In: Microbiology, Fifth Edn. McGraw-Hill Book Co. Singapore. Pp.

- Pfyffer, G. E. (2000). Drug-resistant tuberculosis: resistance mechanisms and rapid susceptibility testing. *Schweiz Med Wochenser*. 130:1909-13.
- Pfyffer, G. E. (1999). Mechanisms of drug resistance against antituberculosis agents. Nov Acta Leopoldina. 307: 269-79.
- Phillip, W. J., Poulet, S., Eiglmeier, K., Pascopella, L., Balasubramanian, V., Heym, B., Bergh, S., Bloom, B. R., Jacobs, W. R. Jr. and Cole, S. T. (1996). An integrated map of the genome of the tubercle bacillus, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* H37Rv, and comparison with *Mycobacterium leprae*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 93:3132-7.
- Poggio, G., Togneri, A., Reniero, A., Insua, A., Guerra, R., Dinerstein, E., Kantor, I. N., and Ritacco, V. (1997). AIDS-related multi-drug resistant tuberculosis "M" strain spreads with two hospitals in Bues Aires suburbs. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 1(5) Supl 1: S23.
- **Pozniak**, A. (1997). Treatment of the non-tuberculous mycobacterial disease (excluding HIV patients). *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* **1** (5) Supl 1: S13.

- Primm, T. P., Locero, L. A., and Falkinham, J. O. (2004). Health impacts of Environmental mycobacteria. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 17: 98-106.
- Proudfoot, A. T., Akhtar, A. J., Douglas, A. C. and Horne, N.W. (1969). Miliary tuberculosis in adults. *Br Med J.* 2: 273-276.
- Pyle, M. M. (1947). Relative numbers of resistant tubercle bacilli in sputa of patients before and during treatment with streptomycin. *Proc Staff Meet Mayo clin.* 22: 465-73.
- Ramachandran, P. and Prabhakar, P. (1992). Defaults, defaulter action and retrieval of patients during studies on tuberculosis meningitis in children. *Tubercle and Lung Dis.* 73: 170-173.
- Ramaswamy, S. and Musser, J. M. (1998). Molecular genetic basis of antimicrobial agent resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: 1998 update. *Tuberc Lung* Dis 79: 3-29.
- Rautiala, S., Toryinen, E., Torkko, P., Suomalainen, S., Nevalainen, A., Kallioski, P., and Katila, M. L. (2004). Potentially pathogenic, slow-growing mycobacteria released into workplace air during the remediation of buildings. *J Occup Environ Hyg.* 1:1-6.

- Raviglione, M. C., Snider, D. E., and Kochi, A. (1995). Global epidemiology of tuberculosis. JAMA. 273: 220-6.
- Raynaud, C., Laneelle, M. A., Senaratne, R. H., Draper, P., Laneelle, G. and Daffe, M. (1999). Mechanisms of pyrazinamide resistance in mycobacteria: importance of lack of uptake in addition to lack of pyrazinamidase activity. *Microbiology*. 145:1359-1367.
- Reuter, H., Burgess, L. J., and Doubell, A. F. (2005a). Role of chest radiography in diagnosing patients with tuberculous pericarditis. *Cardiovasc J S Afr.* 16:108-11.
- Reuter, H., Burgess, L. J, and Doubell, A. F. (2005b). Epidemiology of pericardial effusions at a large academic hospital in South Africa. *Epidemiol Infect*. 133:393-9.
- Richter, E., Wessling, J., Lügering, N., Domschke, W., Rüsch-Gerdes, S. (2002).
 Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis infection in a patient with HIV,
 Germany. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 8: 729-31.
- Rothe, T. B. and Karrer, W. (1996). Short-Course chemotherapy of pulmonary TB; Doctor's compliance. *Tuberc Lung Dis.* **77**: 93-8.

- Saidi, G. K., Roayai, M., Zarifi, A. Z., Masjedi, M. R., and Velayati, A. A. (1997). Isolation of environmental mycobacteria from patients suspected of tuberculosis (TB) in Ahvaz, South West of Iran. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 1 (5) Supl 1: S147.
- Sarr, A. D., Hamel, D. J., Thior, I., Kokkotou, E., Sankalé, J., Marlink, R. G.,
 Coll-Seck, E., Essex, M. E., Siby, T., Ndoye, I., Mboup, S., Kanki, P.
 J. (1998). AIDS. 12: 131-137.
- Sampaio, J., L. M., Alves, V. A. F., Leão, S. C., de Magalhães, V. D., Martino, M D. V., Mendes, C. M. F., Misiara, A. C., Miyashiro, K., Pasternak, J., Rodrigues, E., Rozenbaum, R., Filho, C. A. S., Teixeira, S. R. M., Xavier, A. C., Figueiredo, M. S., and Leite, J. P. G. (2002). *Mycobacterium haemophilum*: emerging or under diagnosed in Brazil? *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 8: 1359.
- Schwoebel, V., Lambregts-van Weezenbeek, C. S., Moro, M. L., Drobniewski, F., Hoffner, S. E., Raviglione, M. C., and Rieder, H. L. (2000). Standardization of antituberculosis drug resistance surveillance in Europe. Recommendations of a WHO and IUATLD Working Group. *Eur Respir J.* 16:364–371.
- Scorpio, A. and Zhang, Y. (1996). Mutations in pncA, a gene encoding pyrazinamide / nicotinamidase, cause resistance to the anti-tuberculous drug pyrazinamide in the tubercle bacillus. *Nature Med.* 2: 662-7.

- Scott, J., Hall, A., Muyodi, C., Lowe, B., Ross, M., Chohan, B., Mandaliya, K., Getambu, E., Gleeson, F., Drobniewski, F. (2000). Aetiology, outcome, and risk factors for mortality among adults with acute pneumonia in Kenya. *Lancet.* 355:1225-1230.
- Shafer, R. W., Small, P. M., Larkin, C., Singh, S. P., Kelly, P., Sierra, M. F., Schoolnik, G., and Chirgwin, K. D. (1995). Temporal trends and transmission patterns during the emergence of multi-drug resistant tuberculosis in New York City: a molecular epidemiologic assessment. *J Infect Dis.* 171: 170-176.
- Sharma, S. K., Mohan, A., Gupta, R., Kumar, A., Gupta, A. K., and Singhal, V. K. (1997). Clinical presentation of tuberculosis in patients with AIDS: An Indian experience. Indian J Chest Dis Allied Sci. 39:213-220.
- Simon, H. B., Weinstein, A. J., Pasternak, M. S., Swartz, M.N., and Kunz, L. J. (1977). Genitourinary tuberculosis: Clinical features in a general population. *The American Journal of Medicine*. 63: 410-420.
- Small, P. M., Schecler, D. F., Goodman, P. C. (1991). Treatment of TB in patients with advanced HIV infection. N Engl J Med. 324: 289-94.
- Snider, D. E. J, Raviglione, M. and Kochi, A. (1994). In: Tuberculosis: Pathogenesis,

Protection, and Control (ed. Bloom, B. R.) 2–11. *Am. Soc. Microbiol.*, Washington DC.

- Soini, H., Bottger, E. C. and Viljanen, M. K. (1994). Identification of mycobacteria by
- PCR- based sequence determination of the 32-kilodalton protein gene. J Clin Microbiol **32**:2944-2947.
- Somoskovi, A., Parsons, L. M. and Max Salfinger, M. (2001). The molecular basis of resistance to isoniazid, rifampin, and pyrazinamide in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Respiratory Research.* 2:164-168.
- Spence, D. P. S., Hotchkiss, J., Williams, C. S. D. and Davies, P. D. O. (1993). Tuberculosis and poverty. *BMJ*. **307**: 759-61.
- Sutherland, I. (1990). The epidemiology of tuberculosis and AIDS. Communicable Disease Report, UK. 90/10.
- Telenti, A., Imboden, P., Marchesi, F., Lowrie, D., Cole, S., Colston, M. J., Matter, L., Schopfer, K. and Bodmer, T. (1993). Detection of rifampin-resistant mutations in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Lancet.* 341: 647-50.

Telenti, A., Phillip, W., Sreevatsan, S., Bernasconi, C., Stockbauer, K. E., Wieles, B.,

Musser, J. M. and Jacobs, W. R. Jr. (1997). The emb operon, a unique gene cluster of Mycobacterium tuberculosis involved in resistance to ethambutol. *Nature Med.* **3**: 567-70.

- Telzak, E. E., Sepkowitz, K. A., Alpert, P., Mannheimer, S., Medard, F., El-Sadr, W., Blum, S., Gagliardi, A., Salomon, N., and Turett, G. (1995). Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in patients without HIV infection. *N Engl J Med.* 333:907-11.
- Ten Dam, H. G. (1990). Bacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) vaccination and HIV infection. *Bull IUATLD*. 65:38.
- Tenover, F. C., Crawford, J. T., Huebner, R. E., Geiter, L. J., Horsburgh, C. R. Jr., and Good, R. C. (1993). The resurgence of tuberculosis: is your laboratory ready? J. *Clin. Microbiol.* **31**:767-70.
- Thorel, M. F., Krichevsky, M., and Levy-Frebault, V. (1990). Numerical taxonomy of mycobacteria, emended description of *Mycobacterium avium*, and description of *Mycobacterium avium subsp. avium nov*, *Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis nov*, *Mycobacterium avium subsp. silvaticum subsp. nov. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol.* 40: 254-260.

Thornton, C. G., MacLellan, K. M., Brink, T. L. Jr., Lockwood, D. E., Romagnoli, M.,

Turner, J., Merz, W. G., Schwalbe, R. S., Moody, M., Lue, Y., and Passen, S. (1998). Novel Method for Processing Respiratory Specimens for Detection of Mycobacteria by Using C18-Carboxypropylbetaine: Blinded Study. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **36**: 1996-2003.

- Todar, K. (2002). Todar's Online Textbook of Bacteriology. http://www.textbookofbacteriology.net/
- United Nations and AIDS. (2009). Global Facts and Figures: The global AIDS epidemic. UNAIDS Geneva, Switzerland. Pp. 7-21.

United Nations and AIDS/World Health Organization. (2003). Global HIV/AIDS & STD Surveillance: Global estimates of HIV/AIDS epidemic as of end of 2001. UNAIDS Geneva, Switzerland.

United Nations and AIDS (UNAIDS). (2003). Accelerating Action against AIDS in Africa. Geneva, Switzerland.

 $data.unaids.org/una-docs/icasa_report_2003_en.pdf$

United Nations and AIDS. (1997). Report on Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic. Geneva, Switzerland. *Aids.* 11:919–25.

- United States Agency for International Development. (2003). Women's Experiences with HIV Serodisclosure in Africa: Implications for VCT and PMTCT. The Synergy Project. Pp. 1-8.
- van Embden, J. D. A., Cave, M. D., Crawford, J. T., Dale, J. W., Eisenach, K. D., Gicquel, B., Hermans, P., Martin, C., Mcadam, R., Shinnick, T. M., and Small, P. M. (1993). Strain identification of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* of DNA fingerprinting: recommendations for a standard methodology. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 31: 406-409.
- van Rie, A., Warren, R., Richardson, M., Victor, T. C., Gie, R. P., Enarson, D. A., Beyers, N., and van Helden, P. D. (1999). Exogenous reinfection as a cause of recurrent tuberculosis after curative treatment. *N Engl J Med.* 341: 1174–1179.
- van Soolingen, D., de Haas, P. E., Hermans, P. W., Groenen, P. M., and van Embden,
 J. D. (1993). Comparison of various repetitive DNA elements as genetic markers for strain differentiation and epidemiology of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Clin Microbiol. 31(8): 1987-1995.
- Verma, S. K. and Mahajan V. (2008). HIV-Tuberculosis Co-Infection. The Internet Journal of Pulmonary Medicine. 10: 1.

- Verver, S., Warren, R. M., Beyers, N., Richardson, M., van der Spuy, G. D., Borgdorff, M. W., Enarson, DA., Behr, M. A., and van Helden, P. D. (2005). The rate of reinfection tuberculosis after successful treatment is higher than rate of new tuberculosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 171:1430–5.
- Villarino, M. E., Dooley, S. W., Geither, L. J. Castro, K., and Snider, D. (1992). Management of persons exposed to multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 41: 61-71.
- von Reyn, C. F. (1997). Epidemiology of infections due to Mycobacterium avium complex. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 1 (5) Supl 1: S12.
- Wallgren, A. (1948). The time-table for tuberculosis. *Tubercle*. 29: 245-51.
- Wallis, R. S., Amir, T. M. and Ellner, J. J. (1990). Induction of interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor by mycobacterial proteins: the monocyte western blot. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 87: 3348-52.
- Wallis, R. S. and Ellner, J. J. (1994). Cytokines and tuberculosis. *J Leucocyte Biol.* **55**: 676.
- Wallis, R. S., Nsubuga, P., Whalen, C., Mugerwa, R. D., Okwera, A., Oette, D.,

Jackson, J. B., Johnson, J. L. and J. J. Ellner, J. J. (1996). Pentoxifylline Therapy in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Seropositive Persons with Tuberculosis: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. *J Infect Dis* **174**: 727-733.

- Wallis, R. S., Vjecha, M., Nelson, M., Okwera, A., Byekwaso, F., Nyole, S., Kabengera, S., Mugerwa, R., and Ellner J. (1993). Influence of tuberculosis on human β2-immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1): Enhanced cytokine expression and elevated microglobulin in HIV-1-associated tuberculosis. *J Infect Dis* 167:43-8.
- Wayne, L., and Sramek, H. (1992). Agents of newly recognized or infrequently encountered mycobacterial diseases. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **5**: 1-25.
- Whalen, C., Lahart, C., Hom D., Lahart, C., Simberkoff, M., and Ellner, J. (1995).
 Accelerated course of HIV infection after tuberculosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 151:129-35.
- Wheeler, P. R. and Ratledge, C. (1994). In: Tuberculosis: Pathogenesis, Protection, and Control (ed. Bloom, B. R.) Pp. 353–385. *Am. Soc. Microbiol.*, Washington DC.
- Wolinsky, E. (1981). Epidemiology of non-tuberculous mycobacterial infections. *Rev Infect Dis.* 3: 990.

- Wolinsky, E. (1992). Mycobacterial diseases other than tuberculosis. *Clin Infect Dis*.15:1.
- World Health Organization. WHO Report. (2009). Global tuberculosis control epidemiology, strategy, financing. WHO/HTM/TB/2009.411. Geneva. http://www.who.int/tb/publications/global_report/2009/en/ind
- World Health Organization. (2008). Global Tuberculosis control. WHO/HTM/TB/2008.393.Geneva.

http://www.who.int/tb/publications/global_report/2008/en/index.html

- World Health Organization. WHO Report. (2007). Global tuberculosis control: Surveillance, Planning, Financing. WHO/HTM/TB/2007.376. Geneva. http://www.who.int/tb/publications/global_report/2007/pdf/fu
- World Health Organization. (2006). DOTS-Plus and the Green Light Committee. WHO, Geneva. Pp. 263-282.

www.tuberculosistextbook.com/pdf/epidem.pdf

World Health Organization. (2005). Interim policy on collaborative TB/HIV activities. WHO/HTM/TB/2005.355. Geneva. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2005/WHO_HTM_TB_2005.355.pdf

- World Health Organization. WHO Report. (2004). Global tuberculosis control: Surveillance, Planning, Financing. WHO/HTM/TB/2004.331. Geneva. www.who.int/tb/publications/global_report/2004/contents.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2003). Treatment of tuberculosis. Guidelines for National Programmes. WHO/CDS/TB 2003: 313. Geneva. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2003/9241546042.pdf
- World Health Organization. WHO Report. (2002). Global tuberculosis control: Surveillance, Planning, Financing, Communicable Diseases. Geneva. http://www.emro.who.int/stb/media/pdf/02-body.pdf
- World Health Organization. (1997a). Anti-tuberculosis drug resistance in the world: WHO/IUATLD global project on anti-tuberculosis drug resistance surveillance, 1994-7. Geneva. 7:191–200.
- World Health Organization. (1997b). Anti-tuberculosis drug resistance in the world: WHO/IUATLD global project on anti-tuberculosis drug resistance surveillance, 1994-7. Geneva. 7:1545–1553.
- World Health Organization. (1995). AIDS, Global situation of the HIV/AIDS pandemic. *Wkly Epidemiol Rec.* **70**: 193.

- World Health Organization. (1994). Tuberculosis, a global emergency. Geneva. http://www.who.int/entity/tb/publications/1994/en/index.html
- World Health Organization. (1993). WHO declares tuberculosis a global emergency (press release). WHO/31. Geneva. Pp. 4-23.
- Yeh, R. W., Hopewell, P. C. and Daley, C. L. (1999). Simultaneous infection with two strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* identified by restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* 3: 537-39.
- Youmans, G. P., Willisston, E., H., Feldman, W. H., and Hinshaw, H. C. (1946). Increase in resistance of tubercle bacilli to streptomycin: a preliminary report. *Proc Staff Meet Mayo Clin.* 21: 126-127.
- Zhang, Y. and Telenti, A. (2000). Genetics of drug resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. In: Molecular Genetics of Mycobacteria. Edited by Hatful, G. F. and Jacobs, W. R Jr. Washington DC: ASM Press. Pp. 235-254.
- Zimhony, O., Cox, J. S., Welch, J. T, Vilcheze, C. and Jacobs, W. R. Jr. (2000). Pyrazinamide inhibits the eukaryotic-like fatty acid synthetase I (FASI) of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Nature Med.* 6:1043-1047.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Consent Form

1.0 Title of the project proposal (SSC No. 837; FAN No. 00092)

Tuberculosis and Human Immunodeficiency Virus Dual Infections in Western Kenya

Patient's name:			
Date of birth	Age	Sex	•••••
Address			•••••
Telephone	Fax	E-mail	

2.0 **Purpose of the study**

To evaluate TB, HIV and TB-HIV co-infection rates, and determine the effect of HIV co-infection on the sensitivity of ZN smear microscopy and mycobacterial culture positivity. To determine TB recurrence rate and the effect of HIV co-infection on anti-TB chemotherapy. To determine the role of NTM in TB-like disease morbidity in western Kenya.

3.0 **Procedures to be followed**

In this study the blood and sputum samples that will be taken from you for route diagnosis will also be used for TB and HIV co-infection studies and anti-tuberculous drug susceptibility testing. If you accept to join the study, you will be requested to undergo counselling at the VCT clinic, and if you are infected with HIV you will be

referred to the relevant clinic for follow up.

4.0 Risks

The study will not expose you to unusual risks, as trained hospital staff using approved methods will collect the samples.

5.0 **Benefits**

The results of sensitivity testing will be delivered to the clinic to guide your doctor in giving you effective drugs.

6.0 **Confidentiality of the Records**

Numbers will identify your samples to avoid breaching your confidentiality. Drug susceptibility results may be submitted to your doctor to guide her/him in treating you. No identity of any specific patient in this study will be disclosed in any public reports or publications.

7.0 **Basis of Participation**

It is important for you to know that you have the freedom to decline to participate in the study and your refusal will not affect the relationship between you and those treating and caring for you.

Signature

I have read the above information and have had an opportunity to ask questions and all of my questions have been answered. I consent to taking part in the study. I fully understand there are no risks associated with the collection of samples. I have been given a copy of this consent form.

Signature		_Date
	(Patient)	
Signature		_Date

(Parent or Legal Guardian)

I, the undersigned, have fully explained the relevant details of this study to the patient named above and/or the person authorized to consent for the patient. I am qualified to perform this role.

Signature:	Name: Henry DN Nyamogoba. Date		
(Investigator)			
Signature:	Name:	Date:	
(Witness)			
Address of witness:			

Appendix 2: Sample collection, storage and transportation

The blood and sputum samples were obtained from TB suspects by competent hospital medical staff. The patient were requested to cough so that expectoration will come from deep down the chest as possible, and spit into a sterile blue capped falcon tubes. The samples were refrigerated at 4°C, awaiting transportation in cool boxes to the Mycobacteria Reference Laboratory (MRL), Moi University School of Medicine (MUSOM) Eldoret, weekly for analysis. With each transport box, there was an accompanying list identifying the specimens it contains and the data for patients from whom the specimens were collected. At the MRL, the samples were refrigerated at 4°C till processing. However, the samples were processed within the next 7 days of collection in order to minimize loss of viability of the mycobacteria.

Consenting patient also underwent phlebotomy to obtain 2-3 ml of venous blood using sterile 5-ml syringes. The blood was delivered into Vacutainer Brand STERILE interior EDTA (K3) tubes and stored at -20° C awaiting transportation to Moi University School of Medicine for processing. The samples were transported in cool boxes to MRL, MUSOM and processed within two weeks.

Appendix 3: Testing for human immunodeficiency virus infection

Testing for HIV infection was done by screening serum by the Trinity Biotech Uni-GoldTM test and the positives confirmed with the enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Murex HIV Ag/Ab Combination, ABBOT murex, Murex Biotech Limited, UK), following manufacturers' instructions.

ELISA procedure

Briefly the Conjugate was reconstituted, and substrate and Wash Fluid prepared following manufacturer's instructions. A volume of 25 μ l of Sample Diluent was added to each well. A volume of 100 μ l of Samples or 100 μ l of Controls were added to designated wells. The wells were covered with the lid and incubated for 60 minutes at 37°C. After incubation, the plate was washed followed by immediate addition of 100 μ l of Conjugate to each well. The wells were covered with the lid and the plate incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. At the end of incubation time, the plate was washed, followed by immediate addition of 100 μ l of Substrate Solution to each well. The wells were covered with the lid and the plate incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. At the plate incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. At the end of incubation time, the plate was washed, followed by immediate addition of 100 μ l of Substrate Solution to each well. The wells were covered with the lid and the plate incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes, away from direct sunlight. After incubation, 50 μ l of Stop Solution (0.5M sulphuric acid) was added to each well. Absorbance was read within 15 minutes at 420 nm.

After calculation of the mean absorbance of the Negative Controls, the Cut-off value was calculated by adding 0.150 to the mean of the Negative Controls.

Interpretation of results: Samples giving an absorbance less than the Cut-off value were considered negative (non-reactive), whereas samples giving an absorbance equal to or greater than the Cut-off value were considered reactive.

Appendix 4: Isolation of mycobacteria

The BACTEC MGIT 960 tubes and Lowenstein-Jensen (LJ) slopes were used in the isolation of mycobacteria. The sputum samples were decontaminated and concentrated using the NaOH-NALC method.

Reagents and supplies

a) N-Acetyl L Cysteine (NALC)

Aliquoted in 2- gram amounts. Store at 2-8°C. This is mucolytic agent. Once dissolved it is unstable when exposed to air. It loses its mucolytic action within 24 hours.

b) 4% Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) (Final concentration 1% for decontamination)

Aliquoted in sterile 200ml amounts into plastic bottles and stored at $2 - 8^{\circ}$ C. NaOH is toxic (bactericidal) at 2%. Mycobacteria will also be killed if exposed to NaOH beyond the time stipulated in the decontamination process.

c) 5% Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) (Final concentration 1.25% for decontamination)

This is according to the BD protocol for MGIT Culture - used incase of increased contamination.

Aliquoted in sterile 200ml amounts into plastic bottles and stored at $2 - 8^{\circ}$ C. NaOH is toxic (bactericidal) at 2%. Mycobacteria will also be killed if exposed to NaOH beyond

the time stipulated in the decontamination process.

d) Sodium Citrate

Aliquoted in sterile 200ml amount, stored at room temperature. Exerts stabilizing effect on the acetyl cysteine because of its ability to bind by chelation of many heavy metal ions that may be present in the specimen.

e) Phosphate Buffer pH 6.8

Aliquoted in sterile 1000ml amounts into plastic bottles and stored at room temperature. Stock solution stored at 4°C in cold room. Stabilizes pH.

f) Sterile broth Buffer 18ml prepared as follows

A volume of 2ml of 7H9 Broth added to 18ml Phosphate Buffer pH 6.8. This gives approx 0.5% albumen concentration. Dilutes out the effect of the decontamination process. Allows specimen to adhere to the slides (in house method).

Procedure for the decontamination of specimens

Note: All specimens had been collected in sterile 50ml centrifuge tubes marked with patient information.

1. Equal amounts of NALC working solution was added to each specimen. The contents were vortexed for 15 seconds and then mixed. Another vortexing for another

15 seconds followed to ensure that the specimen got liquefied. In case the specimen was still mucoid, some more NALC was added followed by vortexing.

2. After 20 minutes, the buffer was added to 50ml mark of specimen tube. The tube was inverted to mix the contents – this is the neutralizing process.

3. The same buffer was added to the other specimen tubes at 1-minute intervals.

4. The tubes were centrifuged in IEC CENTRA CL3 Centrifuge at 3000g for 20 minutes.

5. The supernatant was decanted into 5% phenol disinfectant bucket.

6. The sediment was re-suspended in buffer broth to a final volume of 2 ml.

7. The tubes were vortexed.

8. Slides were prepared from each of the sediments as follows:

Using a sterile pipette the specimen was spread centrally on the slide: smear size 1 x 2cm. The slides were placed on hot plate (thermostat set at 70°C) under UV light for a minimum of 30 minutes. UV kills aerosols created by the heating of slides.

9. The slides were stained by the Ziehl- Neelsen Stain and examined for AFB.

10. The decontaminated samples were then cultured onto Lowenstein-Jensen (LJ) slopes / slants and BACTEC MGIT 960 incubator.

Inoculation procedures

Note: The Lowenstein-Jensen (LJ) medium slopes were always inoculated before the MGIT tubes.

Inoculation of the LJ slopes

1. The LJ slopes were inoculated with 0.2 - 0.3 ml (2-3 drops) of the decontaminated sputum deposits. The slopes were tilted slightly to cover the entire surface.

2. The slants were then laid out horizontally, with inoculated surface facing upward, for at least 24-48 hours, to allow inoculum to absorb into media, after which they were placed upright in the incubator at 37° C.

3. The caps were left loosened, for at least the first week, to allow for air exchange, and then screwed tight to prevent desiccation.

4. The inoculated LJ slopes were read weekly for 8 weeks. Reading was done the same day each week.

Reporting Scheme:

Colony count	Report
0	No growth
1-9	Actual number
20-100	1+
101-200	2+
201-500 (almost confluent)	3+
>500 (confluent)	4+

Inoculation of BACTEC MGIT 960 tubes

1. The MGIT tubes were labeled with the relevant patient details, randomization number and specimen or control name.

2. A volume of 0.8ml of reconstituted MGIT PANTA was added to each MGIT tube that was to be inoculated using a sterile Gilson pipette tip.

3. Once PANTA had been added the tubes were covered as they are light sensitive.

4. Using a sterile pipette tip 0.5ml of well mixed concentrated specimen was added to the appropriately labeled MGIT tube. The tube was immediately recapped tightly and contents mixed by reverting the tube several times.

5. The tubes and caps were wiped with 5% phenol disinfectant and left at room

temperature for 30 minutes.

6. The tubes were then incubated in the MGIT incubator until the instrument flagged them positive. After a maximum of 42 days, the instrument flagged the tubes negative if there were no growth. (The instrument signals a tube positive for growth, and an indicator green light shows the exact location of the positive tube in the drawer of the instrument).

Work-up of positive cultures

The instrument positive MGIT tubes were observed visually for granular growth.

1. Slides were labeled for each positive MGIT tube as well as a blood agar plate, with the patient details and laboratory number.

2. The MGIT tubes were mixed by vortexing. Using sterile Pasteur pipettes, 1 drop was placed on the slide.

3. The slides were left on a hot plate under a UV light for a minimum of 2 hours. The slides were then stained following ZN method and examined for AFB using 100 X oil immersion lens.

Reading of the ZN stain from a positive MGIT

All the laboratory numbers and patient details were recorded in the MGIT ZN book as follows:

Pos R	=	positive roping
Pos NR	=	No Roping? MOTT.
Pos/C	=	positive mixed with contaminating bacteria
Neg	=	negative – no organisms seen.

The results were also recorded on the MGIT print out on the right hand side of the page.

Pure positive cultures underwent identification procedures, followed by anti-TB drug susceptibility testing as appropriate.

Work-up of contaminated positive cultures

Contaminated positive culture underwent re-decontamination.

1. The entire MGIT broth was transferred into a 50 ml centrifuge tube.

2. An equal quantity of 4% sterile NaOH solution was added, and the contents mixed and left to stand for 15-20 minutes.

3. Phosphate buffer pH 6.8 was added after 15-20 minutes up to 40ml mark. The

contents were mixed by inverting the tubes severally.

4. The tube contents were centrifuged at least at 3000x g for 15-20 minutes.

5. The supernatant was poured off, and the sediment re-suspended in 0.5 ml of buffer and mixed well.

6. A volume of 0.5 ml was inoculated into a fresh MGIT tube supplemented with MGIT growth supplement/PANTA.

7. The inoculated tubes were left at room temperature for 30 minutes, and then placed in the instrument and followed for observation of growth. Positive cultures were worked-up as previously described (**BD BBL** MGIT Package inserts, 2008).

Appendix 5: Identification of mycobacteria

Cultures with positive growth underwent definitive ZN stain for AFB. They also underwent Hain's **GenoType[®] Mycobacterium CM** ("<u>Common Mycobacteria</u>") and **GenoType[®] Mycobacterium AS** ("<u>A</u>dditional <u>Species</u>") molecular genetic assays for detection and discrimination of 13 clinically relevant non-tuberculous mycobacterial species and of *M. tuberculosis* complex as a whole, and to distinguish 16 other nontuberculous species, respectively.

The $GenoType^{\ensuremath{\$}}$ Mycobacterium CM permits the identification of the following mycobacterial species: -

M. simiae M. avium spp M. Chelonae M. fortuitum M. abscessus M. gordonae M. intercellulare M. scofulceum M. interjectum M. kansasii M. malmoense M. peregrinum M. marinum/ulcerans M. tuberculosis complex M. xenopi

The GenoType[®] Mycobacterium AS permits the identification of the following mycobacterial species: -

- M. simiae M. mucogenicum M. goodii M. celatum M. smegmatis M. genavense
- M. lentiflavum
- M. heckeshornense

M. szulgai/intermedium M. phlei M. haemphilum M. kansasii M. ulcerans M. gastri M. asiaticum M. shimoidei

The GenoType[®] Mycobacterium CM and GenoType[®] Mycobacterium AS protocols are the same the only difference being the specific probes coated in the membrane strips (STRIPS). The whole procedure was divided into three steps.

i). DNA isolation from cultured material (culture plates/liquid medium) or direct materials (pulmonary, smear – positive, decontaminated).

- ii). Multiplex amplification with biotinylated primers.
- iii). Reverse hybridization.

The hybridization included the following steps:

- i). Chemical denaturation of the amplification products,
- ii). Hybridization of the single stranded DNA,
- iii). Biotin labeled amplicons to membrane bound probes,
- iv). Stringent washing,

v). Addition of s streptavidin/alkaline phosphatase conjugate, and an alkaline mediated staining reaction,

vi). A template ensured the easy and fast interpretation of the banding pattern obtained.
DNA Isolation

Bacterial growth on LJ or MGIT tubes was used. Samples were heated in a water bath to 95 0 C for at least 20 minutes in order to inactivate bacteria. The following quick protocol was used to obtain DNA suitable for amplification:

1 (a). When using bacteria grown on LJ, bacteria were harvested with an inoculation loop and suspended in approximately $300 \ \mu l$ of water (molecular biology grade).

1 (b). When using bacteria grown in MGIT tubes, 1 ml of culture growth was directly used. The bacteria were pelleted by spinning for 15 min in a standard table top centrifuge with an aerosol-tight rotor in a class II safety cabinet at approximately 10000 x g. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet (bacteria) re-suspended in 300 μ l of water by vortexing.

2. Isolated bacteria from 1a or 1b were incubated for 20 min at 95° C (heating block or boiling water bath).

3. The bacteria were then incubated for 15 min in an ultrasonic bath.

4. The bacteria were spin down for 5 minutes at full speed. A volume of 5 μ l of the supernatant was directly used for PCR. In case DNA solution needed to be stored for an extended time period, the supernatant was transferred to a new tube and stored at -20

°C until use.

The amplification mix (45 μ l) was prepared in a DNA-free room (the DNA sample was added in the separated area) as follows:

Per tube mix

35 µl Primer/Nucleotide Mix (PNM)

5 µl 10x polymerase incubation buffer

2.0 µl MgCl₂ solution

0.2 µl (2 units) thermostable DNA polymerase

 $3.0 \,\mu$ l water to obtain a volume of $45 \,\mu$ l (not considering volume of enzyme)

 5μ l DNA solution (20-100 ng DNA) was added leading to a final volume 50 μ l (not considering volume of enzyme).

A negative control sample contained 5 μ l of water instead of DNA solution. A mastermix containing all reagents except for DNA solution was prepared and mixed well by pipetting up and down. A volume of 45 μ l of the master-mix was aliquoted into each of the prepared PCR tubes.

1.	Number of										
	specimen	1	3	5	6	7	12	13	14	24	25
2.	PNM (µl)	35	105	175	210	245	420	455	490	840	875
3.	MgCl ₂ (µl)	2	6	10	12	14	24	26	28	48	50
4.	Buffer (µl)	5	15	25	30	35	60	65	70	120	125
5.	Molecular grade water	3	9	15	18	21	36	39	42	72	75
	(µl)										
6.	Taq (µl)	0.2	0.6	1.0	1.2	1.4	2.4	2.6	2.8	4.8	5.0

Preparation of master-mix for polymerase chain reaction

Amplification profile

5 min 95°C	1 cycle
30 sec 95°C	
2 min 58°C	10 cycles
25 sec 95°C	
40 sec 53°C	20 cycles
40 sec 70°C	

8 min 70°C 1 cycle

Hybridization

Preparation

The shaking water bath/**TwinCubator**[®] was pre-warmed to 45°C; the maximum tolerated deviation from the target temperature was +/-1°C. Solutions HYB and STR were also pre-warmed to 37-45°C before use. The reagents were free from precipitates (however, solution CON-D is opaque). Mixing was done when necessary. The remaining reagents were pre-warmed with the exception of CON-C and SUB-C to room temperature. Using a 15 ml falcon tube, Conjugate Concentrate (CON-C, orange) and Substrate Concentrate (SUB-C, yellow) were diluted 1:100 with the respective buffer (CON-C with CON-D, SUB-C with SUB-D) in the amounts needed. The contents were mixed to bring to room temperature. For each strip, 10 μ l concentrate was added to 1 ml of the respective buffer. CON-C was diluted before each use. (Diluted SUB-C is stable for 4 weeks if stored at room temperature and protected from light).

1. A volume of 20 μ l of Denaturation Solution (DEN, blue) was dispensed in a corner of each of the wells used.

2. A volume of 20 μ l of amplified sample was added to the solution, pipetted up and down to mix well and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes.

Meanwhile, strips were taken out of the tube using tweezers and marked with a pencil underneath the coloured marker. Gloves were always won when handling strips. 3. A volume of 1 ml of pre-warmed Hybridization Buffer (HYB, green) was carefully added to each well. The tray was gently shaken until the solution had a homogenous colour. Care was taken not to spill solution into the neighbouring wells.

4. A strip was paced in each well.

The strips were completely covered by the solution and the coated side (identifiable by the coloured marker near the lower end) faced upward. Strips which turned when immersed in the solution were turned over using tweezers. Tweezers were carefully cleaned after each use to avoid contamination. This also applied to all following steps.

5. The tray was placed in shaking water bath/TwinCubator[®] and incubated for 30 minutes at 45° C. The shaking frequency of the water bath was adjusted to achieve a constant and thorough mixing of the solution. To allow adequate heat transfer, the tray was dipped into the water to at least one-third (1/3) of its height.

6. The Hybridization Buffer was completely aspirated using a Pasteur pipette connected to a vacuum pump.

7. A volume of 1 ml of Stringent Wash Solution (STR, red) was added to each strip and incubated for 15 minutes at 45^oC in shaking water bath/TwinCubator[®].

8. Stringent Wash Solution was completely removed.

9. The Wash Solution was poured out into a waste container. All the remaining fluid was poured out by turning the tray upside down and gently striking it on an absorbent paper. This also applied to all other wash steps.

10. Each strip was washed once with 1 ml of Rinse Solution (RIN) for 1 minute on shaking platform/TwinCubator[®] (pour out RIN after incubation).

11. A volume of 1 ml of diluted Conjugate was added to each strip and incubated for 30 minutes on shaking platform/TwinCubator[®].

12. The solution was removed and each strip washed twice for 1 minute with 1 ml of Rinse Solution (RIN) and once for 1 minute with 1 ml of distilled water (e.g. use wash bottle) on shaking platform/TwinCubator[®] (the solution was poured out each time). Any trace of water was removed after the last wash.

13. A volume of 1 ml diluted substrate was added to each strip and incubated for 15 minutes (protected from light without shaking).

14. The reaction was stopped by briefly rinsing twice with distilled water.

15. The strips were removed from the tray using tweezers and dried between two layers of absorbent paper.

Evaluation and interpretation of results

The strips were pasted and stored protected from light. Evaluation of results was done using an evaluation sheet provided by the manufacturer (Hain lifescience, GmbH, Nehren, German, Package inserts) of the **GenoType® Mycobacterium CM** Kit. When doing evaluation, the developed strips were pasted in the designated fields by aligning the bands CC and UC with the respective lines on the evaluation sheet.

Positive signals were noted in the last but one column. Species were determined with the help of the interpretation chart. The name of the identified species was entered in the last column.

The supplied template also served as an aid for evaluation was aligned with the bands CC and UC of the strip as well. Each strip had a total of 17 reaction zones as shown below:

Conjugate Control (CC)

A line developed in this zone, documenting the efficiency of the conjugate binding and substrate reaction.

Universal Control (UC)

This zone detected, as known, all known mycobacteria and members of the group of gram-positive bacteria with a high G+C content. It is only when this zone and the

Conjugate Control zone stained positive that the remaining banding pattern could be assigned respective bacterial species.

Only those bands whose intensities were about as or stronger than that of the Universal Control zone were considered.

Genus Control (GC)

Staining of this zone documented, as known, the presence of a member of genus *Mycobacterium*. The intensity of this band varied depending on the mycobacterial species.

The Genus Control band could drop out in spite of the presence of mycobacterial DNA; as long as a species – specific banding pattern was present, however, the amplification reaction was performed properly and the test result was valid.

When no species-specific banding pattern was present, a pattern indicating the presence of a gram-positive bacterium with a high G+C content could still originate from a mycobacterium that could not be detected by the **GenoType® Mycobacterium CM** kit. In this case the DNA of the isolate underwent identification using the **GenoType® Mycobacterium AS** Kit.

NB: Not all bands of a strip had to show the same signal strength. If a large amount of amplicon was used, additional bands could occur.

Appendix 6: GenoType[®] MTBDR*plus* anti-tuberculosis drug susceptibility testing The GenoType[®] MTBDR*plus* test is based on the DNA•STRIP[®] technology and permits the molecular genetic identification of *M. tuberculosis* complex and its resistance to rifampicin and / or isoniazid from cultivated or pulmonary smear - positive direct patient material. DNA•STRIP[®] strips are coated with specific probes which are complementary to the amplified nucleic acid (amplicon). After denaturation, the singlestranded amplicon binds specifically to the probe (hybridization) and is visualized in a subsequent enzymatic colour reaction. As a result, a specific banding pattern develops on the DNA•STRIP[®]. The interpretation of banding patterns on the DNA•STRIP[®] is performed by employing the standard template provided by the manufacturer.

In order to validate the correct performance of the test and the proper functioning of reagents, each strip includes 5 control zones:

(i) A Conjugate Control zone to check the binding of conjugate on the strip and a correct chromogenic reaction,

(ii) Amplification Control zone to check for successful amplification reaction,

(iii) Three Loci Control zones (*rpo B*, *katG*, and *inhA*) checking the optimal sensitivity of the reaction for each of the tested gene loci.

DNA isolation

Bacteria grown on culture Lowenstein-Jensen (LJ) slants or MGIT tubes as well as decontaminated smear-positive direct sputum samples were used. The bacteria were heated to 95-105°C for at least 15 minutes to lyse cells and to inactivate vegetative bacteria.

The following quick protocol was used isolated DNA for amplification:

1a. Bacterial growth on LJ was collected using an inoculation loop and suspended in $300 \ \mu l$ of water (molecular biology grade).

1b. A volume of 1 ml of bacterial growth from MGIT tube cultures was directly used. When using direct patient material, 500 μ l of a decontaminated sample was applied. Bacteria were pelleted by spinning for 15 minutes in a centrifuge with an aerosol-tight rotor in a class II safety cabinet at 10000 x g. The supernatant was discarded and the bacteria re-suspended in 300 μ l of water (for culture samples), or 100 μ l of water (for direct patient material) by vortexing.

2. The bacteria from 1a or 1b were incubated for 20 minutes at 95°C (boiling water bath).

3. The bacteria were then incubated for 15 minutes in an ultrasonic bath.

4. The bacteria were spin down for 5 minutes at full speed and 5 μ l of the supernatant was directly used for PCR. When the DNA was not immediately used, the supernatant was transferred new tube for storage.

Amplification

The amplification mix (45 μ l) was prepared in a DNA-free room. The DNA sample was added in a separated area.

Per tube mix:

35 µl PNM

5 µl 10x polymerase incubation buffer

2.0 µl MgCl₂ solution

0.2 µl (0.2 units) thermostable DNA polymerase

3.0 µl water to obtain a volume of 45 µl (not considering volume of enzyme)

 5μ l DNA solution (20-100 ng DNA) was added leading to a final volume of 50μ l (not considering volume of enzyme).

A negative control sample contained 5 μ l of water instead of DNA solution. A master mix containing all reagents except for DNA solution was prepared and mixed well by pipetting up and down. A volume of 45 μ l of the master-mix was aliquoted into each of the prepared PCR tubes.

	Culture samples	direct patient material
5 min 95°C	1 cycle	1 cycle
30 sec 95°C	10 cycles	10 cycles
2 min 38°C		
25 sec 95°C		
40 sec 53°C	20 cycles	30 cycles
40 sec 70°C		
8 min 70°C	1 cycle	1 cycle

For checking the amplification reaction, 5 μ l of each sample was directly applied to a 2% agarose gel without the addition of loading buffer. The amplicons had a length of approximately 63 bp (Amplification Control), 115 bp (*M. tuberculosis* complex), 166 bp (rpoB), 120 bp (*katG*), and 110 bp (*inhA*), respectively.

Hybridization

Preparation

The shaking water bath/TwinCubator® was pre-warmed to 45°C; the maximum tolerated deviation from the target temperature was +/-1°C. The solutions HYB and

STR ware also pre-warmed to 37-45°C before use. The reagents were free from precipitates (however, solution CON-D is opaque). Mixing was done when necessary. The remaining reagents were also warmed (with the exception of CON-C and SUB-C) to room temperature. Using a 15 ml falcon tube, the Conjugate Concentrate (CON-C, orange) and Substrate Concentrate (SUB-C, yellow) were diluted 1:100 with the respective buffer (CON-C with CON-D, SUB-C with SUB-D) in the amounts needed. Mixing was done and the contents brought to room temperature.

For each strip, 10 µl concentrate was added to 1 ml of the respective buffer. The CON-C was diluted before each use. (Note: Diluted SUB-C is stable for 4 weeks if stored at room temperature and protected from light).

1. A volume of 20 μ l of Denaturation Solution (DEN, blue) was dispensed in a corner of each of the wells used.

2. A volume of $20 \ \mu l$ of amplified sample was added to the solution. The contents were pipetted up and down to mix well. This was followed with incubation at room temperature for 5 minutes.

Meanwhile, strips were taken out of the tube using tweezers and marked with a pencil underneath the coloured marker. Gloves were always won when handling strips. 3. A volume of 1 ml of pre-warmed Hybridization Buffer (HYB, green) was carefully added to each well. The tray was gently shaken until the solution had a homogenous colour. Care was taken not to spill solution into the neighbouring wells.

4. A strip was paced in each well.

The strips were completely covered by the solution and the coated side (identifiable by the coloured marker near the lower end) faced upward. Strips which turned when immersed in the solution were turned over using tweezers. Tweezers were carefully cleaned after each use to avoid contamination. This also applied to all following steps.

5. The tray was placed in shaking water bath/TwinCubator® and incubate for 30 minutes at 45 °C.

The shaking frequency of the water bath was adjusted to achieve a constant and thorough mixing of the solution. To allow adequate heat transfer, the tray must be dipped into the water to at least 1/3 of its height.

6. The Hybridization Buffer was completely aspirated using a Pasteur pipette connected to a vacuum pump.

7. A volume of 1 ml of Stringent Wash Solution (STR, red) was added to each strip and incubated for 15 minutes at 45^oC in shaking water bath/TwinCubator[®].

8. Stringent Wash Solution was completely removed.

9. The Wash Solution was poured out into a waste container. All the remaining fluid was poured out by turning the tray upside down and gently striking it on an absorbent paper. This also applied to all other wash steps.

10. Each strip was washed once with 1 ml of Rinse Solution (RIN) for 1 minute on shaking platform/TwinCubator[®] (pour out RIN after incubation).

11. A volume of 1 ml of diluted Conjugate was added to each strip and incubated for
30 minutes on shaking platform/TwinCubator[®].

12. The solution was removed and each strip washed twice for 1 minute with 1 ml of Rinse Solution (RIN) and once for 1 minute with 1 ml of distilled water (e.g. use wash bottle) on shaking platform/TwinCubator[®] (the solution was poured out each time). Any trace of water was removed after the last wash.

13. A volume of 1 ml diluted substrate was added to each strip and incubated for 15 minutes, protected from light without shaking.

14. The reaction was stopped by briefly rinsing twice with distilled water.

15. The strips were removed from the tray using tweezers and dried between two layers of absorbent paper.

Evaluation and interpretation of results

The strips were pasted and stored protected from light. Evaluation of results was done using an evaluation sheet provided by the manufacturer (Hain lifescience, GmbH, Nehren, German, Package inserts, 2008) of the **GenoType[®] MTBDR***plus* kit

When using the evaluation sheet the developed strips were pasted in the designated fields by aligning the bands CC and AC with the respective lines on the sheet. The resistance status was determined and noted down in the respective column. The supplied template also served as an aid for evaluation and was aligned with the bands CC and AC of the strip as well. Each strip had a total of 27 reaction zones. However, not all bands of a strip had to show the same signal strength.

Conjugate Control (CC)

A line must develop in this zone, documenting the efficiency of conjugate binding and substrate reaction.

Amplification Control (AC)

When the test is performed correctly, a control amplicon generated during amplification will bind to the Amplification Control zone on the strip. A missing band therefore indicates mistakes during amplification set-up or the carry-over of amplification inhibitors with the isolated DNA. In case of a positive test result, the signal of the Amplification Control zone can be weak. In this case, however, the amplification reaction was performed correctly and the test does not have to be repeated.

M. tuberculosis complex (TUB)

This zone hybridizes, as known, with amplicons generated from all members of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex. If the TUB zone is negative, the tested bacterium does not belong to the *M. tuberculosis* complex and cannot be evaluated by this test system.

Locus Controls (*rpoB*, *katG*, *and inhA*)

The Locus Control zones detect a gene region specific for the respective locus and must always stain positive.

Wild type probes

The wild type probes comprise the most important resistance areas of the respective genes (Appendices 7, 8, and 9). When all wild type probes of a gene stain positive, there is no detectable mutation within the examined regions. The strain tested is sensitive for the respective antibiotic. In case of a mutation, the respective amplicon cannot bind to the corresponding wild type probe. The absence of a signal for at least one of the wild type probes hence indicates a resistance of the tested strain to the respective antibiotic.

Only those bands whose intensities were about as strong as or stronger than that of the Amplification Control zone were considered. Each pattern that deviated from the wild type pattern indicated resistance of the tested strain. The banding pattern obtained with the *rpoB* probes allowed to draw a conclusion about a rifampicin resistance of the strain tested; the banding pattern obtained with the *katG* probes allowed to draw a conclusion about a high level isoniazid resistance; the banding pattern obtained with the *inhA* probes allowed to draw a conclusion about a low level isoniazid resistance of the strain tested, respectively. (Appendix 7 below shows rifampicin resistance region of the *rpoB* gene).

Mutation probes

The mutation probes detect some of the most common resistance mediating mutations (Appendices 7, 8 and 9). Compared to the other probes, positive signals of the mutation probes *rpoB* MUT2A and MUT2B may show lower signal strength.

Only those bands whose intensities were about as strong as or stronger than that of the Amplification Control zone were considered.

Each pattern that deviated from the wild type pattern indicated resistance of the tested strain. The banding pattern obtained with the *rpoB* probes allowed to draw a conclusion about a rifampicin resistance of the strain tested; the *katG* banding pattern about a high level; and the *inhA* banding pattern allowed conclusion about a low level isoniazid

resistance, respectively.

NB: 1. There was a possibility that the specimen tested contained a heterogeneous strain. If, at investigation, this strain had developed only a partial resistance, one of the mutation probes as well as the corresponding wild type probe could appear.

2. There was a possibility that the tested specimen contained more than one M. *tuberculosis* strain (due to mixed culture or contamination). If at least one of these strains harbored a mutation, one of the mutation probes as well as the corresponding wild type probe could appear.

Appendix	7a:	Mutati	ons in	the	gene	<i>rpoB</i>	and	the	corre	spond	ing	wild	type	and
mutation	prob	es (mod	ified a	ccord	ling to) Telei	nti <i>et</i>	al. L	.ancet,	1993;	34 1	: 647	-650)	

Missing wild type probe(s)	analyzed codons	mutatio	on probe	mutation
<i>rpoB</i> WT1	505-509			F505L
•				T508A
				S509T
rpoB WT2	510-513			L511P*
rpoB WT2/WT3	510-517			Q513L*
				Q513P
				del514-516
rpoB WT3/WT4	513-519	rpoB MUT1	D516V_	
				D516Y
				del515
rpoB WT4/WT5	516-522			del518*
*				N518I
rpoB WT5/WT6	518-525			S522L
				S522Q
rpoB WT7	526-529	rpoB MUT2A	H526Y	
1		rpoB MUT2B	H526D	
		-		H526R
				H526P*
				H526Q*
				H526N
				H526L
				H526S
				H526C
rpoB WT8	530-533	rpoB MUT3		
-		•		S531P
				S531Q*
				S531W
				L533P

* This rare mutation has only been detected theoretically (*in silico*) yet. It is therefore possible that the mutation cannot be detected *in vitro*.

Appendix 7b: Mutations in the gene *katG* and the corresponding wild type and mutation probes (modified according to Telenti *et al. Lancet*, 1993; **34**1: 647-650)

Missing wild type probe(s)	analyzed codons	mutation probe	mutation
	-	-	
katG WT	315	katG MUT1	S315T1
		katG MUT2	S315T2

Appendix 7c: Mutations in the *inhA* promotor region and the corresponding wild type and mutation probes (modified according to Telenti *et al. Lancet*, 1993; **34**1: 647-650).

Missing wild type probe	analyzed nucleic acid position	mutation probe	mutation
inhA WT1	-15	inhA MUT1	C15T
	-16	inhA MUT2	A16G
inhA WT2	-8	inhA MUT3A	
		inhA MUT3B	T8A

Appendix 8: BACTEC MGIT 960 anti-tuberculosis drug Susceptibility testing

The BACTEC NGIT 960 susceptibility testing for Streptomycin (STR), Isoniazid (INH), Rifampin (RIF) and Ethambutol (EMB), called SIRE, is a rapid and quantitative procedure for establishing susceptibility of *M. tuberculosis* for the four drugs using critical test concentrations. In addition, higher test concentrations for STR, INH and EMB are also available in case of testing against higher concentrations is indicated.

Reagents

BACTEC MGIT 960 SIRE Kit for critical concentrations contains the following drugs in lyophilized form. Each kit contains one each of STR, INH, RIF and EMB drug vial and 8 vials of MGIT 960 SIRE Supplement.

a). Drugs

STR – approximate lyophilized drug per vial 332 μ g
INH – approximate drug per vial $33.2 \ \mu$
RIF – approximate drug per vial 332 µg
EMB – approximate drug per vial 1660 µg

b). SIRE supplement

The SIRE supplement vial differs from the MGIT Growth Supplement and contains, per liter of purified water, the following:

Bovine albumin -----50.0 g

Dextrose	20.0	g
Catalase	0.03	g
Oleic acid	0.6 g	5

c). Storage

Upon receipt, the lyophilized drugs were refrigerated at 2-8°C. They were reconstituted prior to use. Once opened and reconstituted, the leftover drug solutions were frozen in aliquots at -20° C or lower and stored for up to 6 months or up to the date of original expiry, whichever came sooner. **Once thawed, the leftover drug was discarded**.

Principle

Isolated cultures from TB patients were subjected to growth in the presence of a known concentration of a test drug. A control was also included with no addition of the drug. If the patient's isolate grew in the control but does not grow in presence of the drug, it was considered susceptible. On the other hand, if it grew in both the tubes, then it was considered to be resistant to that drug; i.e. growth was indicated by the increase in the fluorescence in the sensor measured automatically and designated as growth value (GV). If a drug is added to the medium which is bacteriostatic or bactericidal to the test mycobacteria, it inhibits growth and thus, there is little or no oxygen consumption, therefore little or no fluorescence of the sensor.

Procedures

a) Reconstitution of lyophilized drugs

Each critical concentration drug vial was reconstituted with 4 ml of sterile distilled/deionized water. This was followed by thorough mixing to ensure the drug was completely dissolved.

b) Addition of a drug to the medium

A volume of 0.1 ml (100 μ L) of reconstituted drug solution was added into each of the labeled BACTEC MGIT 960 tube. This resulted in the following critical concentration of drugs in the medium:

STR 1.0 µg/ml of medium
INH $0.1 \ \mu\text{g/ml}$ of medium
RIF 1.0 μ g/ml of medium
EMB 5.0 µg/ml of medium

c) Preparation of the inoculum

Inoculum from the MGIT tube

It was important to use growth within the following recommended timeframe:

1. The day MGIT tube was positive by the instrument was considered **Day 0**

2. The tube was kept incubated for at least one more day (**Day I**) before being used for the susceptibility testing (incubated in a separate incubator at $37^{\circ}C\pm1^{\circ}C$).

3. A positive could be used for drug susceptibility testing up to and including the fifth day (**Day 5**) after becoming instrument positive. A tube that had been positive for more than 5 days was sub-cultured in a fresh MGIT 960 instrument until it was positive. This was used from 1 to 5 days of instrument positivity as previously described.

4. If growth in tube was Day 1 or Day 2, it was well mixed by vortexing to break up clumps. The tube was left undisturbed for about 5-10 minutes to let big clumps settle on the bottom. The supernatant was used undiluted for inoculation of the drug set.

5. If growth was on Day 3, 4, or 5, it was well mixed by vortexing, to break up the clumps. The large clumps were let to settle for 5-10 minutes. Then 1.0 ml of the broth was diluted with 4.0 ml of sterile saline and mixed well. This gave a 1:5 dilution. This well mixed diluted culture was used for inoculation.

Inoculum from Lowenstein-Jensen (LJ) slopes

It was important to have fresh growth on LJ slants (within 15 days of appearance of growth on the medium). Older cultures could result in unreliable susceptibility test results.

1. A volume of 4 ml of BBL Middlebrook 7H9 broth was added to a clean sterile bijou bottle with 8-10 glass beads.

2. As many colonies as possible were scrapped with the help of a sterile loop. Scooping of medium was avoided when removing growth. The growth was transferred into the bijou bottle with broth and glass beads. The cap was tightened and bottle vortexed for 1-2 minutes to break the clumps. The turbidity of the suspension was greater than the McFarland #1.0 standard.

3. The suspension was left to stand undisturbed for 20 minutes. The supernatant suspension was carefully transferred with a sterile pipette into another sterile bijou bottle. Care was taken to avoid taking any growth which had settled at the bottom of the bottle.

4. The bottle was left stand for another 15 minutes undisturbed.

5. The supernatant was carefully taken out with a pipette, without disturbing the sediment, and transferred into another sterile bottle. The turbidity of this suspension was greater than McFarland #0.5 standard.

6. The turbidity of the above suspension was adjusted to McFarland #0.5 standard by adding sterile saline and adjusting by visual comparison with barium sulphate (BaSO₄) suspension equivalent to McFarland #0.5 standard.

7. The above suspension was diluted 1:5 by adding 1.0 ml of the suspension to 4.0 ml

of sterile saline. It was well mixed by vortexing and used as the inoculum for drug susceptibility testing.

d) Inoculation and incubation

1. Five (5) MGIT tubes were labeled for each test culture. One was labeled for GC (growth control, without drug), one for STR, one for INH, one for RIF, and one for EMB.

2. A volume of 0.1 ml of BACTEC 960 SIRE Supplement was aseptically added to each of the MGIT tubes.

3. A volume of 0.1 ml (100 μ l) of properly reconstituted STR drug was aseptically added in the STR labeled tube using a calibrated micropipette. Similarly, other drugs were added in the other respectively labeled tubes.

A separate micropipette tip was used for each drug. No drug was added to the GC tube.

Drug	Concentration of	Volume added	Final concentration
	drug after	to MGIT tube	in MGIT tube
	reconstitution*		
STR	83µg/ml	100 µL	1.0 µg/ml
INH	8.3 µg/ml	100 µL	0.1 µg/ml
RIF	83 µg/ml	100 µL	1.0 µg/ml
EMB	415 µg/ml	100 µL	5.0 µg/ml

*The drugs were reconstituted using 4 ml sterile deionized or distilled water to achieve the indicated concentrations.

Calculations of the dilutions factor for MGIT medium:

A volume of 7.0 ml of medium + 0.8 ml of SIRE Supplement + 0.5 ml of inoculum = 8.3 ml. Addition of 0.1 ml of the drug solution in 8.3 ml of the medium = 1:83 dilution.

1. A volume of 0.5 ml of the well-mixed culture suspension (inoculum) was aseptically added into each of the drug containing tubes using a pipette. Not added to the growth control tube.

2. For the control, the test culture suspension was first diluted 1:100 by adding 0.1 ml of the test culture suspension to 10.0 ml of sterile saline. The contents were well mixed

by inverting the tube 5-6 times. A volume of 0.5 ml of this diluted suspension was added into the growth control tube.

3. The caps of the tubes were tightened and contents mixed well by gently inverting the tube several times.

The labeled tubes were placed in the correct sequence in the Set Carrier (GC, STR, INH, RIF, EMB).

4. The susceptibility Set Carrier was entered into the BACTEC MGIT 960 instrument using the susceptibility test set entry feature (BACTEC MGIT 960 User's Manual, AST Instructions).

Care was taken to ensure that the order of the tubes in the AST Set Carrier conformed to set Carrier definitions i.e. GC, STR, INH, RIF, EMB for the SIRE standard testing.

Results:

The instrument monitored the entered susceptibility test set. Once the test was complete (within 4 to 21 days), the instrument indicated that the results were ready. Then the susceptibility Set Carrier was scanned and report printed. The instrument printout indicated susceptibility results for each drug. Results were qualitative: Susceptibility (S), Resistant (R) or determinate (X).

The instrument interpreted results at the time when the growth unit (GU) in growth control reached 400 (within 4-13 days). At this point, the GU values of the drug vial were evaluated.

S = Susceptible - the GU of the drug tube is less than 100.

R = Resistant - the GU of the drug tube is 100 or more.

X = Error - indeterminate results when certain conditions occurred which may have affected the test, such as GU of the control reached ≥ 400 in less than 4 days. In such situations, the test was repeated with pure actively growing culture confirmed to be *M*. *tuberculosis* complex.

Isolates resistant to at least both rifampicin and isoniazid are designated as multi-drug resistant (MDR).

NB. Certain drug resistant strains grow very slowly in the medium and results may not be achieved within 13 days with the standard inoculum. In such a case, the inoculum is increased by decreasing the dilution of the culture suspension in order to get reportable results.

Appendix 9: Request for form sputum examination & questionnaire

Hospital/treatment unit Date
Patient's Name
Age Sex: (M/F)
Address (precise)
Duration of stay in western Kenya: < 1 year []; 1 year []; > 1 year []
Reason for examination: diagnosis follow-up examination
Signature of clinician requesting examination
HIV STATUS: ELISA negative []; ELISA positive []; Western blot negative []; Western blot positive []. other (specify)
QUESTIONNAIRE
1.0 Have you been treated for tuberculosis before? Yes [] No []
2.0 If yes, for how long were you treated? Less than 30 days []; For 30 day []; For more than 30 days []; other (please specify)
RESULTS (to be completed at the MRL, MUSOM)
Laboratory serial No

Date	Specimen	Appearance	Neg*	1-9	+	++	+++
	1		1108	1 /			
	2						
	3						

Visual appearance of sputum (blood-stained, muco-purulent, saliva)

Date _____ Examined by (Signature) _____